Uma Arquitetura Computacional para Autoria e Personalização de Objetos de Aprendizagem em Ambientes Educacionais Ubíquos

Rafael Dias Araújo



Universidade Federal de Uberlândia Faculdade de Computação Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciência da Computação

Rafael Dias Araújo

Uma Arquitetura Computacional para Autoria e Personalização de Objetos de Aprendizagem em Ambientes Educacionais Ubíquos

Tese de doutorado apresentada ao Programa de Pós-graduação da Faculdade de Computação da Universidade Federal de Uberlândia como parte dos requisitos para a obtenção do título de Doutor em Ciência da Computação.

Área de concentração: Sistemas de Computação

Orientador: Prof. Dr. Renan Gonçalves Cattelan Coorientador: Prof. Dr. Fabiano Azevedo Dorça

Dados Internacionais de Catalogação na Publicação (CIP)
Sistema de Bibliotecas da UFU, MG, Brasil.

A663a 2017	 Araújo, Rafael Dias, 1986- Uma arquitetura computacional para autoria e personalização de objetos de aprendizagem em ambientes educacionais ubíquos / Rafael Dias Araújo 2017. 137 f. : il.
	Orientador: Renan Gonçalves Cattelan. Coorientador: Fabiano Azevedo Dorça. Tese (doutorado) - Universidade Federal de Uberlândia, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciência da Computação. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.14393/ufu.te.2018.9 Inclui bibliografia.
	 Computação - Teses. 2. Ensino auxiliado por computador - Teses. Arquitetura de computador - Teses. I. Cattelan, Renan Gonçalves. II. Dorça, Fabiano Azevedo, 1979- III. Universidade Federal de Uberlândia. Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciência da Computação. IV. Título.

À minha família, especialmente meus irmãos Eduardo e Daniel.

Agradecimentos

Há alguns anos decidi abraçar o desafio de me tornar um professor e seguir a carreira acadêmica. Sim, um desafio para sair da zona de conforto para que eu pudesse aprender mais com o objetivo de transmitir o conhecimento a outras pessoas.

Primeiramente, agradeço à Deus por me permitir trilhar esse caminho.

Agradeço aos professores membros da banca de defesa por terem compartilhado sua experiência e precioso tempo ao ler e contribuir com este trabalho. Agradecimento especial ao meu orientador, Prof. Dr. Renan Cattelan, por suas horas dedicadas à reflexão, leitura, discussão e estímulo durante todo esse processo, bem como ao meu coorientador Prof. Dr. Fabiano Dorça.

Sinceros agradecimentos a todos que me apoiaram e me encorajaram nessa árdua jornada: familiares, amigos próximos e aqueles não tão próximos, mas que certamente me enviaram boas energias. Sem vocês, eu tenho certeza que essa jornada teria sido muito mais difícil.

Aos colegas de curso que caminharam juntos durante essa jornada de quatro anos, alguns há mais tempo, pelo apoio recíproco ao enfrentar os obstáculos.

Aos amigos que fiz durante minha estadia na University of Pittsburgh, EUA. Em particular, ao Prof. Dr. Peter Brusilovsky por seus valiosos conselhos e ensinamentos e a todos os amigos do PAWS LAB com quem aprendi muito.

Ao secretário do PPCGO/UFU e a todos os professores que desempenharam um papel chave na minha formação, cuja contribuição deve ser sempre reconhecida.

Finalmente, agradeço às agências e instituições brasileiras de pesquisa, CAPES, CNPq e PPGCO/PROPP/UFU pelo apoio financeiro concedido durante a minha formação.

"Look up at the stars and not down at your feet. Try to make sense of what you see, and wonder about what makes the universe exist. Be curious." (Stephen Hawking)

Resumo

Os computadores se tornaram ferramentas cotidianas na sala de aula contemporânea. Laptops, tablets, smartphones, lousas eletrônicas e outros dispositivos computacionais são constantemente utilizados para apoiar tanto os professores no processo de ensino quanto os estudantes no processo de aprendizagem. Em ambos os casos, elas podem acessar o conteúdo educacional em qualquer lugar e a qualquer hora. Com isso, Ambientes Educacionais Ubíquos (AEUs) – ou salas de aula enriquecidas com tecnologia – são criados para combinar os ambientes de aprendizagem reais e virtuais para produzir artefatos de estudo mais ricos. No entanto, uma enorme quantidade de Objetos de Aprendizagem (OAs) é produzida, muitas vezes de forma desestruturada, o que torna sua recuperação e apresentação um desafio para esse tipo de sistema computacional, especialmente porque a apresentação deve acontecer de forma clara e organizada e, ainda, considerando as necessidades de cada estudante. Neste trabalho, o conceito de Hipermídia Educacional Adaptativa – do inglês, Adaptive Educational Hypermedia (AEH) – que surgiu para lidar com a questão da personalização de conteúdo educacional em ambientes Web, é explorado em conjunto com o conceito de AEUs para geração e disponibilização personalizada de OAs aos estudantes. Para tratar tais questões, propõe-se uma arquitetura computacional baseada em conceitos de AEUs e Sistemas Tutores Inteligentes (STI) capaz de estruturar OAs automaticamente capturados em sala de aula e seus metadados por meio de uma abordagem colaborativa, e oferecer recursos de personalização e recomendação de conteúdo a estudantes. Neste trabalho, o termo arquitetura está relacionado com uma infraestrutura computacional que utiliza dados de diferentes naturezas, como interações sociais e colaborativas, restrições contextuais dos dispositivos de acesso e preferências e características pessoais. Tal arquitetura é composta de módulos especializados que foram integrados a uma plataforma de captura multimídia real, chamada Classroom eXperience (CX), utilizada como uma ferramenta complementar de ensino. Experimentos nesse ambiente foram conduzidos com estudantes de cursos da Faculdade de Computação da Universidade Federal de Uberlândia para avaliar diferentes partes da arquitetura. Resultados apontaram a viabilidade da criação de OAs e metadados em AEUs. Além disso, diferenças estatisticamente significativas

foram encontradas no desempenho dos estudantes durante o período de personalização de conteúdo baseada em estilos de aprendizagem. Ainda, os recursos sociais e colaborativos foram os que mais despertaram atenção dos estudantes. Finalmente, um repositório de OAs com metadados no formato IEEE Learning Object Metadata (IEEE-LOM) gerados pela plataforma CX foi criado para a comunidade de pesquisa em Informática na Educação.

Palavras-chave: Aprendizado Enriquecido por Tecnologia. Hipermídia Educacional Adaptativa. Objetos de Aprendizagem. Ambientes Educacionais Ubíquos.

A Computational Architecture for Learning Objects Authoring and Personalization in Ubiquitous Learning Environments

Rafael Dias Araújo



Universidade Federal de Uberlândia Faculdade de Computação Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciência da Computação

UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE UBERLÂNDIA – UFU FACULDADE DE COMPUTAÇÃO – FACOM PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM CIÊNCIA DA COMPUTAÇÃO – PPGCO

The undersigned hereby certify they have read and recommend to the PPGCO for acceptance the dissertation entitled "A Computational Architecture for Learning Objects Authoring and Personalization in Ubiquitous Learning Environments" submitted by "Rafael Dias Araújo" as part of the requirements for obtaining the DSc degree in Computer Science.

Uberlândia, December 8th, 2017.

Supervisor: _____ Prof. Dr. Renan Gonçalves Cattelan

Universidade Federal de Uberlândia (FACOM/UFU)

Cosupervisor: _

Prof. Dr. Fabiano Azevedo Dorça Universidade Federal de Uberlândia (FACOM/UFU)

Examining Committee Members:

Prof. Dr. Alex Sandro Gomes Universidade Federal de Pernambuco (CIn/UFPE)

> Prof. Dr. Maria da Graça Campos Pimentel Universidade de São Paulo (ICMC/USP)

Prof. Dr. Márcia Aparecida Fernandes Universidade Federal de Uberlândia (FACOM/UFU)

Prof. Dr. Carlos Roberto Lopes Universidade Federal de Uberlândia (FACOM/UFU)

Abstract

Computers have become everyday tools in the contemporary classroom. Laptops, tablets, smartphones, interactive whiteboards, and other electronic devices are constantly used to support both instructors, while teaching, and students in the learning process. In both cases, they can access educational content and activities anywhere and anytime they wish. In this way, Ubiquitous Learning Environments (ULEs) – or Technology Rich Classrooms – are created to combine real and virtual learning environments in order to produce richer study artifacts. However, it produces a huge volume of Learning Objects (LOs), often unstructured, which makes retrieving and presenting such content a challenge for this type of computing system, especially because it should happen in a clear and organized way and considering users' needs. In this work, we explore the concept of Adaptive Educational Hypermedia (AEH) which have appeared to deal with the issue of educational content personalization in Web environments together with ULEs for generating and providing personalized LOs to students. Thereby, this research proposal tackles this issue by designing a computational architecture grounded on ULEs and Intelligent Tutoring Systems (ITSs) concepts, capable of structuring LOs captured in classrooms and their metadata through a collaborative approach, and offering content personalization and recommendation features to students. In this work, the term *architecture* is related to a computational infrastructure which takes into account a mix of data of different natures, such as social and collaborative interactions, devices' contextual constraints, and personal preferences and traits. Such architecture is composed of specialized modules which have been integrated to a real multimedia capture platform, named Classroom eXperience (CX), currently used as a complementary learning tool. Experiments using this environment have been conducted in the context of courses offered by the Faculty of Computing at the Federal University of Uberlândia to evaluate different parts of the architecture. Results pointed out to the feasibility of the LOs authoring approach in ULEs. In addition, statistically significant differences were found in students' performance while experiencing the content personalization based on learning styles. Also, social and collaborative resources were the ones that most attracted students' attention. Finally, a LO

repository with metadata in the IEEE Learning Object Metadata (IEEE-LOM) format generated by the CX platform was created to be available to the research community in Informatics in Education.

Keywords: Technology Rich Classrooms. Adaptive Educational Hypermedia. Learning Objects. Ubiquitous Learning Environments.

List of Figures

C&A phases (ARAÚJO et al., 2017). \ldots	24
Typical structure for connecting the knowledge space and the hyper-	
space in AEH systems (BRUSILOVSKY, 2003)	27
The five phases of capture and access process in CX	31
Two instrumented classrooms at UFU	32
Architecture Overview	40
Structure of a lecture with three hierarchical levels	43
Visualization of a captured lecture using CX	43
Bookmarking feature in the CX	44
LO authoring semi-automatic process.	45
Creating a new lecture in Classroom eXperience.	47
Schematic representation of elements in the IEEE-LOM data model.	
Adapted from Barker (2011)	48
Example of an IEEE-LOM and its associated LS	51
Example of a commentary on a slide	52
Creating a new quiz.	53
Home page of the CX-LOR	56
Index of Learning Styles (ILS) popup information and some of the ILS	
questions.	60
Rank of display formats for accessing a lecture in the CX	62
Examples of a personalized lecture	64
Components diagram.	65
Phases of the experimental study	70
Within-subjects design for the phase II of the experimental study	71
Prototype system used for ranking LOs according to students' LS (DORÇA $$	
et al., 2016)	75
Pipeline of the performed analyses	76
Experimental design for the HCI and SE courses	77
	C&A phases (ARAUJO et al., 2017). Typical structure for connecting the knowledge space and the hyper- space in AEH systems (BRUSILOVSKY, 2003). The five phases of capture and access process in CX. Two instrumented classrooms at UFU. Architecture Overview. Architecture Overview. Structure of a lecture with three hierarchical levels. Visualization of a captured lecture using CX. Bookmarking feature in the CX. Bookmarking feature in the CX. Co authoring semi-automatic process. Creating a new lecture in Classroom eXperience. Schematic representation of elements in the IEEE-LOM data model. Adapted from Barker (2011). Example of an IEEE-LOM and its associated LS. Example of a commentary on a slide. Creating a new quiz. Home page of the CX-LOR. Index of Learning Styles (ILS) popup information and some of the ILS questions. Rank of display formats for accessing a lecture in the CX. Examples of a personalized lecture. Components diagram. Phases of the experimental study. Phases of the experimental study. Prototype system used for ranking LOS according to students' LS (DORÇA et al., 2016). Pipeline of the performed analyses. Experimental design for the HCI and SE courses.

Figure 25 $-$	Experimental design for the COA course	78
Figure 26 –	Experimental design for the MathL course	78
Figure 27 –	Mean values of LS dimensions in each course.	79
Figure 28 –	Pairwise comparisons to verify significant differences in the amount of	
	interactions carried out by students in each Learning Style (LS) group.	81
Figure 29 –	Boxplots showing the grades obtained while experimenting the content	
	personalization approach in the CX platform. *Statistically significant	
	difference.	83
Figure 30 –	Learning Resource Types used in each course.	84
Figure 31 –	Reason, Location, Device and Availability information captured as ac-	
	cess context dimensions.	86
Figure 32 –	Distribution of login sessions according to access location and reason	86
Figure 33 –	Distribution of login sessions according to available time for study and	
	access reason.	87
Figure 34 –	Students agreement levels for the assertions related to the platform	
	usability	90
Figure 35 $-$	Students agreement levels for the assertions related to CX general utility.	91
Figure 36 –	Students agreement levels for the assertions related to the utility of	
	specific features.	91
Figure 37 $-$	IEEE-LOM example	131
Figure 38 –	Definition of the "Search LOs" action in the CX-LOR API	132
Figure 39 $-$	Definition of the "Get LOM" action in the CX-LOR API	132
Figure 40 –	Definition of the "Get many LOM" action in the CX-LOR API Ξ	133
Figure 41 –	Definition of the "Get LO" action in the CX-LOR API	133

List of Tables

Table 1 –	Comparison of related work.	37
Table 2 –	Vocabulary for the Learning Resource Type field	49
Table 3 –	Relationships between LS and IEEE-LOM fields, adapted from DORÇA	
	et al. (2016)	50
Table 4 –	Relationships between LS and CLEO extended vocabulary for the Learn-	
	ing Resource Type field	51
Table 5 –	Metadata fields and values for quizzes and videos.	55
Table 6 –	Evaluation criteria for phases I, II and III	70
Table 7 –	Affirmatives presented to experts in phase IV.	71
Table 8 –	Mean, standard deviation and coefficient of variation of the responses	
	of graduate and undergraduate students for the questionnaires admin-	
	istered in phases I and III.	72
Table 9 –	Mean, standard deviation and coefficient of variation of the responses	
	of undergraduate students for the questionnaire administered in phase II.	73
Table 10 –	Mean, standard deviation and coefficient of variation of the responses	
	of experts (phase IV)	73
Table 11 –	Number of students in each course considered in the study	76
Table 12 –	Data gathered from interactions with the CX platform	77
Table 13 –	LS classification.	80
Table 14 –	Kruskal-Wallis H test results comparing the distribution of interactions	
	with the platform among different LS	80
Table 15 –	Statistics for the grades obtained during the periods with and without	
	personalization.	82
Table 16 –	Spearman's ρ correlations between grades, amount of login sessions, and	
	number of lecture opening.	84
Table 17 –	Spearman's ρ correlations between grades and amount of collaborative	
	activities, total number of answered quizzes, and number of answered	
	quizzes per login session.	85

not use the CX platform	87
Table 19 – Questionnaire responses statistics for the user experience assessment	
groups	89
Table 20 $-$ Descriptive statistics of responses for questions in the "Behavior of	
Study" group.	92

Acronyms list

- **AH** Adaptive Hypermedia
- **AEH** Adaptive Educational Hypermedia
- **API** Application Programming Interface
- AULA Adaptive and Ubiquitous Learning Architecture
- C&A Capture and Access
- **CLEO** Customized Learning Experience Online
- COA Computer Organization and Architecture
- ${\bf CX}$ Classroom eXperience
- DAO Data Access Object
- FSLSM Felder-Silverman Learning Styles Model
- ${\bf HCI}$ Human-Computer Interaction
- HTML HyperText Markup Language
- HTTP HyperText Transfer Protocol
- iDTV interactive Digital TV
- **ILS** Index of Learning Styles
- **ITS** Intelligent Tutoring System ITSs
- JSON JavaScript Object Notation
- LMS Learning Management System
- LO Learning Object LOs

IEEE-LOM IEEE Learning Object Metadata
LORI Learning Object Review Instrument
LS Learning Style
MathL Mathematical Logic
NCL Nested Context Language
RFID Radio-Frequency IDentification
SCORM Sharable Content Object Reference Model
SE Software Engineering
SM Student Model
UbiComp Ubiquitous Computing
ULE Ubiquitous Learning Environment ULEs
URL Uniform Resource Locator

 ${\bf XML}\,$ eXtensible Markup Language

Contents

1	INTRODUCTION 17
1.1	$Motivation \dots \dots$
1.2	Research Questions, Goals and Methodology
1.3	Results and Contributions
1.4	Outline
2	LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1	Theoretical Background
2.1.1	Ubiquitous Learning Environments
2.1.2	Intelligent Tutoring Systems
2.1.3	Adaptive Educational Hypermedia
2.1.4	Learning Objects
2.1.5	Personalization of Learning Objects
2.1.6	Classroom eXperience
2.2	Related Work
3	AULA: ADAPTIVE AND UBIQUITOUS LEARNING AR-
	CHITECTURE
3.1	Architecture Overview
3.2	Learning Objects Authoring
3.2.1	Collaborative Bookmarking
3.2.2	Semi-automatic Metadata Filling
3.2.3	Learning Style Estimation for Learning Objects
3.2.4	Content Enrichment
3.2.5	CX-LOR: Classroom eXperience Learning Objects Repository 54
3.3	Content Personalization
3.3.1	Student Model
332	Learning Style Estimation for Students

3.3.3	Types of Interactions	59
3.3.4	Strategies for Content Personalization and Recommendation $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	62
3.4	Architectural Components	65
4	EVALUATION	69
4.1	Learning Objects Authoring	69
4.1.1	Research Design	69
4.1.2	Results and Discussion	71
4.2	Content Personalization - Experiments with Simulated Data	74
4.3	Content Personalization - Case Study with the Classroom eX-	
	perience	75
4.3.1	Research Design	75
4.3.2	Learning Styles	79
4.3.3	Effects on Students' Performance	82
4.3.4	Access Context	85
4.3.5	Qualitative Evaluation	87
5	CONCLUSION	97
5.1	Contributions	98
5.2	Publications	99
5.3	Limitations	102
5.4	Future Work	03
REFER	RENCES	05

APPENDIX

117

APPENDIX A	_	SEQUENCE DIAGRAM FOR OPENING A LEC- TURE
APPENDIX B	_	QUESTIONNAIRE P1
APPENDIX C	_	QUESTIONNAIRE P2
APPENDIX D	_	USER EXPERIENCE QUESTIONNAIRE 125
APPENDIX E	_	FURTHER ANALYSIS
APPENDIX F	_	CX-LOR 131

ANNEX					135	
ANNEX	Α	_	ILS CERTIFICATION		137	

I hereby certify that I have obtained all legal permissions from the owner(s) of each third-party copyrighted matter included in my thesis, and that their permissions allow availability such as being deposited in public digital libraries.

Rafael Dias Araújo

CHAPTER

Introduction

Computational and technological devices have been widely spread and used in many knowledge fields. As we move towards such scenario, we get closer to the Ubiquitous Computing (UbiComp) vision (WEISER, 1991; WEISER, 1993), in which the presence of computers becomes less visible and eventually they blend into our everyday lives. Particularly, approaches that assist the teaching and learning process are on the rise.

Computers are every time more integrated into classrooms. Notebooks, tablets, smartphones, interactive whiteboards and other electronic devices are being used to support both instructors, while teaching, and students to better absorb what is taught. Particularly in schools and universities, students can access educational content and activities anywhere and anytime they wish. In this way, Ubiquitous Learning Environments (ULEs) are created to combine real and virtual learning environments in order to produce richer study artifacts (ZHAO; OKAMOTO, 2011). Classrooms equipped with electronic whiteboards, microphones and cameras produce artifacts that can reconstruct the captured experiences for later use and review, preventing users from losing any important point while making notes, for example.

However, a large volume of digital content is generated in different formats and must be retrieved and presented in a clear way, mainly to comply with the user's needs, which becomes a challenge for information retrieval systems. Thus, such content may be useless if appropriate means for reaching and visualizing it are not provided to users. Content recommendation and personalization, as well as device constraints and user context, can all play an important role here. For example, audio content should be avoided if headphones are not available on the student's device when in a public library.

Adaptive Hypermedia (AH) has emerged as a solution to the problem of Web content personalization (BRUSILOVSKY, 2001), avoiding the "one-size-fits-all" approach. Particularly in the educational field, Adaptive Educational Hypermedia (AEH) comes to meet each student needs, adapting the content to his/her objectives, knowledge level, personal interests, preferences, and learning styles.

Furthermore, social and collaborative mechanisms made available to students may

help in content retrieval and personalization as well as enriching the content in order to create a more complete material. Increasingly, the integration of social and traditional technologies has shown many benefits on fostering students learning (BRUSILOVSKY et al., 2016; SOBAIH et al., 2016; LEE; BRUSILOVSKY, 2014; BRUSILOVSKY, 2012).

Another important point to be considered in the content personalization is the fact that people behave differently and learn in a different pace from each other. Therefore, individual differences should be taken into account while tailoring the content for each student. Recently, several studies have deemed cognitive aspects, such as cognitive traits and learning styles (TRUONG, 2015).

It is not clear what kind of differences makes students maximize their learning. However, studies in the literature point out to a better learning experience when considering cognitive aspects. For example, students may prefer to receive different types of content depending on their context or previous experiences. Previous studies indicate that teaching organized according to learning styles has positive impacts on learning outcomes (ALSHAMMARI; ANANE; HENDLEY, 2015; EL-BISHOUTY et al., 2014; AKBULUT; CARDAK, 2012; MAMPADI et al., 2011; BROWN et al., 2009).

In general, literature research shows that a considerable amount of effort has been put on some of the desirable requirements mentioned above. However, they have not been explored all together in a single and cohesive computational architecture. In this way, this research proposal aims at exploring contextual, cognitive, social, and collaborative aspects in online learning environments in order to offer adaptive learning features to students in ULEs. The term *architecture*, in this work, is not limited to software only. It is used in a broader sense, meaning a computational infrastructure to support the modern teaching/learning process. According to Laan (2013), "architecture is the philosophy that underlies any system. It defines the purpose, intent, and structure of a system".

1.1 Motivation

Students usually tend to spend a significant portion of their time taking notes – when they actually do – in classroom with the hope of having trustworthy and sufficient information for future revisions. As a result, they may lose important details for their learning. Therefore, recording lessons for later retrieval associated with the use of multimedia authoring to improve learning through the Internet have become increasingly attractive to schools and universities, aiming at boosting the interactivity between instructors and students.

At the same time, the concept of Learning Object (LO) has emerged to minimize the time and effort spent for developing reusable educational content. LOs are important assets to leverage the restructuring of traditional pedagogical practices, including the use of communication, information and interaction in educational environments (WILEY, 2000). Nevertheless, LO authoring remains a difficult task, both in terms of design and preparation of the content itself, as well as the process of obtaining and filling out their associated metadata, which is needed to organize, classify and effectively further reuse them.

On the one hand, ULEs becomes an intrinsic factory of LOs. However, the volume of digital content generated in different formats tends to increase every single day. Therefore, retrieving such content becomes a boring task that eventually turns into an ineffective procedure.

Thus, we face the challenge of taking advantage of the nature of ubiquitous educational environments to generate structured learning objects and, at the same time, presenting them in an organized way, with intuitive interfaces, to assist students in their learning process and to facilitate the interaction between instructors and students outside the classroom.

1.2 Research Questions, Goals and Methodology

Given the motivation, this work was guided by the following research questions:

- Q1: Can ULEs provide support for automatic creation of structured LOs?Q1.1: Which kind of information can be extracted from those environments in order to classify LOs according to the Felder-Silverman Learning Styles Model (FSLSM)?
- Q2: How does content adaptation based on learning styles affect student performance in ULEs?Q2.1: Do students notice that the content is being personalized in such environ-

Q2.1: Do students notice that the content is being personalized in such environments?

The main goal of this research study is to design and evaluate a computational architecture for adaptive hypermedia applications in ubiquitous learning environments in order to tackle the complex problem of individualized learning. Such architecture should be grounded on ULEs and ITSs concepts and support multimedia content recommendation and personalization by means of specialized modules that combine cognitive, social, collaborative, and contextual aspects.

In this way, some concepts will be studied and analyzed separately so that they can be integrated together as part of the architectural proposal. Thus, the specific goals of this project are:

- □ Design of a process to create LOs and their metadata in ULEs, using the IEEE-LOM standard;
- □ Design of a cognitive module for handling learning styles according to the FSLSM integrated with both the LO authoring process and the student profile;

- □ Implementation of the proposed modules and their integration into the Classroom eXperience platform for validation;
- □ Creation of an LO repository freely available for the research community.

To answer the above research questions, this research has taken an experimental and exploratory approach since ubiquitous computing researches are characterized by the need to first perform case studies and qualitative analyses (WEISER, 1993; TRUONG, 2005). Thereby, abstractions and models can be built in order to become part of the final architecture, which has been designed in an iteratively and incrementally manner aiming at getting a robust architecture at the end that takes into account the desired requirements. Functional prototypes have been used to check the feasibility of proposed solutions to contribute towards a more complete infrastructure.

1.3 Results and Contributions

As a product of this doctoral project, a well-defined computational architecture was designed for adaptive hypermedia applications that includes contextual, social, collaborative, and cognitive information in order to recommend and personalize educational content in ULEs. In addition, as a way of getting around the problem of generating LOs, we have explored the use of multimedia capture as a paradigm for educational content authoring. Further, an approach for content personalization based on LS was implemented for validating the architecture.

Looking at evaluation aspects, the proposed approach was implemented in a real ULE and used by students of the Faculty of Computing at Federal University of Uberlândia in order to evaluate it through automated registration of activities and usability experiments which results have been published at relevant conferences and journals in the area. Also, we made the LOs created in this environment available to the Brazilian research community in Informatics in Education, at first, since they are created in Portuguese, with plans to later extend such availability.

Finally, other study cases have be carried out in conjunction with the University of Pittsburgh since we have established an international research collaboration with the Personalized Adaptive Web Systems Lab¹, headed by Dr. Peter Brusilovsky.

1.4 Outline

This thesis proposal is structured as follows: Chapter 2 presents a literature review pointing out the key concepts important to understand this document as well as some

¹ http://adapt2.sis.pitt.edu/wiki

related work; the details of the proposed approach are introduced in Chapter 3; Chapter 4 presents the conducted experiments along with their results and discussions; then, final considerations are exposed in Chapter 5, including the resulted publications, some limitations and future work.
CHAPTER 2

Literature Review

This chapter presents the main background concepts needed to understand the work presented in this document, such as Ubiquitous Learning Environments, Intelligent Tutoring Systems, Adaptive Educational Hypermedia, Learning Objects, Learning Styles, and the Classroom eXperience platform, as well as some related work found in the literature.

2.1 Theoretical Background

2.1.1 Ubiquitous Learning Environments

Weiser (1991) defined the concept of Ubiquitous Computing (UbiComp) in the late 1980s to describe the increasingly ubiquitous integration of computing devices into people's daily lives, rather than having only a single personal computer. One of its sub-areas is called Capture and Access (C&A) which aims at creating applications that record daily activities for future review in different contexts and domains.

Traditional educational environments have changed in the past years and now they include a variety of electronic devices and make students assume a more active role in the learning process. The use of technology can help instructors and students in the teaching/learning process through the automation of pedagogical tasks that can be accessed in different contexts. It gives rise to the so-called Ubiquitous Learning Environments (ULEs) or Technology Rich Classrooms (SETTLE; DETTORI; DAVIDSON, 2011; HUANG; HU; YANG, 2015). Classrooms equipped with computing devices, such as projectors, electronic whiteboards, microphones and video cameras, can produce multimedia artifacts, in a non-intrusive way, capable of simulating experiences lived in classrooms and have a positive impact on students learning, as suggested by findings from Settle, Dettori and Davidson (2011).

Abowd et al. (1996) proposed a reference architecture to C&A applications to be structured in four phases: pre-production, live recording, post-production, and access. The pre-production phase is responsible for setting the base content of the lecture, such as title, keywords, abstract, some metadata information and the content itself, that will be presented later. The live recording phase occurs when the instructor delivers his/her lecture to the class. At the end of the lecture, the post-production phase takes place. This phase is responsible for synchronizing the captured media streams and generating the documents to be presented to the user. The last phase, access phase, consists of presenting captured content to students. In addition, a fifth phase, called extension, can also be included to allow users to enrich the capture material with supplementary information (PIMENTEL et al., 2001). The flow of these phases is presented by Figure 1.



Figure 1 – C&A phases (ARAÚJO et al., 2017).

In general, the main characteristics of such environments can be summarized as follows (OGATA; YANO, 2004):

- Permanency: learning activities are recorded continuously and should not be lost, unless they are explicitly deleted;
- \Box Accessibility: learners can access the content from anywhere they wish;
- □ Immediacy: any information can be retrieved immediately by learners, so they are provided with content to help them solve problems quickly;
- □ Interactivity: the environment should provide synchronous or asynchronous communication mechanisms to enable learners to interact with their peers;
- □ Situation of instructional activities: problems and knowledge required to understand and solve them are presented in their authentic forms in order to enable learners to notice what make particular actions relevant.

Other authors include privacy, API availability, scalability, reuse and extensibility, entities representation, additional instructional content, and context-aware features as additional characteristics for developing learning environments (MARTIN et al., 2011).

2.1.2 Intelligent Tutoring Systems

Intelligent Tutoring Systems (ITSs) are specialized software systems developed to provide students with individualized learning activities like a human tutor (ZHIPING et al., 2012). In general, they use artificial intelligence techniques to be able to offer adaptivity, flexibility and personalized learning to students (WOOLF, 2008).

Usually, an ITS implement a general architecture that has four well-defined components that interact with each other to achieve its goal: *(i)* domain model, *(ii)* student model, *(iii)* pedagogical model, and *(iv)* user interface (SLEEMAN; BROWN, 1982; BADARACCO; MARTÍNEZ, 2011).

The Domain Model is responsible for representing how the educational content is structured and the existing relationships among subjects of the domain knowledge. It contains the subjects (also called concepts, or topics) to be learned and how they are related to each other. It can include other pedagogical information, such as importance, difficulty and semantic density of subjects.

The Student Model (SM) represents and stores students' characteristics, such as knowledge, skills, learning preferences, learning experiences, errors and misconceptions. This model should be able to infer what the student knows or does not know about the domain knowledge. In general, cognitive activities performed during the learning process are considered in this component. With this information, it is possible to analyze how different is the learning process of one student to another.

The pedagogical model, also called tutoring module, is responsible to select the best content (or learning activity) at any given time. That is, it must use intelligent mechanisms to guide students in their learning path considering individual needs aiming at maximizing their learning. This model uses information from the SM to determine which content from the Domain model should be presented. According to Brusilovsky, Schwarz and Weber (1996), curriculum sequencing, interactive problem-solving support, and intelligent analysis of student solutions are the traditional intelligent techniques applied in ITSs.

Finally, the educational content is presented through a user interface, which is apart from the other components. It is responsible for managing and tracking interactions between the system and the users, as well as providing a suitable user experience to students.

2.1.3 Adaptive Educational Hypermedia

The ability to provide efficient mechanisms to select and present the best content to users is a challenge already known to the area of multimedia educational environments (ZENG; ZUO; LU, 2010; ÖZYURT; ÖZYURT; BAKI, 2013; MAHNANE; LASKRI; TRIGANO, 2013; BALAKRISHNAN; LIEW; POURGHOLAMINEJAD, 2015). In order to avoid the "one-size-fits-all" approach, i.e., the same content is presented exactly in the same way to all users, Adaptive Hypermedia (AH) has emerged as a solution to the problem of Web content personalization (BRUSILOVSKY, 1996; BRUSILOVSKY, 2001).

Brusilovsky (1996) defines Adaptive Hypermedia Systems as:

"By adaptive hypermedia systems we mean all hypertext and hypermedia systems which reflect some features of the user in the user model and apply this model to adapt various visible aspects of the system to the user".

The AH approach allows users with different tastes and preferences to receive different content. A typical adaptive hypermedia system considers differences among users, such as preferences, knowledge, goals, and previous experience to offer a personalized content every time they access the system. Particularly in the educational domain, it aims at maximizing students learning and efficiency (SOMYÜREK, 2015; JUVINA; HERDER, 2005; BRUSILOVSKY, 1996).

In the educational context, this approach is called Adaptive Educational Hypermedia (AEH) and provides students with individualized learning content, adapted to their needs in a given context. Basically, AEH systems create connections between the knowledge space – or a concepts network – and the hyperspace of educational content, as shown in Figure 2. To be able to create those connections, the domain knowledge and the educational content must be well-structured. It could be compared to the Domain model of ITSs, defined in the previous section, which comprises a set of small domain knowledge elements. Indexing approaches are created to identify which concepts are presented in each knowledge element and may consider different granularities.

In general, the educational content is produced by specialized authoring tools that provide support for representing the content internally (through metadata fields) as well as for creating the connections between them. However, their design is not always easy to use and requires advanced and expert users to be able to understand and to use such tools properly.

In order to provide adaptivity to students, AEH systems should have a student model, another concept inherited from ITSs. It is responsible for estimating students' knowledge level on each concept to be able to identify what they know and what they do not know to help them to achieve the established educational goals.



Figure 2 – Typical structure for connecting the knowledge space and the hyperspace in AEH systems (BRUSILOVSKY, 2003).

2.1.4 Learning Objects

Web-based learning environments have been used to assist educational activities more and more. Creating materials for such environments requires a lot of effort, which includes creativity, time availability, and knowledge of appropriate technologies. In this way, the concept of Learning Object (LO) has emerged to minimize the time and effort spent for developing reusable educational content.

LOs are important assets to leverage the restructuring of traditional pedagogical practices, including the use of communication, information and interaction in educational environments (WILEY, 2000). According to IEEE, LOs are digital or non-digital entities that can be used in learning contexts (IEEE, 2002). The term reuse is often added to this definition, which makes the use of standards a necessity. In this way, organizations like IEEE, IMS Global Learning Consortium, and ADL (Advanced Distributed Learning), have produced specifications and standards to address this need.

In this work, the IEEE Learning Object Metadata (IEEE-LOM) (IEEE, 2002) standard was chosen to represent metadata of LOs since it has been widely used and represents a major step forward in terms of resource description, discovery, and reusability (VAN ASSCHE et al., 2003). IEEE-LOM support content interoperability among repositories and enables automated content search and retrieval.

The IEEE-LOM is formatted as an XML file and its data elements are structured into nine categories: General, Life Cycle, Meta-Metadata, Technical, Educational, Rights, Relation, Annotation, and Classification. Each data element has a name, a description, a datatype and maximum size, and the order inside its parent node. Some data elements have their own vocabulary as a list of recommended values. In some cases, the element value may contain a list of values rather than a single value.

The Educational category is one of the most important for this work, because it brings educational and pedagogical characteristics of LOs, such as "Learning Resource Type", "Interactivity Type", "Interactivity Level", "Semantic Density", etc. However, other fields bring important semantic information as well, for instance, the format of the object and its structure. Each field used in this work will be detailed later.

There are also extensions created to add higher semantic meanings to the vocabularies proposed by the IEEE-LOM, as the case of the Customized Learning Experience Online (CLEO) extensions (CLEO, 2003) created by the CLEO Lab, which comprises some commercial content providers such as Cisco Systems, Inc., IBM Corporation, Microsoft Corporation, and Thomson NETg. This work includes the vocabulary of the CLEO extensions for the "Learning Resource Type" field, containing the following values: *additional resource, analogy, assessment, assessment item, attractor, community, definition, demonstration, example, feedback, glossary, guidance, guideline, illustration, importance, introduction, non example, note, objective, outline, overview, practice, prerequisite, presentation, recall, reference, reinforcement, scenario, and summary.*

It is important to note that including a new vocabulary does not change the structure of the metadata. It only adds new possible values to the default ones. Thus, the reuse property of the LO is maintained.

2.1.5 Personalization of Learning Objects

ULEs are potential producers of LOs. In addition to providing support for the automatic generation of educational materials, they are still capable of automatically or semiautomatically creating metadata that becomes a source of information to support personalization and recommendation processes.

A first level of personalization is associated to UbiComp concepts, mainly related to the context awareness of the designed system. For example, if the internet bandwidth is low, it is not recommended to view the lecture's recorded video. If device screen is too small, then textual information would be preferred over slides.

Combined with this strategy, cognitive information may be used to adapt the content to make it more individualized and improve the learning experience and its gains. For example, there are people who learn easily from examples and when they do practical activities. On the other hand, other people perform better when exposed to more abstract content. Koedinger et al. (2015) explored the use of informational assets, such as text and videos, versus practical activities in their context.

However, there is no easy way to identify people's cognitive profiles. In general, people are required to answer extensive questionnaires that may be misinterpreted. Hence, datadriven approaches to identify individual differences or people's behavior are on the rise. For instance, the Problem-Solving Genome was firstly proposed by Guerra et al. (2014), which the main idea was to find navigation micro-patterns to describe small chunks of repetitive behavior that might define each student individually in the way he/she solves problems. Kinnebrew, Segedy and Biswas (2017) have developed methods to track and interpret students' open-ended learning and problem-solving behaviors. They combined modeldriven metrics with data-driven pattern discovery to analyze the way students work in an open-ended learning environment using data mining and machine learning techniques. Although this work does not aim to propose a new solution in this direction, it should foresee different types of interactions in the proposed architecture to provide support for researches of this nature.

Learning Styles

While there are many different approaches for personalization and recommendation of educational content, many of them have deemed cognitive characteristics, such as cognitive traits, cognitive styles, and learning styles (TRUONG, 2015). Studies found in the literature indicate that students learn differently from each other (ESSALMI et al., 2015; GRAF et al., 2014; BRUSILOVSKY, 2001). Teaching strategies that consider the individual differences of students have been studied for a while.

This work will focus on LS once previous studies indicate that teaching organized according to LS has positive impacts on learning outcomes (ALSHAMMARI; ANANE; HENDLEY, 2015; EL-BISHOUTY et al., 2014; YANG; HWANG; YANG, 2013; AKBU-LUT; CARDAK, 2012; MAMPADI et al., 2011; BROWN et al., 2009). Note that this was the technique chosen for validating our architectural proposal, whose specific module that contemplates such theory can be replaced by other techniques in the future.

An LS model classifies students according to the way they perceive and process information received in educational contexts. Such models can determine how each individual interacts and reacts in a learning environment, reflecting their real preferences. Several theories related to LS have been introduced mainly by Felder and Silverman (1988), Kolb (1984), Dunn et al. (1995), and Honey and Mumford (1992). In this work, we use the Felder-Silverman Learning Styles Model (FSLSM), which is one of the most used models in adaptive learning systems. According to the FSLSM, learning styles represent tendencies rather than fixed characteristics. The model defines eight different LS grouped into four dimensions related to perception, processing, presentation and organization of information during the learning process.

Briefly, each dimension can be described as:

- Processing (Active/Reflective LS): on one side are the students who are proactive. They like practical activities, discussions, experimentation, and working in group. On the other side are the students who like learning through in a passive way, i.e., through introspective observation;
- □ Perception (Sensing/Intuitive LS): sensing students tend to be practical, methodical and they like to learn from facts, data, and experimentation. They are patient

with details and they like to solve problems by standard methods. Intuitive students like abstractions, innovative things and prefer discovering new possibilities and relationships;

- □ Input (Visual/Verbal LS): this dimension is related to the way students tend to remember better when they receive information. Visual students remember better what they see, either by images, diagrams, charts, films, or demonstrations. On the other hand, verbal students prefer text description or spoken explanations;
- □ Organization (Sequential/Global LS): sequential students like following a logically structured content, learning in linear steps, while global students tend to learn in large jumps, trying to get the "big picture" of the topic.

Generally, manual instruments are used for assessing students' LS. The Index of Learning Styles (ILS) is a questionnaire composed of 44 questions used to identify the LS of students according to the FSLSM. Each of the four dimensions contains 11 questions with two alternatives each. The output is four values ranging from -11 to +11 that strength a preference for one side of the dimension. Although it is a statistically validated instrument, its manual filling causes displeasure and lack of motivation, which can lead to possible imprecise answers.

Some studies found in the literature have questioned the effectiveness of the use of LS (KIRSCHNER, 2017; AN; CARR, 2017). Generally, the criticisms are related to the classification of learners into only one LS without considering any mixed preferences or, even without considering that such preferences can actually change from one style to another over time. Thus, the models have antagonistic LS and, once students are classified, they remain in only one end of the dimension, without considering uncertainties.

2.1.6 Classroom eXperience

This section presents the Classroom eXperience $(CX)^1$ as a primary basis for this experimental and exploratory research and has been an object of study since 2010. CX is a real-world application designed to automatically record lectures in classrooms. It performs capture, storage, access and extension of multimedia content in a classroom instrumented with electronic whiteboard, microphones, cameras and projectors. Specialized software components capture all media streams from each device and, then, integrate and synchronize them, generating hypermedia documents in different presentation formats.

Built as an extension of the iClass platform (PIMENTEL; CATTELAN; BALDOCHI, 2007), CX has its own architecture for content personalization, allowing the customization of captured content presentation according to the preferences and access context of each student (ARAÚJO et al., 2013). CX assists instructors with ubiquitous computing

¹ http://cx.facom.ufu.br

resources without changing the conventional dynamics of the class, while students are assisted with later access to all information presented during the classes.

The general architecture follows a well-structured sequence of activities that occur between the content capture and its subsequent release. These activities are divided into four steps previously discussed in subsection 2.1.1: pre-production, live recording, postproduction, and access. In addition, a fifth phase called "extension" is considered in this work. The extension phase is characterized by content enrichment provided by students and instructors while accessing the captured content to create a more complete material (PIMENTEL et al., 2001). In order to synthesize the C&A process embodied in the CX, Figure 3 presents the five mentioned phases. Dotted arrows indicate where LOs and their metadata are created/updated.



Figure 3 – The five phases of capture and access process in CX.

The pre-production phase is responsible for setting the content that will be captured at classroom. At this stage, the instructor will register any information relevant to the lecture using a Web interface. All lecture information is organized in 3 categories: basic data, additional data (meta information) and the content itself, that will later be presented. The metainformation is classified and organized using extensions based on IEEE-LOM.

The live recording phase occurs when the instructor gives his lecture to the class. At this point, the instructor accesses a Web frontend, selects the desired lecture, which content, previously registered, is loaded in the interactive whiteboard. The specialized capture components then start recording individual media streams (digital ink, audio and video). Figure 4 shows two instrumented classrooms in the Faculty of Computing at Federal University of Uberlândia.

The post-production phase begins immediately after the live recording phase. This phase is responsible for synchronizing captured media streams through XML documents, which contain all interactions between the instructor and the capture system. Then, doc-



Figure 4 – Two instrumented classrooms at UFU.

uments to be presented to the user, such as HTML for Web visualization, and NCL² for interactive Digital TV (iDTV) are generated, compressed, and stored through a specialized peer-to-peer layer (ARAÚJO et al., 2012).

The access phase consists in presenting the captured content to interested parties, in this case to students. All multimedia content that was captured during the class is made available to students. This step is based on a user-centered design, in order to encourage the students to visualize the captured contents. Currently, CX uses an approach that takes into account the user's access context, user preferences and, also, the presentation constraints to personalize the captured content. These constraints are related to the environment in which students access the system. For example, if the bandwidth is low, it is not recommended to view the lecture recorded video or, if the device's display has reduced dimensions, then textual information may be preferred instead of lecture slides. Constraints like these can therefore directly influence the presentation experience of the captured content to the user.

The extension phase occurs when the content is already available to students and they wish to enrich what has been recorded with comments and ratings for each LO. Also, the system provides additional content related to the covered topics.

As can be noticed, CX can assume a role of an LO generator, including its metadata. It has already more than 600 lectures created and thousands of LOs. Its ubiquity happens at two different moments: (i) when lectures are captured by computational devices inside a classroom and generates LOs; and, (ii) when students access this content through a contextualized interface.

³²

 $^{^2}$ http://www.ncl.org.br

2.2 Related Work

Wang and Wu (2011) present a context-aware approach using recommendation algorithms to assist students in their learning process. They use Radio-Frequency IDentification (RFID) to provide the context-aware notion and the Sharable Content Object Reference Model (SCORM) as a metadata standard for the their LOs. In short, the recommendation process uses association rules in a mining model to analyze students' preferences according to their learning profile.

Youubi (MONTEIRO; GOMES; NETO, 2016; MONTEIRO et al., 2017) is a ULE designed as a component-oriented architecture and accessible through mobile, web, smartwatch and iDTV platforms. It is a platform that provides support for formal and informal learning by means of contextual, social, and gamification features. Their architecture focuses on recommendations for elementary entities, such as Person, Location, Event, Challenge, and Group. The approach proposed here focuses on personalized and individual content adaptation as well as LOs authoring structured according to the IEEE-LOM standard.

GlobalEdu (BARBOSA et al., 2013) is a ubiquitous learning architecture that explores the concept of LOs, also represented in the IEEE-LOM standard, to explore pedagogical opportunities in a context-aware environment. Their approach matches learners with similar or complementary interest to stimulate their interaction. GlobalEdu also adapts LOs according to students' LS.

An adaptive content delivery framework for u-Learning environments was proposed by Zhao and Okamoto (2011). This framework gets original PowerPoint files and delivers adaptive content based on learners' context, preferences and social networks information. They developed the so called AubiLearn mobile system to evaluate their approach. In total, 20 students participated in the study. Authors claimed that learners may get a better learning experience while using the proposed adaptation content delivery model implemented on the AubiLearn system.

Machado and Oliveira (2013) modeled an ontology with contextual information to recommend places or persons of interest which are close to user's location, as well as indicate study materials and notifications about teacher's or student's appointments. In this case, they do not provide students with adaptive content.

The Generalized Intelligent Framework for Tutoring (GIFT) (SOTTILARE et al., 2012; SOTTILARE et al., 2017) is an adaptive tutoring architecture that includes a myriad of features, such as authoring tools, learner model, sensor processing module, pedagogical module, among others. It is an open-source project, designed as a service-oriented framework for building, delivering, and evaluating intelligent tutoring systems. The GIFT Authoring Tool is based on a visual course building interface that represents a course flow in a timeline of events that the learner will encounter (OSOSKY; SOTTI-LARE; BRAWNER, 2017). Some differences from this work may be pointed out. As we

noticed, GIFT does not consider either refinement nor collaborative content enrichment. According to the authors, the GIFT is compatible with different metadada standards – such as IEEE-LOM, SCORM, and IMS Global Learning Resource Metadata. However, it does not consider the CLEO extensions and does not provide a way to classify LOs according to LS. Although they provide a graphical interface for content sequencing, it is still a manual task performed as many times as the desired number of sequencing.

Vidal et al. (2016) proposed an adaptive hypermedia-based approach for assisting students to accomplish their activities in Accounting courses. Their approach takes into consideration a domain model, representing accounting knowledge, a student model that considers static and dynamic information, and an adaptive model which provides an adaptive navigation mechanism based on student model. The static information of the student model is obtained through a questionnaire about students' professional interests and the dynamic information contains activity-solving performance data. The adaptive model implements a rule-based mechanism that maps student professional interests to an appropriate content structure in the domain model.

An adaptive framework to suggest learning paths that meet students learning objectives was proposed by Onah and Sinclair (2015). When students register in the system, they answer a survey to capture their learning objectives. Based on that, learning paths were created to match students' objectives and LOs concepts. When answering multiplechoice questions, students receive an instant feedback and a recommended content based on their performance.

AdaptWeb[®] (OLIVEIRA et al., 2003; GASPARINI et al., 2009) is an adaptive system created for distance learning with the purpose of adapting the content, the presentation and the navigation according to students profile. It considers students' course domain, knowledge, preferences and navigational history, technological resources and learning style. The content is organized through a hierarchical structure of concepts with prerequisite criteria. The navigation can be sequential (considering prerequisites) or free. It also provides a message board and a discussion forum to students.

Social and collaborative features have also been studied as means of improving learning experiences in e-Learning systems (BRUSILOVSKY et al., 2016; SOBAIH et al., 2016; LEE; BRUSILOVSKY, 2014; BRUSILOVSKY, 2012). Edooware (BALAKRISHNAN; LIEW; POURGHOLAMINEJAD, 2015) is a Learning Management System (LMS) that includes social media features such as flexibility in profile management, possibility of sending invitation to external social networks users, document and reference materials sharing, comments, among others, in order to improve the students' learning experience.

Chao et al. (2014) presented an architecture of m-learning content recommendation services. They exploit mobile social interactions to identify similar learners and favorite learning content. In addition, contextual information such as GPS and wireless function is considered. U-Learning Community (CAYTILES; JEON; KIM, 2011) is a web-based e-learning system that includes a social u-Learning model for wireless sensor networks. They provide students with personalized content according to their social and collaborative interactions as well as the environment context.

The use of cognitive characteristics has attracted attention of researchers in this area. LS adaptivity in e-learning systems have been studied. Graf et al. (2014) proposed an adaptive mechanism that extends LMSs based on the FSLSM. Their mechanism uses two techniques: adaptive annotation, which classifies the LOs as recommended or standard, and adaptive sorting, which is used to determine the sequence of the LOs within a section. For adaptation purposes, 12 different types of LOs are considered: commentaries (or outlines), content objects, quizzes, self-assessment tests, discussion forum, additional reading materials, animations, exercises, examples, real-life applications, conclusions, and assignments. Some differences of our proposal may be pointed out. For example, the LO type must be informed by the instructor, differently from this work in which this information is collaboratively obtained by the system. In addition, the LOs are not generated in a ULE and they do not consider contextual information for personalizing the content.

AMDPC (YANG; HWANG; YANG, 2013) is an adaptive learning system that considers learning styles and cognitive styles. Content is extracted from raw materials and chunks of information for composing personalized learning materials are generated. The presentation layout is adjusted according to students' cognitive styles (Field-Dependent or Field-Independent measures) (WITKIN et al., 1977) and the instructional strategy is based on students learning styles (FSLSM). Both measures are obtained through the application of specialized instruments for each one. Authors claim that the proposed system could improve students learning achievements as well as their belief of learning gains. In addition, they found that students' mental load was significantly decreased.

Mahnane, Laskri and Trigano (2013) proposed an adaptive educational hypermedia system based on learner's thinking and learning styles, called AEHS-TLS. Their system was structured in three basic components: the domain model, the learner model and the adaptation model. The domain model stores, organizes and describes the learning content in 12 types: learning objectives, additional information for the course, examples and analogies, multiple-choice questions, little theoretical activity, little theoretical activity in groups, large theoretical activity, large theoretical activity in groups, little practical application, little practical application in groups, great practical application, and great practical application in groups. The learner model gathers information about students' goals and preferences, thinking and learning style, and knowledge and performance. Lastly, the adaptation model contains a set of rules that specifies how the learners' knowledge and thinking style modify the presentation of the content.

Boticario et al. (2012) have proposed a framework for content recommendation based on standards and interoperable components which are integrated through a service-oriented architecture. This framework is part of the EU4ALL project, founded by a European Consortium composed of 15 institutions from 8 different European countries. They have developed the dotLRN LMS (SANTOS et al., 2007) which provides a set of social and collaborative features such as blogs, discussion forums, chats, and study groups. Their SM stores personal information, preferences, learning styles according to the FSLSM, goals and competencies, progress and indicators about attention, memory and time management. Their work is quite related to the proposed here, however, some differences can be pointed out. First, the framework does not consider hierarchical LOs with different granularity levels. Also, they are not produced in a ubiquitous environment and then classified according to LS dimensions based on their metadata.

In order to summarize the information presented in this chapter, Table 1 presents the main related work indicating their nature (ubiquitous and/or adaptive educational system), which kind of information they take into account – contextual (including access context, contextual preferences, and access constraints), social, and/or cognitive aspects, and whether they provide features for LO enrichment/refinement and some standard metadata format. A filled circle (\bullet) indicates that the work includes the respective attribute, an empty circle (\bigcirc) indicates that it does not include the respective attribute, and a half-filled circle (\bullet) means that the attribute is partially considered. A double dash indicates that either the work does not consider the attribute, or it was not mentioned.

	Natu	ıre	Included information			Features		
Work	Ubiquitous	Adaptive	Contextual	Social	Cognitive	LO Enrich.	Metadata	
Wang and Wu (2011)	۲	0	•	0	0	0	SCORM	
Monteiro, Gomes and Neto (2016), Monteiro et al. (2017)	•	0	•	•	•	0	_	
Barbosa et al. $\left(2013\right)$	•	•	•	•	•	0	-	
Zhao and Okamoto (2011)	•	•	•	•	٠	0	LOM	
Sottilare et al. (2012), Sottilare et al. (2017)	•	•	•	●	0	0	LOM, SCORM, IMS	
Vidal et al. (2016)	0	•	0	0	0	0	-	
Oliveira et al. (2003), Gasparini et al. (2009)	0	•	•	•	٠	0	_	
Onah and Sinclair (2015)	0	•	0	0	0	0	_	
Chao et al. (2014)	•	0	•	•	0	0	_	
Caytiles, Jeon and Kim (2011)	•	•	•	•	0	0	_	
Graf et al. (2014)	0	•	0	•	•	0	-	
Mahnane, Laskri and Trigano (2013)	0	•	0	•	•	0	_	
Boticario et al. (2012)	0	•	•	•	•	O	LOM, SCORM, IMS, ISO, others	
This work	•	•	●	•	•	•	LOM+ CLEO	

Table 1 – Comparison of related work.

As can be observed, most studies are focused on some of the key aspects proposed in this research: context-awareness, collaboration/social interactions, and cognitive profile. In addition, the concept of LO along with standard metadata representation is not always explored, nor its enrichment and refinement. Moreover, this research aims at using information produced by ubiquitous learning environments to make the adaptive web-based educational systems richer, which highlights its contribution to the area.

CHAPTER 3

AULA: Adaptive and Ubiquitous Learning Architecture

Consider a Ubiquitous Learning Environment (ULE) that records activities in an instrumented classroom with an electronic whiteboard, projectors, microphones and video cameras. In such scenario, various multimedia artifacts are generated in a single capture session. Clearly, those environments have the potential to generate a huge amount of Learning Objects (LOs) that could become useless if students cannot easily find what they need. In this way, a computational architecture for personalizing and recommending educational content in ULEs is presented in this chapter.

First, an overview of the architecture is presented in Section 3.1. Then, the architecture details are described in two perspectives: looking at LOs authoring, in Section 3.2; and, looking at LOs personalization, in Section 3.3, in order to provide support for individual tailoring of educational content. Finally, Section 3.4 provides a discussion about the architectural components.

3.1 Architecture Overview

As previously seen, recording lectures for later retrieval, multimedia authoring and improving learning through the Internet have become increasingly used to enhance the interactivity between instructors and students. Also, LOs have been important assets to leverage the restructuring of traditional pedagogical practices, including the use of communication, information and interaction in educational environments. Therefore, the main goal of this research work is to design and evaluate a computational architecture for adaptive hypermedia applications in ubiquitous learning environments that combines cognitive, social and contextual aspects to create and personalize LOs.

The proposed architecture design is grounded in the five phases used in the Classroom eXperience (CX) platform, as shown in Figure 1. First, in the pre-production phase, instructors prepare their lectures before going to the classroom. Then, different computing devices scattered in the environment take charge of recording them during the live recording phase. In the post-production phase, all media streams are synchronized and stored. Once recorded and stored, each lecture becomes available for students to access it in a personalized way. Finally, students and instructors can enrich the original content in the extension phase. Each module may also be related to ITSs concepts and will be discussed as they appear.

The Adaptive and Ubiquitous Learning Architecture (AULA) comprises some specialized modules with distinct roles that will be described further in this chapter. Each individual involved in the teaching/learning process plays a key role at these phases and they are responsible for creating the learning experience together. The architecture provides support for contextual, collaborative, social, and cognitive features. Figure 5 shows its overview.



Figure 5 – Architecture Overview.

For storage purposes, AULA provides support for different types of repositories that are responsible for storing specialized information, such as presentation constraints, stylesheets, LOs, users' preferences, and interactions performed throughout the system.

Presentation constraints are pre-defined rules with regard contextual access information. For example, imagine a user's device connected with low bandwidth. In this case, video streaming is not recommended so the captured content should be presented in a personalized way – let's say, just the lecture slides, for fast download and basic browsing features, with no video stream. This kind of personalization is made by means of stylesheets that define different presentation formats during the access phase. Moreover, to be able to personalize the content, one must have consistent LOs (metadata included), and also relevant information about students. LOs are the ones that should be tailored according to students' needs. Therefore, the "Content Handling Module" (bullet A in Figure 5) has been created to manage LOs, that is, to create, update, and delete them, as well as to customize and recommend such content to students. The LO manager may be understood as the Domain model of an ITS, in which subjects related to the domain knowledge are managed. The personalization/recommendation engine plays the role of the Pedagogical model of an ITS, which uses information of the SM to adapt the content individually.

Furthermore, it is essential to identify and map out student characteristics in order to find individual differences among them, allowing the content to be presented individually to maximize learning. AULA provides the "Behavior Identification Module" (bullet B in Figure 5) for this purpose as a black-box that contributes to the "Content Handling Module", which means that the latter does not know details on how the first is implemented. As a default cognitive feature, the architecture implements a structure to store the Learning Style (LS) of students and LOs according to the Felder-Silverman Learning Styles Model (FSLSM).

In addition to recording and presenting the content of the lecture, the "Activities Handling Module" (bullet C in Figure 5) makes social, collaborative, gamification and assessment features available for students and instructors. Also, a student model that gathers students' characteristics is included.

The general idea of this architecture has already been published (ARAÚJO; DORÇA; CATTELAN, 2017; ARAÚJO et al., 2018 in press). Aiming at facilitating the overall understanding of this architecture, the next sections present the structure and operation of LOs and the resources for the personalization task, separately.

3.2 Learning Objects Authoring

LOs authoring is still an arduous and time-consuming task, both in terms of design and preparation of the content itself, as well as the process of filling out their associated metadata. First, it involves an interdisciplinary process, which requires attention to technical and pedagogical aspects (SOLIS; LAVISTE, 2015; BUZATTO et al., 2009). Second, it demands the use of specifications and standards that enable search, retrieval and reuse of such resources in the future. Consistent LOs (content itself and metadata) provide meaningful information that may be used to create personalized experiences with educational content according to students' preferences and their individual differences.

Lectures recorded in ULEs can be regarded as LOs since they are pieces of educational content. The pre-production phase is responsible for setting the base content of the lecture. The live recording phase occurs when the instructor delivers his/her lecture in a classroom. At the end of the class (post-production phase), the lecture's metadata is updated, and the content is prepared to be stored. At that moment, the lecture becomes available to students who start interacting with it.

However, these LOs are coarse-grained as they represent a whole lecture, which is typically more than 1-hour long. Because of that, it decreases the chance of reuse them in the future (BRAGA et al., 2012). Therefore, one more step was included in the LO creation process to refine them, taking advantage of collaborative features foreseen in the architecture.

3.2.1 Collaborative Bookmarking

Each lecture consists of a set of slides that can be grouped into different subjects, or topics. Knowing that, a single lecture generates many other LOs, which have been structured in three hierarchical levels: *lecture*, *subject*, and *slide*. A **lecture** consists of several *subjects*, which are composed of several *slides* that are created during the pre-production phase by the instructor who prepares the content for a capture session. The LO is updated in the post-production phase and other LOs are also created to represent each lecture **slide**, which contains the raw media and the annotations made in the electronic whiteboard.

As an example, imagine a lecture whose goal is to teach repetition structures in the context of computer programming. First, it could have a set of introductory content that includes the lecture's title, goal, and agenda. Then, the content could be divided, for example, into different subject matters, such as "For Loops", "While Loops", "Do While Loops", among others. Each subject matter may be presented through different learning resource, as textual definition, visual definition, example, simulation, etc. Finally, the lecture could have a set of concluding content that includes the lecture's summary and references. In this scenario, each subject matter would be one *bookmark*, which comprises a set of *slides*.

Theoretically, a lecture can be defined as a set of n slides, with i slides representing some introductory content (at the beginning of the lecture) and n - j slides representing some concluding content (at the end of the lecture). Additionally, this same lecture could be divided into k subjects, as shown in Figure 6. In this way, LOs with different granularity are created: one LO for the whole lecture, each subject represents other LOs, and, finally, one LO for each subject, and one LO for each slide, counting k + n + 1 LOs in total.

During the access phase, students and instructors are allowed to label **subjects** within a lecture using the bookmarking feature. They can indicate in which slide a new **subject** begins and label it with a title. Bookmarks created by students and instructors inside a lecture are used to split the lecture into smaller LOs, called *subjects*. Each labeled *subject* becomes a new LO internally, and the most common labels are presented to other students. Figure 7 shows an example of a captured lecture presented to students with a



Figure 6 – Structure of a lecture with three hierarchical levels.

bookmark represented by bullet (1). Additionally, users can also collaboratively inform the resource types contained in that the slide, as shown by bullet (2).



Figure 7 – Visualization of a captured lecture using CX.

Designed to be a collaborative feature, it provides a contextual auto-complete mechanism while labeling the *subject* based on the bookmarks previously created by other users for that specific lecture. Users can also rate the quality of bookmarks created by other users. Thus, when some lecture is opened, the following rules are applied, in order, to retrieve the bookmarks:

- 1. Bookmarks created by that user;
- 2. Highly rated bookmarks;
- 3. Bookmarks with greater number of similar title (lowercase comparison).

When clicking on the bookmark image and there is already a defined one for the respective slide and the user is the owner, he/she can delete it, as shown in Figure 8(a). Otherwise, the user can rate its quality using the buttons "like" and "dislike" ("thumbs-up/thumbs-down" approach) as well as create a new bookmark, as shown in Figure 8(b).



Figure 8 – Bookmarking feature in the CX.

In this way, it becomes a semi-automatic process for LO authoring in ULEs, including the LOs metadata filling process, which is detailed in the next subsection. A schematic representation of the authoring process is presented by Figure 9, indicating the users' roles at each stage.

3.2.2 Semi-automatic Metadata Filling

For searching and recovering an LO in an effective way, its metadata fields must be filled out with the largest possible amount of consistent values – a potentially tough and not intuitive process. Approaches based on completion of extensive forms are quite common and, many times, LOs authors do not know exactly what to fill and end up inputting inconsistent values or merely skipping them (ROY; SARKAR; GHOSE, 2010; FRIESEN, 2004).

The manual filling of metadata requires much time and effort of authors, which already have employed significant effort for developing the LO itself. Because of that, it eventually



Figure 9 – LO authoring semi-automatic process.

leads to apathy of instructors. Thus, multimedia capture systems can support the semiautomatic filling of LOs metadata, minimizing the time and effort spent on their creation and avoiding erroneous input.

In this work, we use the IEEE Learning Object Metadata (IEEE-LOM) standard (IEEE, 2002) as a base schema to represent the LO metadata, since it is the most widely used in the domain of learning and education (FRIESEN, 2004). However, the vocabulary for the "Learning Resource Type" field includes some other values with higher semantic meanings proposed by CLEO extensions (CLEO, 2003). The reuse property is maintained since this field is specified as an ordered list of learning resource type elements, so the IEEE-LOM default vocabulary is still used in addition to the new ones. Further, the proposed architecture also plays a role as an LO producer, not only a consumer, it means that the architecture does not depend on finding LOs in external repositories.

The metadata filling process is a semi-automatic process in which the values are filled out through three fashions: (i) automatically by the system, (ii) manually by the instructor, and (iii) collaboratively by students.

The automatic process fills 21 IEEE-LOM fields in five different categories, based on the application's domain:

- 1. General: an identifier number is created for each lecture. The field *Structure* is populated with the value "linear", and the field *Aggregation Level* is filled out with the value "2" (collection of raw media data);
- 2. Technical: the fields *Format*, *Size*, *Location*, and *Duration* are filled out with information coming from the electronic whiteboard;
- 3. Educational: the fields Intended End User Role, Context, and Typical Age Range are filled out with the values "learner", "higher education", and "17-" (older than

17 years old), respectively. The field *Learning Resource Type* is first filled out with the value "lecture" by default but other fine-grained values are included later. Regarding the *Semantic Density* field, the instructor may provide such information, or the amount of bookmarks created for the lecture could give a hint on how dense is the LO. The more bookmarks created the more concepts addressed by the lecture and, therefore, the semantic density of the LO is higher.

- 4. Relation: the fields *Kind* and *Resource.Entry* are filled when LOs are related to each other. Slides are related to subjects and both are related to a lecture;
- 5. Rights: the fields *Cost*, *Copyright and Other Restrictions*, and *Description* are filled out with copyright information indicating no cost for users; and,
- 6. Lifecycle: the fields *Version*, *Status*, and *Contribute* are populated with information about the instructor who created the LO, pointing out its versions.

Some information is provided by the instructor when the lecture is being created in the system, as shown in Figure 10. *Title* and *Keywords* are required fields while *Lan*guage, Description, Difficulty, Semantic Density, Interactivity Type, Interactivity Level, and Learning Resource Type are optional fields.

Difficulty is filled by a slider bar (1-5) with five possible values: "easy", "simple", "medium", "hard", and "complex". *Semantic Density* and *Interactivity Level* also have five possible values: "very low", "low", "average", "high", and "very high". The filling options for the *Learning Resource Type* are a subset of the vocabulary presented in Table 2 except by items that do not make sense at this point, such as "lecture", "slide", "additional resource", "assessment", and "attraction" because they are used by automatic processes at some other time.

Figure 11 shows a schematic representation of the elements hierarchy in the IEEE-LOM data model and indicates which fields are automatically or manually filled out, including the ones with mixed approach.

Finally, students can provide fine-grained information when they access the captured lecture. They can collaboratively point out the metadata "Learning Resource Type" contained in each slide, as shown by the number (2) in the Figure 7. It triggers the metadata update process aggregating values of the three hierarchical levels. For usability matter, values presented in Learning Resource Type field are a subset of the IEEE-LOM and CLEO vocabulary, as shown by Table 2.

3.2.3 Learning Style Estimation for Learning Objects

AULA provides a structure that allows LOs to be classified according to the FSLSM as an extra information attached to them, used when the LOs recommendation is based on students' LS.

(

Classroom eXperience	🐡 Rafael Dias Araújo
Home > GBC021 - Profissão em Computação e Informática > New Lesson	
Please enter some information about the new lesson:	
Title*:	
Keywords*:	

Slides file: (.pdf, .ppt, .zip)	Escolher arquivo Nenhum arquivo selecionado		
Abstract:			
Language:	Português 🔻		
Difficulty level:	N/D		
Importance:	🔘 Low 🔘 Average 🔘 High		
Interactivity type:	🔘 Active 🔘 Expositive 🔘 Mixed 🍘		
Interactivity level:	Very low Low Medium High Very hig	h 🔞	
Semantic density:	🔘 Very low 🔘 Low 🔘 Average 🔘 High 🔘 Very hig	h 🕜	
Learning resource type(s):	Select the learning resource type(s)	0	
*Required fields			Register
🕽 Copyright 2012-2016 UbiMed	ia · All rights reserved	🕮 English	About





Figure 11 – Schematic representation of elements in the IEEE-LOM data model. Adapted from Barker (2011).

Previous work has mapped out a subset of IEEE-LOM fields that can define different dimensions of the FSLSM and proposed an automatic and dynamic approach to classify LOs (DORÇA et al., 2016). Rules were produced to estimate the LS regarding the relationships between LS and IEEE-LOM fields showed by Table 3.

In addition, the CLEO extended vocabulary for the Learning Resource Type field has also been mapped out to different dimensions of the FSLSM in order to complement the rules of the standard vocabulary, as shown by Table 4.

Analogy, example, non example, practice and scenario represent CLEO's learning resource types that best suit sensing learners because they tend to be facts-oriented and they prefer concrete and practical content. Intuitive learners are more likely to learn better with abstract content, such as definitions, demonstrations, glossaries, and guidelines.

Reflective learners prefer abstract content in with they can learn through observations in passive way. LOs containing analogies, definitions, demonstrations, examples, non examples, glossaries, notes, presentation, scenarios or summary tend to gratify more such kind of learners. On the other hand, assessments and their items, community resources and practical content are LOs that directly induces productive action, so they are better prepared to active learners.

Source	Values	Source	Values
	diagram		additional resource*
	exercise		$assessment^*$
	figure		attractor*
	graph		community
	lecture*		definition
LOM	narrative text	CLEO	demonstration
	problem statement		example
	self assessment		introduction
	simulation		objective
	slide*		outline
	table		overview
			summary

Table 2 – Vocabulary for the Learning Resource Type field.

* Only for the automatic process.

Visual learners prefer LOs that address information in a visual way, such as illustrations and items that attract their attention (called attractors). Textual or oral content are more pleasing to verbal learners. In this case, assessments, community resources (such as chats), definitions, demonstrations, glossaries, introductions, notes, and objectives are more suitable for them.

Finally, sequential learners prefer to learn in a progressive and linear way. A guidance content is important for this kind of learner. In contrast, global learners like to first get an overview of the content and then make connections between the topics. LOs that contain an outline, overview or summary are good for global learners.

These heuristic rules are checked and the proportionality of rules that matches each LS dimension is stored by eight numeric values – two for each LS dimension – for each LO. For example, consider the hypothetical LO metadata presented in Figure 12(a) and rules presented in Tables 3 and 4. The LS computation for this LO would be the values presented in Figure 12(b), representing 66.7% for Sensing, 33.3% for Intuitive LS, 75% for Visual, 25% for Verbal, 100% for Reflective, and 100% for Sequential.

As previously presented, LOs can be updated and have their metadata information changed. Because of that, the LS is re-computed every time the LO has any of its information updated so these values remain consistent.

3.2.4 Content Enrichment

Social features contribute to create a more interactive environment as well as to make the content richer. Previous research developed a multimedia content enrichment model that fosters hierarchical digital artifacts construction (BRANT-RIBEIRO et al., 2014; ARAÚJO et al., 2017). This model has been implemented into the CX platform in the extension phase of its architecture through Web services.

IEEE-LOM Field	Value	Perception	Input	Processing	Organization
Structure	collection	-	_	_	global
	networked	_	_	—	global
	hierarchical	_	_	_	global
	linear	-	-	-	sequential
	atomic	-	-	-	sequential
Format	audio	_	verbal	reflective	_
	image	-	visual	reflective	_
	text	-	verbal	-	_
	video	_	visual	reflective	_
	application	_	_	active	_
Interactivity	active	_	_	active	_
Type	expositive	-	_	reflective	_
	mixed	-	_	active	_
				reflective	
Learning	exercise	-	verbal	active	_
Resource Type	simulation	sensing	-	active	_
	questionnaire	_	verbal	active	_
	exam	-	verbal	active	_
	experiment	sensing	visual	active	_
	problem statement	_	verbal	active	_
	self assessment	sensing	verbal	active	_
	diagram	intuitive	visual	reflective	_
	figure	sensing	visual	reflective	_
	graph	sensing	visual	reflective	_
	index	sensing	verbal	reflective	_
	slide	_	_	reflective	_
	table	sensing	verbal	reflective	_
	narrative text	_	verbal	reflective	_
	lecture	-	verbal	reflective	_
Interactivity	very low	_	_	reflective	_
Level	low	_	_	reflective	_
	medium	-	_	active	_
				reflective	
	high	-	_	active	_
	very high	_	_	active	_

Table 3 – Relationships between LS and IEEE-LOM fields, adapted from DORÇA et al. (2016).

Users of the platform can also rate slides by using the stars approach to classify how important is each slide for a specific lecture. In the example of a captured lecture shown in Figure 13, the user classified the slide with three stars (bottom-right corner). Still looking at the same figure in the top-right corner, a big star is filled out the average rating considering all users who rated it, in this case, it was four stars.

While accessing the captured content, students and instructors can interact with each other by creating commentaries on slides, asking questions or pointing out some important

IEEE-LOM Field	CLEO value	Perception	Input	Processing	Organization
Learning	additional resource	-	_	_	_
Resource Type	analogy	sensing	_	reflective	_
	assessment	_	verbal	active	_
	assessment item	_	_	active	_
	attractor	_	visual	-	_
	community	—	verbal	active	_
	definition	intuitive	verbal	reflective	_
	demonstration	intuitive	verbal	reflective	_
	example	sensing	_	reflective	_
	feedback	_	_	-	_
	glossary	intuitive	verbal	reflective	_
	guidance	_	_	-	sequential
	guideline	intuitive	_	reflective	_
	illustration	_	visual	-	_
	importance	_	_	-	_
	introduction	_	verbal	_	_
	non example	sensing	_	reflective	_
	note	_	verbal	reflective	_
	objective	_	verbal	_	_
	outline	_	-	-	global
	overview	-	-	-	global
	practice	sensing	-	active	_
	prerequisite	_	-	-	_
	presentation	-	-	reflective	_
	recall	-	-	-	_
	reference	-	-	-	_
	reinforcement	-	_	-	_
	scenario	sensing	_	reflective	_
	summary	_	_	reflective	global

Table 4 –	- Relationships	between	LS	and	CLEO	extended	vocabulary	for	the	Learning
	Resource Typ	e field.								

ID	Structure	Format	Interactivity Type	Interactivity Level	Learning Resource Type
					figure
1	atomic	text	expositive	very low	diagram
1	image	image	expositive	very low	example
					slide
(a)					

Perce	ption	Input		Processing		Organization	
Sensing	Intuitive	Visual	Verbal	Active	Reflective	Sequential	Global
0.667	0.333	0.750	0.250	0	1	1	0
(b)							

Figure 12 – Example of an IEEE-LOM and its associated LS.

issue (Figure 13). Comments are eligible for replies and rating, which encourage debate and can be used to measure the comments' relevance. However, comments' rating uses a different approach from slides rating. For comments, the "thumbs-up/thumbs-down" approach that is commonly used in social networks was adopted. In addition, it is possible to create comments related to the course itself. Those comments could be more generic ones that include external references such as course calendar, extra tools, etc.

Voltar ao Classroom eXperience Aula 7 - Assembly MIPS: Princípios de Projeto				
Deve-se multiplicar o índice C por 4 para ajustar o índice MIPS em função do tamanho da palavra (4 bytes) Renan Image: Construction of the temperature of temperature o índice o function of temperature o índice o function o índice	Average rating 4 stars			
	ncia de 100 palavras ha associado g e h e \$s2 e que o teja em \$s3			
	h + A[8];			
	;t0 ,32 (\$s3);			
	\$s1,\$s2,\$t0;			
Send comment				

Figure 13 – Example of a commentary on a slide.

The proposed architecture also takes into account the need of additional content, other than the lectures captured in the classroom. Thereby, instructors can provide two different content types as an extra material: videos and quizzes.

Quizzes, or multiple-choice questions, can be created inside a recorded lecture by hovering the mouse over the "Q+" icon, as shown by Figure 14a. They are associated with a slide so students can answer them while reviewing the lecture. Currently, only textual information is allowed, as shown by Figure 14b. Each slide is associated with only one quiz, which is flagged as major for that slide. However, other quizzes can be created to be presented as extra content. Each attempt to answer a quiz is logged and the system presents a feedback indicating whether the answer is correct or not. Students can answer a quiz as many times as they want.

Videos are external content made available through an iframe to students in order to complement the content presented in a specific slide. Each video is manually chosen by the instructor and, currently, only its external Uniform Resource Locator (URL) is

Voltar ao Classroom eXperience Otimização					
Problemas de Oftimização minimização Francés de Oftimização minimização Francés de Oftimização Solução Vabor da Solução Conpento de solução viaveis					
R, D, R. min f(k) suplito a rostricos X1, x,, xn *****					
(a)					
Voltar ao Classroom eXperience Otimização					
Problemas de Molaces renna de Molaces					
 Funds de C Soluços Conpento de R., D., R., min fax Min fax Min					
(b)					

Figure 14 – Creating a new quiz.

informed to link it to a video provider, such YouTube. Nonetheless, some metadata fields are automatically filled out for both quizzes and videos since they can also be considered LOs.

Table 5 shows which metadata is generated in these cases and the respective assigned values for each field. In the future, automatic processes could take charge of analyzing their metadata for recommending these types of LOs at different points of the lecture without the need of creating them manually.

Therefore, all the social and collaborative information gathered by this module enriches the existing digital content, fostering collaborative learning, and also enabling a faster communication channel between students and instructors.

3.2.5 CX-LOR: Classroom eXperience Learning Objects Repository

As CX turned out to be a factory of LOs, we decided to create a public repository of LOs, called CX-LOR, freely available to the community, licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International¹. Before start using the repository, researchers are asked to send us an e-mail containing the name of the principal researcher, their institution and a justification for the request. Then, a private key is generated to allow them to search LOs.

Once having the private key, it is possible to search for LOs through the main page of the CX-LOR which looks for the desired values in the metadata fields. Then, a list of LOs is displayed in a table that includes a link for the IEEE-LOM, as an XML file, and a link for the content itself, as a ZIP file, as shown in Figure 15. An example of a metadata file in the IEEE-LOM standard generated by the CX platform is shown by Figure 37 in Appendix F.

An Application Programming Interface (API) have also been built make it easier to retrieve LOs. Four different actions have been implemented to search LOs, retrieve an IEEE-LOM, retrieve many IEEE-LOM in a ZIP file, and retrieve an LO. Messages are transmitted in the JavaScript Object Notation (JSON) format. Appendix F shows the definition of each action and its return in Figures 38, 39, 40, and 41, respectively.

Eventually, this repository tends to become larger and larger. Thereby, strategies associated with smart data analysis and machine learning techniques for organizing it will become indispensable ingredients in this context. Studies for clustering LOs based on LS have been conducted (DORÇA et al., 2017; MENDES et al., 2017b; MENDES et al., 2017a).

¹ CC BY-NC 4.0: <https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0>

IEEE-LOM field	Quiz	Video
Identifier	unique number	unique number
Title	"Quiz " $+$ id lecture $+$ id slide	"Video " $+$ id lecture $+$ id slide
General.Description	question heading	_
General.Language	pt-BR	_
Structure	atomic	atomic
Aggregation Level	1	1
Interactivity Type	active	expositive
Interactivity Level	high	low
Semantic Density	value depends on the number of topics	_
	associated with the respective quiz.	
	"very low": only one topic;	
	"low": two topics;	
	"medium": three or four topics;	
	"high": five or six topics; and,	
	"very high": more than six topics;	
Learning Resource Type	assessment	additional resource
	additional resource	
	narrative text	
Keywords	filled out with the correct answer	_
	for the quiz	
Format	text/html	video/avi
	text/plain	
Location	internal URL	external URL
Intended End User Role	learner	learner
Typical Age Range	17-	17-
Educational.Context	higher education	higher education
Version	1.0	_
Status	final	_
Educational.Language	pt-BR	_
Copyright and Other Restrictions	yes	yes
Rights.Cost	no	no
Rights.Description	All rights reserved to	All rights reserved to
	UbiMedia@UFU	© 2016 YouTube, LLC
Contribute.Role	author	_
Contribute.Entity	instructor vCard	_
Contribute.Date	creation date	_

Table 5 – Metadata fields and values for quizzes and videos.



CX-LOR: Classroom eXperience Learning Objects Repository

This is the repository of Learning Objects (LOS) generated by the Classroom eXperience in real educational settings.

Their metadata is represented by the IEEE-LOM (Learning Object Metadata) format, defined by the standard <u>IEEE 1484.12.1-2002</u>. The vocabulary of the educational.LearningResourceType field, in particular, has been extended with the <u>CLEO</u> values, which have a higher semantic level.

You can use the LOs generated by the Classroom eXperience platform for you research! Before doing so, you must get a private key as an authorization. Just email Prof. Dr. Renan Cattelan (renan@ufu.br) with the subject "[CX-LOR] Authorization" requiring a private key.

In addition, resulting publications should reference: to be defined.

To search for LOs in this repository, please use the form below with the metadata fields defined by the IEEE-LOM standard. You can also use our API to retrieve them. <u>Click here</u> to find out more information.

	:	Secret Key:			
	general.title	۲	usabili		
÷	Add field	About metadata fields			
				Search	

S	how 10 🔻 entries		Search:				
	ID 🔺		Title	\$	Metadata	LO	
	8682	Aula7	- design centrado no humano e usabilidade		LOM	zip	
	8748	Aula 7	- Design centrado no humano e Usabilidade		LOM	zip	
	8991		Usabilidade		LOM	zip	
	10513		Tipos de avaliação de usabilidade		LOM	zip	
	10514	Técnicas o	de avaliação baseadas em especialista (inspeçá de usabilidade)	ío	<u>LOM</u>	zip	
	10517	Técnicas	de avaliação baseadas em usuários (testes de usabilidade)	9	<u>LOM</u>	zip	
	12064	Aula 7	- Design centrado no humano e usabilidade		LOM	zip	
	13958		Aula 11 - Avaliação de usabilidade		LOM	zip	
S	howing 1 to a	8 of 8 entries			Previous	1 Next	
©	Copyright 201	12-2017 UbiMe	edia · All rights reserved				Englis

Figure 15 – Home page of the CX-LOR.

3.3 Content Personalization

Some resources should be also provided to support content personalization. A Student Model (SM), for example, is a key component that gathers individual information about students. In this way, this section presents an SM that includes the LS information and the types of interactions allowed in the platform.

3.3.1 Student Model

Once LOs and their metadata are available, we need to define which students characteristics will be gathered to be able to customize the content individually. These characteristics should be stored in an SM capable of representing students behavior and skills in order to identify what is really relevant for each student.

An SM is one of the fundamental components for personalizing educational content and it should represent not only students knowledge but rather reflect, as closely as possible, their reasoning process (CLEMENTE; RAMÍREZ; ANTONIO, 2011). For example, a student may learn better by solving problems unlike another student who may do better with examples. In addition, contextual information and personal preferences are important to build a better experience in the learning environment.

In this work, the SM contains six classes of information, namely, personal information, contextual information, personal preferences, online interactions, cognitive information, and knowledge information. Thus, the student model is defined as:

$$Student = \{N, C, P, I, L, Q\}$$

where:

N: contains personal information, such as name, surname, email, gender, birthday, city, state, country, institution, student ID number, level of education, and a profile picture; $C = \{d_C, b_C, s_C, dt_C, at_C, p_C, r_C\}$: contains contextual information, such as type of device, device's bandwidth, screen resolution, access' date and time, user's available time, place, and reason, respectively (ARAÚJO et al., 2013);

P: contains personal preferences, in this case represented by conditional preferences stored by means of CPref-SQL rules (AMO; RIBEIRO, 2009); $I = \{ \langle o, t \rangle \}$: list of online interactions t taken place on the LO o;

L: a set of cognitive information, in this work represented by student's learning style;

Q: student knowledge information which contains a set of attempts to quizzes.

Regarding online interactions, the architecture provides support for different types of activities. They comprise important information as basis for analysis and identification of students' individual differences. There are four activities groups with distinct features, as listed below:

- □ Social: slides rating and specific comments on slides and general comments on the course;
- □ Collaborative: users can define fine-grained LOs while creating bookmarks for the lecture as well as refine their metadata by providing information related to Learning Resource Types;
- □ Assessment: students can answer quizzes while reviewing a recorded lecture and every attempt is stored, updating their knowledge in the model according to the answer;
- □ Gamification: students earn points and badges according to their activities (FER-REIRA et al., 2015).

Additional studies with scope beyond what is presented here have been conducted to explore the potentialities of the SM for predicting academic performance (FERREIRA et al., 2017; FERREIRA et al., 2017b; FERREIRA et al., 2016; FERREIRA et al., 2016) as well as designing an open student model that allows students and instructors to access the information inferred by the SM (FERREIRA et al., 2017a).

3.3.2 Learning Style Estimation for Students

Since AULA provides infrastructure to compute the LSs of LOs, it is interesting to estimate students' LSs as well. This would enable the architecture to connect LOs to students, based on LSs. Likewise, the storage structure is similar to the one for LOs composed of eight numeric values representing the tendency of preference for one of the LS dimensions.

This gives a probabilistic nature to the LS information (DORÇA et al., 2013), which means that the student LS is not a unique choice neither a fixed one. Rather, it means that students tend to prefer one or more LS and that preference can evolve over time. In this way, students' LS is represented as shown by (1).

$$LS_{student} = \{(PrA, PrR), (PrS, PrI), (PrVi, PrVe), (PrSeq, PrG) \\ |PrA + PrR = 1, PrS + PrI = 1, PrVi + PrVe = 1, PrSeq + PrG = 1\}$$
(1)

where:

PrA: likelihood of preference for the Active LS PrR: likelihood of preference for the Reflective LS PrS: likelihood of preference for the Sensing LS PrI: likelihood of preference for the Intuitive LS PrVi: likelihood of preference for the Visual LS PrVe: likelihood of preference for the Verbal LS
PrSeq: likelihood of preference for the Sequential LS PrG: likelihood of preference for the Global LS

It is important to note that this information can be updated using static or dynamic approaches. In static approaches, those values are initialized only once, usually when the student enrolls in the course. In dynamic approaches, those values are not only initialized but updated over time, representing changing of preferences.

In this work, each LS is initialized with a 50% value in order to minimize the cold start problem, which indicates that the system does not know the students' preferences. Our first approach for updating those values is to use the Index of Learning Styles (ILS) for assessing students' LS in a distributed way among usage sessions during the semester. It consists of presenting a set of four questions – one for each LS dimension – each time students log into the system, as shown by Figure 16(b). This approach prevents students from getting tired and demotivated given the size of the entire questionnaire (44 questions).

The probability of preference to the LS corresponding to the answered alternative is increased by I = P/Q, where P is the initial probability of each LS, that is 50%, and Q is the number of questions related to each dimension. Since the ILS instrument contains 11 questions for each dimension, each time students answer a question, 50/11 points (~4.55%) is added to the LS represented by the answer and, on the other hand, this value is subtracted from its opposite LS. For example, consider the LS of a particular student that has just been initialized with 50%. He/she answers a specific question related to the Active/Reflective dimension and it happens that his/her answer goes toward the Active LS. Thus, the student model is updated to (PrA, PrR) = (0.545, 0.455).

Each answered question gives some points to the gamification module as a way to motivate students to answer them. Once answered all 44 questions, students earn a specific badge for this task. Figure 16(a) shows a popup that appears only once to inform the student about the ILS.

3.3.3 Types of Interactions

The "Interactions Repository" is responsible for storing users' interactions, including user ID, access context, timestamp, and interaction types t. Other stored information is specific for each interaction type. Those interactions are collected through asynchronous web-service calls and stored in a relational database. Currently, the following types of interactions are gathered:

- \Box LOGIN: when users log into the system;
- □ LECTURE_OPEN: when a user opens a lecture. Class ID and lecture ID are also included in this log;



Figure 16 – ILS popup information and some of the ILS questions.

- □ SLIDE_VISUALIZATION: every time users view a different slide of the lecture. Class ID, lecture ID, and media ID (slide) are also stored;
- □ LECTURE_CLOSE: when a user closes a lecture (only when clicking on the specific link to close it). Class ID and lecture ID are also included;
- □ SUBJECT_CREATION: when users create a new bookmark. Class ID, lecture ID, and media ID (slide) are also stored;
- □ SUBJECT_DELETION: when users remove a bookmark. Class ID, lecture ID and media ID (slide) are also stored;
- □ LRT_CHECK: when a user checks a different Learning Resource Type for a slide. Class ID, lecture ID, and media ID (slide) are also stored;
- □ LRT_UNCHECK: when a user unchecks a Learning Resource Type of a slide. Class ID, lecture ID, and media ID (slide) are also stored;
- □ SUBJECT_LIKE: when users like an existing bookmark. Class ID, lecture ID, media ID (slide), and the ID of the user who created the bookmark;
- □ SUBJECT_DISLIKE: when users dislike an existing bookmark. Class ID, lecture ID, media ID (slide), and the ID of the user who created the bookmark;
- □ ADDITIONALCONTENT_CLICK: when users click to visualize additional content. Class ID, lecture ID, and media ID (slide) are also stored;

- □ ADDITIONALCONTENT_VIDEOCLICK: when a user clicks on a video link (as additional content). Class ID, lecture ID, media ID (slide), and the link pointing to the video are also stored;
- ADDITIONALCONTENT_QUIZCLICK: when a user clicks on a quiz link (as additional content). Class ID, lecture ID, media ID (slide), and the quiz ID are also stored;
- □ QUIZ_OPEN: when a user opens the quiz related to a specific slide. Class ID, lecture ID, media ID (slide), and the quiz ID are also stored;
- □ QUIZ_ANSWER: when users answer a quiz. Class ID, lecture ID, media ID (slide), the quiz ID, and an extra information indicating whether the answer was right or wrong are also stored;
- □ COMMENT_COURSE: when a comment is created for a course. Class ID is included;
- □ COMMENT_SLIDE: when users write a comment for a specific slide. Class ID, lecture ID, and media ID (slide) are included;
- □ COMMENT_LIKE: when a comment is liked by the user. Class ID, lecture ID, and comment ID are also stored;
- □ COMMENT_DISLIKE: when a comment is disliked. Class ID, lecture ID, and comment ID are also stored;
- □ COMMENT_REPLY: when a user replies to a comment. Class ID, lecture ID, and comment ID are included;
- □ RATING_SLIDE: when users rate a specific slide. Class ID, lecture ID, and slide ID are also stored;
- □ ILS_ANSWER: when users answer the ILS questions. It also stores the question ID and the answer ID;
- □ CHANGE_VISUALIZATION: when the user changes the lecture visualization from the original ordering to the personalized one (only available when the personalization is enabled).

This repository can be used to automatically identify students behavior to provide input to the SM in order to contribute to improve recommendations in the future.

3.3.4 Strategies for Content Personalization and Recommendation

Once defined both the type of content that we are working with and the way that users are represented, it is possible to design algorithms and rules to fit the content according to users' needs.

The first level of personalization occurs based on users' access context in which presentation rules define the best way to present the content. For example, if the user accesses the content using a device with a low screen resolution, it is better to present a textual content rather than detailed slides. This kind of rules is used to create a ranking of stylesheets; however, the user is free to choose no matter which one. Figure 17 shows a popup window with the ranked display formats based on the access context. Details of this level of personalization are not presented here as it is not a direct contribution of this thesis but an extension of it, described in (ARAÚJO et al., 2013; ARAÚJO, 2013).



Figure 17 – Rank of display formats for accessing a lecture in the CX.

The second level of personalization occurs inside a lecture based on the output of the "Behavior Identification Module". As a case study, we implemented an approach based on LS for validating the architecture. Basically, as each lecture is an ensemble of LOs, the lecture could be reordered and built according to the LS of each student.

Consider a lecture captured in the classroom. Eventually, it will be sliced into different *subjects*, generating new LOs containing a set of slides, as explained in Section 3.2. Once those slides have their metadata filled and their LS is computed, they can be ranked and presented in a different order for each student.

Let o be an LO, P be the proportionality of rules – presented by Table 3 – satisfied by o considering a specific learning style dimension, and LS be the probability stored in the student model for each LS dimension. The relevance R for an LO o is given by Eq. (2), as the sum of values obtained by o in each of the eight LS dimensions.

$$R(o) = \sum_{i=1}^{8} \left(P_i \times LS_i \right) \tag{2}$$

This equation has been adjusted to consider the proportionality of rules matched by LOs for each LS rather than the absolute number of matched rules presented in previous research (DORÇA et al., 2016). This adjustment prevents specific LS that have a higher number of defined rules from being unduly highlighted in comparison to those with fewer rules.

For a better understanding of the relevance computation of LOs regarding a specific student, Algorithm 1 presents the steps for generating a ranking of LOs that better suits students' LS, and Algorithm 2 shows how the proportionality of rules is computed.

```
Algorithm 1 Learning Objects relevance computation according to students' LS.
```

```
Require: List of LO metadata O = \{o_1, o_2, ..., o_n\} and LS_{student}.

for all o \in O do

P \leftarrow \text{ComputeLSProportionality}(o)

relevance \leftarrow 0

for i = 1 to 8 do

relevance + = (P[i] * LS_{student}[i])

end for

R[i] = relevance

end for

sort(O, R) //Sorts the list of objects O according to R

return O
```

Algorithm 2 ComputeLSProportionality

```
Require: LO metadata o.

for i = 1 to 8 do

P[i] \leftarrow 0

end for

for i = 1 to 7 do

N \leftarrow counts the number of rules satisfied by o for the LS_i

K \leftarrow counts the number of rules satisfied by o for the LS_{(i+1)}

P[i] \leftarrow N/(N + K)

P[i+1] \leftarrow 1 - P[i]

i = i + 2

end for

return P
```

Using this computation, LOs that compose the captured lecture may be internally rearranged within topics. Considering the example of a lecture about repetition structures in the context of computer programming. Figure 18(a) shows this lecture in its original order, as designed by the instructor. Imagine two students who have different LS: one of them has tendencies for *sensing* and *visual* LS, the other tends to *sensing* and *verbal* LS. By running this algorithm, the same lecture could be rearranged in two different ways for those students based on the ranking of LOs, as shown in Figure 18(b) and Figure 18(c). Notice that the *subjects* remain in the same order, because they are chained according to the instructor's strategy.

Inside each *subject*, the content is presented according to students' LS. In the first case (Figure 18(b)), the content order (example, diagram, textual definition) matches a sensing and visual LS, since sensing learners prefer to learn from facts, and visual learners learn better through visual content. On the other hand, in the second case (Figure 18(c)), the textual definition appears before the diagram to match a *verbal* learner.



Figure 18 – Examples of a personalized lecture.

Moreover, supplementary material with proper metadata in the IEEE-LOM format can also be recommended and presented as content related to each LOs of the lecture. Although different algorithms can be used for ranking or clustering related content in the repository, no default automatic approach is proposed here, since the goal is to create an infrastructure that make it possible.

In terms of presentation, LOs that compose the lecture are retrieved by means of asynchronous web-services calls as well as their extended information such as ratings, comments, additional content, and presentation order. A sequence diagram (BOOCH; RUMBAUGH; JACOBSON, 2005) for opening a lecture is presented in Appendix A. As can be noticed, there are specialized components for handling LOs and social features.

All presented features are implemented into the CX platform, which is used as case study for research of our group. Currently, instructors of the Faculty of Computing at Federal University of Uberlândia (UFU) are using this platform for undergraduate and graduate courses in Computer Science, Information Systems, and Information Management majors.

3.4 Architectural Components

AULA comprises a set of components with specialized roles. Many of them provides interfaces that allow communication through HyperText Transfer Protocol (HTTP) requests. They use a Data Access Object (DAO) component to persist all the information in the database. Figure 19 shows a components diagram that includes provided interfaces as well as components dependency.



powered by Astah

Figure 19 – Components diagram.

Learning Objects Component

This component is responsible for dealing with learning objects in general. It provides the following interfaces:

- □ "CXLOR" for retrieving LOs from the repository. It contains four services:
 - GET getLom: requires an ID of a specific IEEE-LOM (*idlom*) and a secret key (*secretKey*). It returns an eXtensible Markup Language (XML) file representing the metadata.
 - GET getZip: requires a list of IEEE-LOM ID (*ids*) and a secret key (*secretKey*). It returns a ZIP file containing XML files representing different IEEE-LOM.
 - GET getLO: requires an ID of a specific IEEE-LOM (*idlom*) and a secret key (*secretKey*). It returns a ZIP file with the files that comprise the LO.
- POST *search*: requires a JSON string containing the IEEE-LOM fields to be searched and a secret key (*secretKey*). It returns a JSON string containing ID and title of found objects. Details are presented in Appendix F.
- □ "Quiz" for managing quizzes. It contains the following services:
 - GET getQuestion: requires the lecture ID (*idlesson*), the slide ID (*idslide*), and a flag indicating whether it is the major quiz for the slide or not (*ismajor*). It returns in a JSON string containing the quiz associated with a given slide of a specific lecture, if any exist.
- POST *addQuestion*: it is used to add a new quiz to a specific slide of a lecture. It includes the multiple options of response as well as the correct one. It is allowed only for professors.
- POST *addAnsweredQuestion*: it is used to register an attempt to answer a quiz. The user ID (*iduser*), the question ID (*idquestion*), and the checked option (*answer*) are required.
- □ "Bookmark" for LOs segmentation. Students and professors can use it for handling bookmarks inside lectures through the following services:
 - GET getLectureSubjects: requires the user ID (iduser) and the lecture ID (idlecture). It returns a list of bookmarks of the given lecture.
 - GET getLRT: requires the language (lang) and returns a list of all possible Learning Resource Types values in Portuguese (pt) or English (en).
 - GET getLRTmedias: requires the lecture ID (*idlecture*) and returns a list of *Learning* Resource Types of a specific media.

- GET getSubjectLikeByUser: requires the user ID (*iduser*), the lecture ID (*idlecture*), and the slide ID (*idslide*). It returns the user's like and dislike interactions for the bookmark, if it exists.
- GET getMediaRanking: requires the user ID (*iduser*) and the lecture ID (*idlecture*). It computes the relevance of LOs for a specific student and returns an ordered list of LOs. Currently, this computation is based on LS of the FSLSM.
- POST *addSubject*: it adds a new bookmark for a lecture. It requires the user ID (*iduser*), the lecture ID (*idlecture*), the slide ID (*idslide*), and a title for the bookmark (*title*).
- POST *deleteSubject*: requires the user ID (*iduser*), the lecture ID (*idlecture*), and the slide ID (*idslide*) for removing a bookmark from a lecture. Only the bookmark creator (owner) can delete it.
- POST *addLRTmedia*: requires the lecture ID (*idlecture*), the slide ID (*idslide*), and the *Learning Resource Type* ID (*idlrt*) to associate a *Learning Resource Type* value to a slide.
- POST deleteLRTmedia: requires the lecture ID (*idlecture*), the slide ID (*idslide*), and the Learning Resource Type ID (*idlrt*) to delete a Learning Resource Type value from a slide.

Further details are presented in Section 3.2.

Learning Styles Component

This component is responsible for collecting students LS as well as processing all information about LS for both students and LOs. The Learning Objects components depends on this component to compute the LS of each LO. Currently, it provides the ILS interface with two external services:

- GET getilsquestions: it requires the student to be logged in (iduser) to return the unanswered ILS questions. The questions are available in Portuguese and English.
- POST *saveilsanswers*: it saves the answers for the ILS questions for a specific user (iduser) and updates the student model.

Student Model Component

This component is responsible for storing students' characteristics to provide input for personalization and recommendation algorithms. The Learning Objects component depends on this component to be able to compute the relevance of LOs to each student. Also, it updates the student model with the quizzes answers. The Learning Style component also depends on this component to update the LS of a specific student based on his/her answers to the ILS questions. The interactions component also depends on this component to update the student model with the performed interactions. Details are presented in Section 3.3.

Interactions Component

This component is responsible for handling all performed interactions. It stores the user ID, the interaction type, and some relevant information about where the interaction happened, such as lecture ID, media ID and class ID (or group ID). Details are presented in Subsection 3.3.3.

Social Component

This component handles all social and collaborative interactions, such as comments and slides rating, in a loosely-coupled manner. Basically, it provides three interfaces:

- □ "Artifact" for handling all kinds of artifacts, which are abstraction to elements that may contain social interactions such as slides, courses, and the comments themselves;
- "Comment" to register/retrieve comments and replies on artifacts;
- □ "Rating" to register/retrieve ratings on artifacts (slides and comments);

It uses the SocialDAO component to store this information in a separate database. Details are presented in (ARAÚJO et al., 2017; BRANT-RIBEIRO et al., 2014; MEN-DONÇA et al., 2014).

Gamification Component

This component implements the rules of the gamification module and provides interfaces for retrieving the ranking of students' scores (*Ranking*) and their earned badges (*Badge*). It uses the GamificationDAO component to store this information in a separate database. As it is beyond the scope of this work, it is detailed in (FERREIRA et al., 2015).

Electronic Whiteboard Component

This is a Java Web Start component used for capturing strokes on the electronic whiteboard. When started, it downloads the set of slides from the server for a specific lecture. After finished, it synchronizes all media streams and send it back to the server through a peer-to-peer protocol.

P2PProtocol Component

This component is a peer-to-peer protocol which is in charge of transmitting and storing the content captured in the classroom to the servers. Eventually, it updates LOs metadata. Details of the protocol can be found in (ARAÚJO et al., 2012).

CHAPTER 4

Evaluation

This chapter presents the experiments performed to evaluate the approach proposed in this thesis. Different experiments were performed in order to check the feasibility of the proposed architecture. Section 4.1 presents the first experiment that was designed to evaluate the way in which LOs are created. Then, the personalization of the generated LOs was experimented with fictitious data and presented in Section 4.2. Finally, Section 4.3 presents a case study performed in real educational settings to evaluate the proposed architecture and its impact on the learning process.

The Ethics Committee of UFU – American IRB equivalent – approved the participation of students in this study¹ and all participants have agreed with the consent form presented at the beginning of each semester.

4.1 Learning Objects Authoring

This experiment aimed at evaluating how ULEs can support the LOs authoring process and the use of a collaborative bookmarking approach to refine them, supporting the research question Q1. Participants were undergraduate students majoring Information Systems and, also, graduate students in Computer Science enrolled in the Human-Computer Interaction (HCI) course offered by Faculty of Computing of the Federal University of Uberlândia, Brazil. In addition, HCI experts also evaluated the quality of the generated metadata, aiming at validating the results. In total, 30 students plus three experts in the HCI field participated in this study. The results have been already published in (ARAÚJO et al., 2014; ARAÚJO et al., 2016; ARAÚJO et al., 2016).

4.1.1 Research Design

First, the professor of the HCI course taught his classes using the Classroom eXperience (CX) as a complementary tool during the semester. Then, two different HCI

¹ CAAE 46909515.4.0000.5152

lectures were chosen for this experiment: "Usability Evaluation" and "Task Analysis". So, all participants had prior contact with the content, as both lectures were taught before the experiment took place. From now on, the lectures will be called "Lecture A" and "Lecture B", respectively.

This experiment was divided in four phases: (I) Creating *bookmarks*, (II) Evaluating *bookmarks*, (III) Redefining *bookmarks*, and (IV) Experts evaluation, as shown by Figure 20. Nine graduate students participated in the phase I. Phases II and III counted on 21 undergraduate students and the last phase, IV, included three HCI experts.



Figure 20 – Phases of the experimental study.

At the end of phases I, II and III, a questionnaire with eight affirmatives were presented to the participants to evaluate them in a 7-points Likert scale. The questionnaire P1 shown in Appendix B was used in phases I and III. The questionnaire P2 shown in Appendix C was used in phase II.

We chose to use a 7-points Likert scale for the same reason as having a longer interval for the allocation of responses, allowing us to make calculations in order to be able to understand the variability of opinions among users. The affirmatives were prepared in accordance with concepts about quality and software evaluation (ISO/IEC, 2011), as presented by Table 6.

Category	Description	Phases
Correctness	Perception of correctness of the <i>bookmarks</i> .	I, II, III
Effectiveness	Accuracy and integrity for users to achieve the goals of the LO.	I, II, III
Utility	Perception of a feature to be useful to users achieve their goals.	I, II, III
Usability	Ease of viewing and navigation between different concepts inside a lecture.	II
Satisfaction	User satisfaction in a given context.	I, II, III
New feature	Possibility to define the hierarchy of <i>bookmarks</i> .	I, III

Table 6 – Evaluation criteria for phases I, II and III.

In phase I, participants were asked to navigate and define *bookmarks* for the lectures A and B. In order to get more accurate data, participants were divided into two groups, one with five and another with four people. At the end, the created *bookmarks* were put together and, in case of overlapping, the ones with more "likes" were picked. If there was still a tie, the instructor of the course chose one of them.

In phase II, we chose a within-subjects design with counterbalancing (LANE, 2006) in order to minimize the residual effects. Participants were randomly divided into two groups so that only one of the two lectures was seen with *bookmarks* for each group, as shown in Figure 21. The goal of this phase was to evaluate the quality of the *bookmarks* previously created in phase I and also their usefulness if compared with a lecture without such information.



Figure 21 – Within-subjects design for the phase II of the experimental study.

In phase III, the same students who participated in phase II were invited to create *bookmarks* for the lecture that they saw without *bookmarks*. Thereby, half of the participants defined *bookmarks* for the Lecture A and half for the Lecture B. Finally, in phase IV, distinct LOs created in phases I and III were randomly presented to HCI experts to evaluate the quality and consistency of the associated metadata.

Five affirmatives were presented to experts, who were asked to answer them in a 5points Likert scale for each LO. The affirmatives were created based on the Learning Object Review Instrument (LORI) (NESBIT; BELFER; LEACOCK, 2004; VARGO et al., 2003) and also used concepts about quality and software evaluation (ISO/IEC, 2011), as shown in Table 7. Note that only LOs metadata is evaluated, not the content itself.

Affirmatives Category The metadata of this LO is consistent with its content. Consistency 1 2 All metadata information is correct. Correctness This LO contains well-divided subjects (bookmarks). Granularity 3 This LO has a well-defined learning goal. Learning Goal Alignment 4 This LO can be reused in a different course/context without 5Reuse modification.

Table 7 – Affirmatives presented to experts in phase IV.

4.1.2 Results and Discussion

During the phase I, 54 LOs were created, 36 of them were associated to the Lecture A and 18 to the Lecture B. After removing duplicates and disambiguation conducted by the instructor, lectures A and B had 24 and 12 associated LOs, respectively. On average,

students spent 13:05 minutes working on Lecture A and 4:28 minutes working on Lecture B in this phase.

In phase III, students created 26 LOs for the Lecture A and 11 LOs for the Lecture B. It turned out that about 50% of them were similar to those created in the phase I. On average, students spent 18:19 minutes working on Lecture A and 4:46 minutes working on Lecture B in this phase. Table 8 shows statistical information regarding the responses obtained from the questionnaires answered by students involved in phases I and III.

Affirmatives ¹	Phase	e I	Phase	Phase III		
Ammatives	$\bar{x} \pm s$	CV(%)	$\overline{x \pm s}$	CV(%)		
1	5.56 ± 1.42	25.63	5.73 ± 1.42	24.80		
2	4.56 ± 1.59	34.90	5.64 ± 1.21	21.40		
3	5.00 ± 1.66	33.17	4.91 ± 1.64	33.42		
4	4.56 ± 1.67	36.59	5.64 ± 1.21	21.40		
5	3.67 ± 1.41	38.57	4.18 ± 1.60	38.29		
6	5.67 ± 1.22	21.61	5.73 ± 1.10	19.27		
7	4.78 ± 1.86	38.84	4.82 ± 1.47	30.53		
8	6.44 ± 0.73	11.27	5.27 ± 1.68	31.84		

Table 8 – Mean, standard deviation and coefficient of variation of the responses of graduate and undergraduate students for the questionnaires administered in phases I and III.

In general, we can observe that the average response obtained in both phases remained above the central point of the scale. This suggests that participants were more likely to agree with the presented affirmatives, showing that the presented approach was well received by students. In particular, it is possible to highlight the contextual autocomplete feature (observed by the affirmative 6) obtained one of the highest acceptance rates among students' responses. This indicates that this feature proved to be relevant to the participants as it had a high approval rate in both phases.

Also, we can notice that graduate students had a high agreement rate regarding the possibility of creating hierarchical *bookmarks* (affirmative 8). This case had the highest level of homogeneity among all responses from the questionnaire, resulting in a CV = 11.27%. It shows similar opinions among participants regarding this affirmative. This is a relevant result because this feature can be used to indicate that some topics (or LOs in this case) are sub-items of others, allowing the generation of more concise and structured LOs.

The lowest reviews in both phases are related to the affirmative 5, indicating that students might not be totally willing to create *bookmarks* for all captured lectures. However, users do not need to create *bookmarks* for all of them since the proposed approach has a collaborative nature, so the LO structure is built as users create and share as many *bookmarks* as they wish.

 $^{{}^{1}\}bar{x} \pm s$: Mean and standard deviation; CV: Coefficient of variation.

In total, 21 students evaluated the quality, utility, and usability of the created *book-marks*, as shown in Table 9. In general, the average of their responses remained above the central point of the scale, which suggests that participants were more likely to agree with the presented affirmatives. The highest mean was obtained by affirmative 4, which comprised the perception of correctness of *bookmarks* created by participants in phase I. The lowest mean was in the affirmative 5, which is related to perception of utility of the functionality for better understanding of the lecture's structure. Nevertheless, the mean is still above the central point of the scale, indicating opinions toward the agreement.

Affirmatives ¹	$\bar{x} \pm s$	CV(%)
1	5.76 ± 1.09	18.94
2	5.62 ± 1.47	26.08
3	5.05 ± 1.50	29.70
4	5.95 ± 1.07	18.00
5	4.86 ± 1.71	35.23
6	5.43 ± 1.40	25.77

Table 9 – Mean, standard deviation and coefficient of variation of the responses of undergraduate students for the questionnaire administered in phase II.

 ${}^1\bar{x}\pm s{:}$ Mean and standard deviation; $CV{:}$ Coefficient of variation.

Finally, three HCI experts – Professors in institutions of higher education in Brazil – evaluated the metadata generated for each LO in the previous phases. Table 10 shows the results of their responses (Likert scale: 1-"Strongly disagree" to 5-"Strongly agree") the affirmatives: (1) The metadata of this LO is consistent with its content; (2) All metadata created is correct; (3) This LO has a well-defined learning objective; and, (4) This LO can be used in other courses/contexts without modification. The mean of all responses reached values greater than 4, which means that the experts agreed that the created metadata values were correct, consistent, and could be used in different courses.

Table 10 – Mean, standard deviation and coefficient of variation of the responses of experts (phase IV).

Affirmatives ¹	$\bar{x} \pm s$	CV(%)
1	4.32 ± 0.80	0.19
2	4.39 ± 0.78	0.18
3	4.30 ± 0.89	0.21
4	4.32 ± 0.83	0.19

 ${}^{1}\bar{x} \pm s$: Mean and standard deviation; CV: Coefficient of variation.

Additionally, they were asked about how well the *bookmarks* collaboratively created inside each lecture reflected their covered topics. Overall, they found that there was a good amount of *bookmarks* that well represented the topics of the lectures.

4.2 Content Personalization - Experiments with Simulated Data

Experiments with simulated data – LOs and students – were done aiming at ranking LOs that best fits students' LS. Heuristics were created from the relationship established between some metadata fields and the learning styles of the FSLSM, and then implemented as an expert system for classifying LOs according to LS. Those rules do not include the CLEO extended vocabulary. The results have been already published at (CARVALHO et al., 2014; DORÇA et al., 2016; CARVALHO et al., 2017).

Each rule satisfied by a learning object increases its relevance for the LS that the rule is related to. As each student also has a certain probability for each LS, then these values are multiplied by the number of rules that matched the LS of an LO. Then, the sum of those values gives the overall relevance of the LO to a specific student.

To validate the feasibility of this approach, a functional prototype was implemented to allows us to set up different values for each LS dimension of a simulated student in order to create a ranking of LOs that best fit that student.

For example, consider a student set up with the following LS values in the student model represented by Equation (1), presented in the Subsection 3.3.2:

$$LS_{student} = \{(0.1, 0.9), (0.7, 0.3), (0.55, 0.45), (0.8, 0.2)\}$$

Figure 22 shows a ranking of the most relevant LOs computed by a version of the Equation (2) in which P_i is replaced by Q_i . In this case, the term Q_i represents the number of rules satisfied by the LO for the dimension *i* instead of the proportionality of matched rules.

Different experiments were performed by changing the LS of the simulated student and computing the relevance of LOs. Then, a ranking of LOs recommended to that student was produced. By regarding the LOs metadata ranked first in the list and the simulated student set up, we were able to conclude that such objects really met the student's LS and they were probably better than the ones in the tail of the list for that context. Since there are four LS dimensions, 16 combinations are possible. All of them were tested in different setups for students. As we changed the values for the simulated student, the ranking of LO also changed but still remained consistent (CARVALHO et al., 2014; DORÇA et al., 2016).

Since those experiments using synthetic data produced consistent ranking of LOs for different student profiles, we implemented the proposed approach in a real-world system used as an educational complementary tool, called CX, and we have run some experiments to validate our approach in real educational settings, which are presented in the next section.

		St	ubject :	ect : Sciences and Arts						
	Percer	otion :		Input :	F	Processing :	Οŋ	ganization :		
	Sensitive	Intuitive	© vi	isual 🧕 Verbal	Active	Reflective	Seque	ntial 🔘 Globa	al d	
		70		45	1	10			80	
				Map o	ut					
				Learning	Style					
				Learning.	style					
	Perce	ption		Input	Proce	ssing	Organization			
	Sensitive	Intuitive	Visual	Verbal	Active	Reflective	Sequential	Global		
	0,7	0,3	0,55	0,45	0,1	0,9	0,8	0,2		
				2						
				Learning C	bjects					
Id	Title	Descript	tion	Keywords	Structure	Format	Interactivity	Learning Resource Type	Difficulty	2
2	BBC Beasts: Fossil Fun - Skeleto	The aim of the ga constr	ime is to	Sciences: Biology: Zoology	linear	text/html	N/A	N/A	N/A	28
3	Discussions for Learning in Larg	This is a webcast on	on managing	active learning, online conferen	network	video/quickTime Movie	N/A	N/A	N/A	28
1	Altered Cell and Tissue Biology	A graphics-rich, P Show	owerpoint		N/A	application/powerPoint	N/A	N/A	N/A	0

Figure 22 – Prototype system used for ranking LOs according to students' LS (DORÇA et al., 2016).

4.3 Content Personalization - Case Study with the Classroom eXperience

The goal of this experiment is to evaluate the approach proposed in the Subsection 3.3.4 for content personalization considering students LS, supporting the research question Q2. The next subsection presents some preliminary exploratory analysis using simulated data. Then, a one-semester long study with real students was performed using the CX platform. For assessing students' LS, a permission to use the Index of Learning Styles (ILS) was granted by Dr. Richard Felder (Annex A). A manuscript containing the results is being prepared to be submitted to the Computers in Human Behavior journal.

4.3.1 Research Design

During the first semester of 2017, undergraduate students from four different courses related to Computer Science and Information Systems majors used the CX platform. In total, 95 out of 115 students participated in this study. 20 students either did not use the system or had very few interactions (zero or one) throughout the semester. Table 11 shows the number of students who used the system in each course.

After collecting data, some statistical analyses were performed. First, students' LS were discussed and analyzed regarding the distribution of different interactions with the system among different LS. In addition, we would like to explore the effects of the

Course	Ν
Computer Organization and Architecture (COA)	37
Human-Computer Interaction (HCI)	35
Mathematical Logic (MathL)	12
Software Engineering (SE)	11
Total	95

Table 11 – Number of students in each course considered in the study.

personalization approach on students' grades in this context as well as the relationship between grades and different activities performed in the system. Figure 23 shows the analyses pipeline.



Figure 23 – Pipeline of the performed analyses.

Previous studies show a certain behavior in this complementary tool in which students' interactions with the system tend to happen mainly before the exams. In this sense, the research design was divided into three different course setups based on how many face-to-face exams were proposed by professors in each course to minimize this effect. Students' LS were assessed through the approach presented in the Subsection 3.3.2.

Setups 1 and 2 counted on a pretest (Pre) that was administered just before the beginning of the course and a post-test (Pos) that was administered when the course ended, both containing ten multiple choice questions related to each course content. Also, students of all courses answered a subjective questionnaire (UQ) at the end which was administered to evaluate their perception about utility and usability of the platform, as well as their own study behavior.

In addition, some variables representing students' interactions with the system were collected. Table 12 describes each usage variable extracted from interactions with the CX platform.

Three other scale variables (0 to 10) representing the scores obtained on exams where also considered in the analyzes: (1) course's final grade (GRADE), (2) partial grade when the personalization algorithm was disabled (DIS_PGRADE), and (3) partial grade when the personalization algorithm was enabled (ENA_PGRADE).

Variable	Description
TT_LOGIN	Total number of login sessions in the semester.
TT_LECT_OPEN	Amount of lecture opening in the semester.
TT_COLAB	Amount of collaborative and social activities per- formed by students, including bookmark creation and exclusion, check/uncheck of learning resource types, comments and slides ratings.
TT_QUIZANSWER	Total number of quizzes attempts.
TT_QUIZ_LOGIN	Average number of answered quizzes per login session.
TT_QUIZ_1ST_CORRECT	Number of answered quizzes in which the first attempt was correct.

Table 12 – Data gathered from interactions with the CX platform.

Setup 1: HCI and SE

Professors of the HCI and Software Engineering (SE) courses proposed two face-to-face exams (in classroom) during the semester. The semester was divided into four timeslots, two before the first exam and two between the first and the second exams. The timeslot just before the first exam had the personalization algorithm enabled and the one just before the second exam has it disabled, as shown by Figure 24.



Figure 24 – Experimental design for the HCI and SE courses.

For this case, the score obtained on the first exam was considered as a partial grade for the period with personalization (ENA_PGRADE) and the score obtained on the second exam was considered as a partial grade without personalization (DIS_PGRADE).

Setup 2: COA

The Computer Organization and Architecture (COA) course had three face-to-face exams (in classroom) during the semester. In this case, the semester was divided into three timeslots, one before each exam. The personalization algorithm was disabled in the extremes periods of the course, that is, before the first exam and between the second and third exams. Only the timeslot between the first and the second exams had the personalization algorithm enabled, as shown by Figure 25.



Figure 25 – Experimental design for the COA course.

The score variable representing the partial grade of the period without personalization (DIS_PGRADE) was computed as the mean between the scores obtained on the first and the third exam. On the other hand, the score obtained on the second exam was considered a partial grade for the period with personalization (ENA_PGRADE).

Setup 3: MathL

The Mathematical Logic (MathL) course also had three face-to-face exams (in classroom) and three timeslots during the semester. However, the setup was the opposite of setup 2 to consider two periods for the research condition enabled. Thus, the personalization algorithm was enabled in the extremes timeslots of the course, that is, before the first exam and between the second and third exams. The timeslot in the middle (between the first and the second exams) had the personalization algorithm disabled, as shown by Figure 26. The professor did not have enough time to prepare the pretest and the post-test for this course, so they were not administered.



Figure 26 – Experimental design for the MathL course.

The second exam's score was considered as a partial grade for the period without personalization (DIS_PGRADE) and the mean score obtained on the first and third exams was considered as a partial grade for the period with personalization (ENA_PGRADE).

4.3.2 Learning Styles

In total, 548 questions from the ILS were answered by 34 different students (out of 95). Of those, only 4 students answered the full questionnaire (44 questions). Figure 27 shows the mean values of each LS dimension assessed in each course, considering only those who answered at least one question. The values indicate how likely, in the average, the first LS of the dimension is preferred. For example, in the COA course, the value 0.48 for the Processing dimension indicates a 48% of preference for the Active LS.



Figure 27 – Mean values of LS dimensions in each course.

Remember that each LS is represented by a value that ranges from 0 to 1 and two LS of the same dimension are complementary to each other, that is, the sum of the LS values of the same dimension must add up to exactly 1. For example, Active and Reflective LS belong to the same dimension (Processing). So, adding the Active and Reflective values should be equal to 1.

Using a data-driven approach, we were willing to explore the behavior of groups of students with different LS regarding their interactions with the system. Since our student model implements a probabilistic approach for LS, we do not have an explicit classification of LS for each student. In this way, we decided to establish some ranges to their LS in a way to analyze and compare how different groups interact with the system. If none or only one question was answered, then the student was classified in the completed balanced category. If the student answered up to six questions towards a specific LS, he/she was classified as balanced for that LS. More than six responses towards a specific direction represented a strong preference for the LS. Table 13 shows the chosen classification ranges.

As 61 students did not answer any question from the ILS, their LS values remained at 0.5, which actually represents "No preference" for any of them. For the purpose of this analysis, they were removed to not draw erroneous conclusions for this group. Therefore, 34 students were considered.

The distribution of interactions with the platform within each LS dimension (with five LS classifications) was tested using the Kruskal-Wallis H test, which is used to compare

Range	Classification
$\begin{array}{c} 0.75 <= x <= 1.00 \\ 0.55 < x < 0.75 \\ 0.45 <= x <= 0.55 \\ 0.25 < x < 0.45 \\ 0 <= x <= 0.25 \end{array}$	Strong preference for the LS Balanced preference for the LS Balanced preference Balanced preference for the opposite LS Strong preference for the opposite LS

Table 13 – LS classification.

three or more independent samples. It assumes that the samples come from identical populations (null hypothesis). This test is a non-parametric method that was chosen because it does not assume a normal distribution of the residuals. Table 14 shows the results for the Kruskal-Wallis H test.

Table 14 – Kruskal-Wallis H test results comparing the distribution of interactions with the platform among different LS.

LS dimension	$\rm Statistics^1$	(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)
Processing (Act/Ref)	$\begin{array}{l} X^2(df)\\ p\text{-value} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.805(3) \\ 0.187 \end{array}$	$6.032(3) \\ 0.110$	$10.486(3) \\ 0.015^*$	$9.549(3) \\ 0.023^{*}$
Perception (Sen/Int)	$\begin{array}{l} X^2(df) \\ p\text{-value} \end{array}$	$6.089(3) \\ 0.107$	$3.397(3) \\ 0.334$	$9.188(3) \\ 0.027^*$	$8.292(3) \\ 0.040^{*}$
Input(Vis/Ver)	$\begin{array}{l} X^2(df)\\ p\text{-value} \end{array}$	$9.902(3) \\ 0.019^*$	$2.351(3) \\ 0.503$	$9.062(3) \\ 0.028^*$	$9.146(3) \\ 0.027^*$
Organization (Seq/Glo)	$\begin{array}{l} X^2(df)\\ p\text{-value} \end{array}$	$0.109(2) \\ 0.947$	$ \begin{array}{r} 1.346(2) \\ 0.510 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 1.574(2) \\ 0.455 \end{array} $	$1.532(2) \\ 0.465$

¹ X^2 : chi-squared statistic; df: degrees of freedom; p-value: Asymp. Sig. (2-sided); * Statistically significant at the 0.05 level; (A): TT_LOGIN; (B): TT_COLAB; (C): TT_QUIZANSWER; (D): TT_QUIZ_1ST_CORRECT.

Three of four LS dimensions have shown statistically significant results, indicating to reject the null hypothesis of the test. The Organization dimension was the only one that did not present statistically significant results.

The Kruskal-Wallis H test indicates that at least one sample is different from the other. However, it does not identify which sample is that. In this way, pairwise comparisons between groups should be performed in order to identify exactly where the differences lie. Although the test indicated to reject the null hypothesis for both the total amount of answered quizzes and the amount of correct answers in the first attempt among different LS groups of three dimensions (Processing, Perception and Input), post-hoc tests showed significant differences for only a few pairs of LS, as shown by yellow edges in Figure 28.

As can be seen, students who were classified with balanced LS for both dimensions, Processing and Perception, answered a different amount of quizzes from those students who had LS measured slightly towards Active and Sensing. Active-Balanced students



Figure 28 – Pairwise comparisons to verify significant differences in the amount of interactions carried out by students in each LS group.

answered much more quizzes (Median=12.5) than Balanced students (Median=0). Similarly, Sensing-Balanced students also answered much more quizzes (Median=24) than Balanced students (Median=0). It is interesting to note that statistically significant differences were not found between opposite LS of the same dimension. Box-plots charts showing the distribution of interactions by each LS are presented in Appendix E.

4.3.3 Effects on Students' Performance

In order to evaluate the periods with and without personalized content aiming at answering the research question Q2, we compared students' grades obtained on the exams for each specific period. For comparing them, the Wilcoxon signed-rank test was performed, which is a non-parametric statistical hypothesis test used when comparing two related samples. In this case, the samples are composed by the grades representing repeated measures for the same individual. Table 15 shows some descriptive statistics, such as mean, standard deviation, minimum, maximum, and median values for DIS_PGRADE and ENA_PGRADE variables, as well as the results for the Wilcoxon signed-rank test for each course.

Table 15 – Statistics for the grades obtained during the periods with and without personalization.

Course	Variable	Ν	$\bar{x} \pm s^1$	Min	Max	Med	$Z(p)^2$
COA	DIS_PGRADE ENA_PGRADE	$\frac{37}{37}$	5.005 ± 2.325 6.130 ± 3.145	$\begin{array}{c} 0.40\\ 0.00\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 9.40\\ 10.00\end{array}$	$5.20 \\ 6.40$	-2.745(0.006)
HCI	DIS_PGRADE ENA_PGRADE	$\frac{35}{35}$	6.994 ± 2.052 6.206 ± 1.720	$0.00 \\ 2.40$	9.60 9.20	$7.20 \\ 6.40$	-2.663(0.008)
MathL	DIS_PGRADE ENA_PGRADE	12 12	$\begin{array}{c} 7.000 \pm 2.185 \\ 6.370 \pm 2.756 \end{array}$	$3.50 \\ 2.00$	$\begin{array}{c} 10.00\\ 9.75 \end{array}$	$7.50 \\ 6.87$	-1.140(0.254)
SE	DIS_PGRADE ENA_PGRADE	11 11	5.180 ± 1.601 6.500 ± 1.612	$2.00 \\ 4.50$	$7.50 \\ 9.00$	$5.00 \\ 6.50$	-2.677(0.007)

 $^{{}^{1}\}bar{x} \pm s$: Mean and standard deviation; ${}^{2}Z(p)$: Wilcoxon signed-rank test (two-tailed) statistic and its significance (p-value).

Using a graphical representation, Figure 29 shows a boxplot graph comparing the two periods (with and without personalization) for each course. At a first glance, it seems that the personalized content had a positive impact on students' grades.

To verify this assumption, the Wilcoxon signed-rank test was performed to compare two related samples (scores on exams). Since the samples did not follow a normal distribution, a non-parametric statistical hypothesis test was used.

The Wilcoxon's null hypothesis says that the median difference between pairs of observations is zero. In this case, the pairs of observations are the grades obtained in two conditions: while the content personalization was enabled and while the content personalization was disabled.

Results showed that the grades obtained on the exam carried out in the period with content personalization were statistically higher than the grades obtained on the exam carried out in the period without content personalization for both courses, COA (Z = -2.745; p < 0.01) and SE (Z = -2.677; p < 0.01). If we look at the median values, the period with content personalization had a median grade around 20% higher than the



Figure 29 – Boxplots showing the grades obtained while experimenting the content personalization approach in the CX platform. *Statistically significant difference.

other period.

However, in the HCI course, the results showed the opposite, i.e., the grades obtained on the exam that occurred in the period with content personalization were statistically lower than the grades obtained on the exam that occurred in the period without content personalization (Z = -2.663; p < 0.01). For the MathL course, the null hypothesis was retained, i.e., there was no statistically significant difference between the scores obtained on the exams.

Perhaps, the design of each course may impact students' performance depending on the profile of the enrolled students. If we observe the distribution of learning resource types in each course, shown by Figure 30, it is possible to identify the most common types according to the boxes' sizes. The COA course, for example, was mainly composed by exercises, figures and examples. Contrasting to predominant students' LS for this course, Sensing and Visual (see Figure 27), figures and examples match those LS, according to the rules listed in Tables 3 and 4.

On the other hand, in the HCI course, the most common learning resource types were figures, examples and definition, which best fit Reflective, Sensing and Verbal students. However, the LS averages tended to the opposite direction (Active, Intuitive and Visual). Similarly, in the SE course, Sensing LS is predominant, however, the most frequent resources are designed to Intuitive students. Although the personalization approach considers individual preferences, there must be different resource types for each course topic to allow the personalization to be more effective.

Since some differences on the exams' grades were found, the Spearman's rank correlation coefficient (also called Spearman's ρ) was computed to check if there are relationships between the grades and variables related to interactions with the system. The resulting



Figure 30 – Learning Resource Types used in each course.

correlation coefficients were classified according to Davis's adjectives (DAVIS, 1971), in which $\rho = 1.00$ indicates a perfect correlation; $0.70 < \rho < 0.99$ represents a very high correlation; $0.50 < \rho < 0.69$ shows a substantial correlation; $0.30 < \rho < 0.49$ indicates a moderate correlation; $0.10 < \rho < 0.29$ represents a low correlation; and, finally, $0.01 < \rho < 0.09$ denotes a negligible correlation.

Both the courses' final grade (GRADE) and the relative gain on the semester (computed as GAIN = posttest-pretest) were checked against TT_LOGIN, TT_LECT_OPEN, TT_COLAB, TT_QUIZANSWER, and TT_QUIZ_LOGIN, shown by Tables 16 and 17.

Table 16 – Spearman's ρ correlations between grades, amount of login sessions, and number of lecture opening.

Variable	Statistics	GRADE	GAIN	TT_LOGIN	TT_LECT_OPEN
GRADE	Spearman's ρ Sig. (2-tailed) N	1.000 - 95	$0.202 \\ 0.140 \\ 55$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.374^{**} \\ 0.000 \\ 95 \end{array}$	0.233* 0.023 95
GAIN	Spearman's ρ Sig. (2-tailed) N	$0.202 \\ 0.140 \\ 55$	1.000 - 55	0.447^{**} 0.001 55	$\begin{array}{c} 0.074 \\ 0.593 \\ 55 \end{array}$

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed)

* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed)

Table 17 – Spearman's ρ correlations between grades and amount of collaborative activities, total number of answered quizzes, and number of answered quizzes per login session.

Variable	Statistics	TT_COLAB	TT_QUIZANSWER	TT_QUIZ_LOGIN
GRADE	Spearman's ρ Sig. (2-tailed) N	0.217^{*} 0.034 95	0.284** 0.005 95	0.262^{*} 0.010 95
GAIN	Spearman's ρ Sig. (2-tailed) N	$0.017 \\ 0.903 \\ 55$	$0.062 \\ 0.654 \\ 55$	$0.013 \\ 0.928 \\ 55$

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed)

* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed)

Positive low correlations were found between the final grade and the following variables: the number of opened lectures in the whole semester ($\rho = 0.233$), total of collaborative activities performed in the system ($\rho = 0.217$), the amount of answered quizzes ($\rho = 0.284$) as well as the number of answered quizzes per login session ($\rho = 0.262$). The final grade and relative gain presented a positive and moderate correlation with the amount of login sessions during the entire semester ($\rho = 0.374$ and $\rho = 0.447$, respectively), both statistically significant at the 0.01 level. It means that students who accessed more the platform have scored better on the exams, which may have also been influenced by the amount of proactive activities performed, such as answered quizzes and collaborative activities in the system.

4.3.4 Access Context

As the proposed architecture also captures some contextual information related to the moment when students access the content, it is also reported here. Figure 31 presents some pies charts showing the reasons for login sessions, the location where students accessed the system, the type of device they used, and the available time in login sessions.

Overall, students accessed the CX using a desktop computer (in this case, it could be a laptop as well) at home for ordinary studies and often with little time available for study (up to 15 minutes). Sessions marked as ordinary studies happened mainly at home while sessions marked as missed lesson happened mainly at work, which may indicate that students wanted to learn what was taught in missing classes even when they were not at home. Access to the system for quick review was balanced between home and work, as shown by Figure 32.

Additionally, students had more available time while accessing the system for ordinary studies than when they missed some lesson, as shown by Figure 33. It is important to mention that the availability information may be somewhat biased since the default option



Figure 31 – Reason, Location, Device and Availability information captured as access context dimensions.



Figure 32 – Distribution of login sessions according to access location and reason.

for the available time was "up to 15 min". In any case, those results may not be totally untrue as students could also skip informing this information.

Contextual information is important to better tailor the material according students' needs and to design strategies to recommend pieces of content in specific sessions in order to improve the user experience. For example, when a student access the system for a quick review, the lectures could be personalized to show only the most important slides for that session based on ratings or slides with recent discussions, for example.



Figure 33 – Distribution of login sessions according to available time for study and access reason.

4.3.5 Qualitative Evaluation

By the end of the semester, participants also answered a questionnaire to evaluate their experience as users of the system. The administered questionnaire included questions related to frequency of use, usability, general utility and usefulness of specific features for learning. Appendix D presents the full questionnaire.

In total, 89 out of 115 students answered it. Of these, 42 individuals (47.2%) answered that they used the system many times, 40 individuals (44.9%) said that they used it few times, and 7 students (7.9%) declared they did not use at all. Those who did not use the system or used it a few times were asked about the reason it happened. Five statements were presented to be evaluated in a 7-point Likert scale ranging from "1-Strongly Disagree" to "7-Strongly Agree". Table 18 shows the means, the standard deviations and the coefficients of variation for those statements.

Table 18 – Descriptive statistics of answers related to the reasons why students did not use the CX platform.

$Items^1$	Ν	$\bar{x} \pm s$	CV(%)	
Q2.1	41	2.27 ± 1.80	79.49	
Q2.2	41	3.27 ± 1.76	53.88	
Q2.3	41	2.15 ± 1.41	65.53	
Q2.4	41	4.59 ± 1.92	41.94	
Q2.5	26	2.50 ± 1.73	69.05	

¹N: number of responses; $\bar{x} \pm s$: Mean and standard deviation; CV: Coefficient of variation.

The affirmative that students most agreed was the fourth one (Q2.4), which said "I found sufficient the content presented in the classroom". Although the mean value of

responses for this statement ($\bar{x} = 4.59$) is above the scale midpoint, no very high mean for these statements was found, which leads us to believe that there was no consensus on the main reason for not using the system. However, it seems that students have used other materials from the internet, outside the CX platform, since they gave a moderate rating for the statement Q2.2 ($\bar{x} = 3.27$).

An extra space was provided to allow participants to write other reasons than those presented in the statements. Some students stated that they prefer to use the Moodle² environment, which have been used in many other courses they were enrolled, so they were already familiar with it. Other students stated they "did not study much" or they "had many other work to do". Finally, some students would like to download the content from the platform for offline study, which we believe it is not an issue but an expected part of students' adaptation process, since CX explores the dynamics of ULEs over existing models based on static documents.

Other statements were arranged into four dimensions in order to evaluate different aspects of the user experience: "Usability", "Frequency of Use", "General Utility", and "Utility of Specific Features for Learning". In order to check the internal consistency of these dimensions, the Cronbach's α coefficient (CRONBACH, 1951) was computed for each of them and the results are shown in Table 19.

The dimensions named "Usability", "General Utility", and "Utility of Specific Features for Learning" presented a high reliability coefficient. It is important to note that some researchers believe that a "good" α coefficient depends on the theoretical knowledge of the scale in question. However, many studies claim that values higher than 0.7 represents an indicative of high internal consistency of the instrument (CORTINA, 1993; NUNNALLY, 1994).

The idea behind the assertions of "Frequency of Use" dimension was to find out which points in time was preferred to use the platform, according to students' own assessment. However, its α coefficient was very low and indicates that the assertions created to measure this dimension may have caused confusion and misunderstanding among participants. In this case, this dimension was not analyzed to avoid mistaken conclusions.

Another dimension was created to group five questions regarding the way students changed their behavior of study. This group has been named "Behavior of Study", however, it was analyzed differently since it was designed in the form of questions rather than assertions.

Lastly, items Q5.7, Q7.8, Q7.9, Q7.10, Q11, Q11.1, and Q11.2 are related to a proposed Open Student Model using charts for performance visualization that is subject of other research (FERREIRA et al., 2017a).

 $^{^2}$ Moodle: <https://moodle.org>

Groups	Items	N	$\bar{x} \pm s$	CV(%)	α		
Usability	Q3.1 - I was able to access the lectures without difficulty.	82	6.07 ± 1.38	22.67			
	Q3.2 - Overall, I found it easy to use the CX.	82	6.32 ± 1.11	17.57			
	Q3.3 - I quickly learned how to use the CX.	82	6.32 ± 0.98	15.51	0.801		
	Q3.4 - Navigation on the CX was clear.	82	6.05 ± 1.14	18.89			
	Q3.5 - Overall, I liked the CX interface.	82	5.49 ± 1.57	28.67			
	Q4.1 - I used to go to the CX for studies just before each class.	79	2.06 ± 1.61	78.13			
	Q4.2 - I used to go to the CX for studies right after each taught class.	79	2.18 ± 1.54	70.83			
Frequency of Use	Q4.3 - I used to go to the CX for studies every 1 or 2 weeks of taught classes.	79	4.11 ± 2.11	51.19	0.025		
	Q4.4 - I used to go to the CX for studies every 3 or 4 weeks of taught classes.	79	4.59 ± 2.05	44.70			
	Q4.5 - I used to go to the CX only before the exams.	79	4.97 ± 2.08	41.84			
	Q5.1 - I found it useful to use the CX for studies outside the classroom.	74	6.50 ± 0.97	14.90			
General Utility	Q5.2 - Accessing the CX for studies after classes helped me to reinforce the taught content.	74	5.50 ± 1.69	30.73	0.014		
	Q5.3 - The CX interface helped me to understand the structure of each lecture.	74	4.92 ± 1.86	37.89	0.814		
	Q5.10 - I would like to use the CX in other courses.	74	6.20 ± 1.31	21.18			
	Q7.1 - The CX helped me to identify my weaknesses.	74	3.93 ± 1.95	49.51			
	Q7.2 - The CX helped me to plan my studies.	74	4.74 ± 2.04	43.03			
Utility of Specific Features for Learning	Q5.4 - Creating bookmarks for dividing the lecture in different subjects has positively influenced my learning in the course.	74	4.86 ± 1.88	38.69			
	Q5.5 - The possibility of creating comments for each slide has positively influenced my learning in the course.	74	5.15 ± 1.95	37.86			
	Q5.6 - Slides rating using stars has positively influenced my learning in the course.	74	5.36 ± 1.97	36.71			
	Q5.7 - Visualizing my performance through charts has positively influenced my learning in the course.	74	4.04 ± 1.98	48.89	0.825		
	Q5.8 - Having quizzes to be answered has positively influenced my learning in the course.	74	5.07 ± 1.79	35.38			
	Q5.9 - The gamification feature (score ranking and badges) has positively influenced my learning in the course.	74	4.51 ± 1.92	42.65			

Table 19 – Questionnaire responses statistics for the user experience assessment groups.

68

4.3.

Usability

The "Usability" dimension counted on five assertions about how easy it was to use the CX platform for accessing the lectures and navigating through them. Figure 34 shows the distribution of responses for these affirmatives. As can be noticed, a very high percentage of responses are concentrated at the highest levels of agreement ("Strongly agree" and "Agree"), which means that, in general, students liked to use the CX interface and found it easy to use.



Figure 34 – Students agreement levels for the assertions related to the platform usability.

General Utility

Regarding the general utility of the platform, six affirmatives were presented. The distribution of responses is shown by Figure 34. More than 97% of respondents found the CX platform useful while studying outside the classroom, and 3/4 of respondents found it useful to reinforce what they learned in classroom. It shows that this kind of tool can complement students' learning in some way by reinforcing the taught content and to help them to understand the structure of the classes. An interesting point to note is that approximately 90% of participants would like to use this tool in other courses.

On the other hand, the assertion Q7.1 ("The CX helped me to identify my weaknesses") obtained the lowest agreement level among respondents in this dimension, 46.2%. However, it does not mean that students disagree with it since 20.5% of respondents neither agree nor disagree. In addition, the mean value of responses for that assertion was 3.93, as can be seen in Table 19, which is higher than the scale midpoint.

Utility of Specific Features for Learning

The importance of specific features for students learning has also been assessed. Six affirmatives pointing out the role of some implemented features, such as collaborative



Figure 35 – Students agreement levels for the assertions related to CX general utility.

bookmarking, comments, slides rating, quizzes, performance visualization, and gamification were presented in the questionnaire. Again, the agreement levels were higher than the disagreement levels overall, as shown by Figure 36. Social and collaborative features have stood out. More than 60% of respondents believe that the slides rating functionality positively influenced their learning ("Agree" or "Strongly agree"). The slides' comments feature also got a high agreement level (55.7%). The mean values of responses for these affirmatives were 5.36 and 5.15, respectively.

In addition, more than 60% of respondents agreed, somehow, that having quizzes in the platform and the ability to create bookmarks for each lecture positively influenced their learning in the course.



Figure 36 – Students agreement levels for the assertions related to the utility of specific features.

Additionally, two other questions specifically related to the personalized slides reordering were asked to participants: Q10 - "Did you like the way the system rearranged the lectures slides?" (1-Yes; 2-No; 3-I haven't noticed) and Q10.1 "How much did this feature positively impact your learning in the course? (1-Very little to 7-Very much)". 47% of respondents (N=37) answered that they liked this feature and the same amount of respondents said they did not notice that slides were rearranged, which answer the research question Q2.1. Only five respondents answered they did not like this feature. Of those who have noticed it (like it or not), 73.8% of students agreed that this feature positively influenced their learning (Mean=4.9; SD=1.72).

Besides that, the system's interface also provided students with a feature to change the lecture visualization to the original sequence as created by the instructor. 95% of the students did not use this feature, which confirms that many students have not noticed that the slides were rearranged.

Behavior of Study

Participants were asked how the use of such a tool has changed the way they studied for the course regarding frequency of study, collaboration with colleagues, motivation, competitiveness, and search for extra material. In our context, competitiveness is related to gamification artifacts provided in the platform, in which students were able to track their peers' scores. The responses ranged from "Very little (1)" to "Very much (7)". Descriptive statistics are presented in Table 20.

Items ¹	Ν	$\bar{x} \pm s$	CV(%)
Q7.3 - Frequency of study	79	3.68 ± 1.87	50.82
Q7.4 - Collaboration	79	3.44 ± 2.16	62.76
Q7.5 - Motivation	79	4.38 ± 1.80	41.21
Q7.6 - Competitiveness	79	3.20 ± 1.86	58.07
Q7.7 - Search for extra material	79	4.93 ± 1.98	40.19

Table 20 – Descriptive statistics of responses for questions in the "Behavior of Study" group.

¹N: number of responses; $\bar{x} \pm s$: Mean and standard deviation; CV: Coefficient of variation.

According to participants, the use of the CX made them more motivated to study and to look for extra materials different from those presented in the classroom. However, the competitiveness aspect got the lowest scores, which means that it was not enjoyed very much by students.

Open-Ended Questions

Q8. Can you cite some other specific situation where there was a positive contribution to your learning while using the CX?

The goal of this question was to identify in which contexts or scenarios students find value in the used platform as a complementary tool for their learning. Actually, many students answered this question by pointing out the features they most found relevant thus overlapping question Q12. However, some interesting contexts were listed. First, annotations made in the electronic whiteboard were useful both in and outside the classroom to prevent students from losing any important detail while copying what the professor writes and also in situations in which they missed classes:

"I missed some classes. Luckily, I had access to the teacher's notes."

"When I missed classes, I could keep up with the course."

"In case of missing classes, the CX allows you to view the slides used in class in a way that is almost as clear as if we were in the classroom, thanks to the teacher's notes."

"No specific situation, but the fact that we can focus on the class without wasting time copying stuff is something valuable."

"For me, the best part is the one the professor writes in the CX and it stays there, so you do not have to write it down, just paying attention."

"The possibility of having the professor's notes on each slide had a huge contribution."

"Information that was sometimes lost or unnoticed on the board, remained saved in the CX."

Scenarios in which students used the social and collaborative features provided by the platform, such as slides rating and commentaries, also attracted attention:

"When I was studying, the comments on the slides written by the professor helped to remember what was said in the class which was not on the slides." "Commented slides helped a lot to solve some doubts."

"There were some exercises before the first exam that, thanks to CX and the comments on the slides having those exercises, I was able to understand them." "Yes, on a slide that I had trouble, the professor added a comment that solved my doubts."

"Slides ranked as important helped guide my studies."

"Being able to rate slides using stars contributed to identify the most important parts."

Finally, the importance of the tool for helping students to solve their doubts was pointed out:

"I was able to quickly have a doubt cleared up using the system. I didn't need to wait for the next class or even send an email to the professor."

Q9. Can you cite some other specific situation where there was a negative contribution to your learning while using the CX?

This question aimed at identifying situations in which the CX platform could have a negative contribution to students learning. Overall, the criticism focused on technical aspects of systems that are not yet commercial, such as unavailability and overload:

"Right before the second exam the system went down. This messed up because I had to use the PDF file which didn't have the comments for the study." "I couldn't access it sometimes."

"It is not good to review the content the day before the exams, because it gets

overwhelmed and goes down."

Nevertheless, the system has always been monitored, especially during exams' periods to prevent these problems to happen. In addition, some students complained about usability aspects, which can be corrected promptly:

"A bug that causes the slide bar not to disappear, which hinders part of the material's visualization."

"Slide navigation takes time to fade out and sometimes it gets in front of some information on the slide."

Q12. Please, list up to 3 features you liked most in the CX.

Many different features appeared in the answers. The most cited feature was the slides rating using stars. According to students, they were able to identify the most important content. Professor's annotations and the possibility of creating comments for each slide also appeared frequently in the answers, followed by quizzes and the system's ease of use. In short, content enrichment somehow was the most remarkable aspect. Some examples:

"The possibility of interacting with the materials through comments, ratings."

"The annotation system directly on the whiteboard."

"The interface is much cleaner than in Moodle."

"Comments and interaction with slides."

"Clean design."

"Possibility of creating bookmarks."

"Gamification and individual performance evaluation as well as regarding the rest of the class."

Q13. Please, list up to 3 features you did not like in the CX.

Finally, participants were asked to list which features they did not like. Some students complain that it is not possible to download the content for offline study. However, it is considered in the platform architecture because it has been designed to explore the
dynamics of UbiComp over existing models based on static documents. In this way, we do not consider an issue, but a particularity that is part of students' adaptation process.

Other participants pointed out the page that collects contextual access information manually every time right after the log in page is quite unpleasant. Indeed, the information collected in this page could be either handled by some automatic approach or changed to some other place ahead in the system. Only three dimensions of the access context (available time, place, and reason) are manually collected.

As a suggestion for future work, the available time could be first compared to the time scheduled for the class. The place in which students access the system could be associated to the Internet Protocol (IP) address, for example. Lastly, some rules could be created to set up the access reason, for example, if the student has missed classes. Other than that, it could be asked further in a notification area in the system.

Some other answers are reported here:

"Lack of more Quizzes on slides." "Auto-play on slides."" "The interface color." "Lack of a better mobile version." "Missing explanation on how main features work." "Scores and badges."

Overall, the received feedback was valuable and can guide the construction of a new iteration. For instance, usability of the slides navigation may be improved to make the slide transition smoother, without overlapping annotations as well as indicating the current position in the slide set. Further, dissemination actions should be planned and taken during the semester to encourage the use of the system.

After all analysis, we argue that ULEs provide support for automatic creation of structured LOs as well as using their metadata values to classify them according to the FSLSM. Fields like format, structure, learning resource types, interactivity type, and interactivity level of the LO are the most significant for this task. In addition, the CLEO vocabulary provided values with greater semantic meaning in this context. Finally, the metadada fields can be either inferred by the system or collaboratively inputted by the users. Some other fields that are manually informed could be used to automatically populate the metadata of similar LOs, particularly those which are hierarchically related.

Lastly, a qualitative analysis was used to find answers for research questions Q1 and Q1.1, while the research questions Q2 and Q2.2 were answered using both quantitative and qualitative analyzes.

Chapter 5

Conclusion

This work proposed a computational architecture that blends the concepts of Ubiquitous Learning Environments (ULEs), Adaptive Educational Hypermedia (AEH) and Intelligent Tutoring Systems (ITSs) to generate structured LOs and present them in a personalized way to students. Also, it aims at facilitating the interaction between instructors and students outside the classroom. The architecture, which was named Adaptive and Ubiquitous Learning Architecture (AULA), complies with the main goal of this work.

The first specific goal was addressed by the semiautomatic process designed for creating LOs and their metadata using the IEEE-LOM standard along with the CLEO extensions. An experiment in real educational settings was conducted to evaluate how ULEs support the LOs authoring process and the use of a collaborative bookmarking approach to refine them. Results have shown that the presented approach was well received by students, in particular, the contextual auto-complete feature – one of the highest acceptance rates among students' responses. The lowest scores indicate that students might not be totally willing to create *bookmarks* for all captured lectures. However, they do not need to create *bookmarks* for all lectures thanks to the collaborative nature of the proposal. In addition, experts stated that there was a good amount of *bookmarks* that well represented the topics covered by the lectures.

The second specific goal concerning the design of a cognitive module for handling learning styles according to the FSLSM was addressed through an approach that classifies the generated LOs according to LS. Heuristics that map LOs metadata fields to LS were presented. Moreover, students' LS is accessed using a partitioned version of the ILS which was created to update the probabilistic student model.

The third specific goal was accomplished by implementing the proposed approach into the Classroom eXperience (CX) platform which has been used as a complementary tool in courses of the Faculty of Computing at Federal University of Uberlândia. Results presented in Chapter 4 showed that students who were classified towards Active and Sensing LS answered much more quizzes than students who were classified towards a Balanced LS. In addition, partial grades obtained on the exam carried out in the period with content personalization based on LS were statistically higher ($\approx 20\%$) than the grades obtained on the exam carried out in the period without content personalization for two of four courses. One of them had lower grades in the period with content personalization and the other had no statistically significant difference between the scores obtained on the exams, which could be affected by the design and nature of each course.

Regarding the access context, students mainly accessed the CX using a desktop computer at home for ordinary studies and often with little time available for study (up to 15 minutes). Results obtained from a user experience evaluation questionnaire showed that, in general, students liked to use the CX interface and found it easy to use. More than 97% of respondents found the platform useful while studying outside the classroom, and 75% of them found it useful to reinforce what they learned in classroom. About 90% of participants pointed out that they would like to use such a tool in other courses. Among all features, the group including social and collaborative ones – such as slides ratings, slides comments, and bookmarking – were the most praised by the students.

Finally, the creation of a free LOs repository for the research community, named CX-LOR, was presented in Subsection 3.2.5 to comply with our last specific goal. A Web interface and API were built to allow users to query the repository and retrieve metadata of real educational material in the IEEE-LOM format.

As observed, such tools have the potential to change the traditional paradigm of teaching, in which the instructor is the only entity to provide content, to a scenario where students have a more active role in the production of knowledge. Computational and technological resources that assist people to carry out everyday tasks are often found everywhere. In the educational domain, it is no different and computers can assist both instructors and students in their activities. Devices scattered in classrooms can capture educational activities through different medias, so the experience can be revisited in the future. In addition, social and collaborative functionalities allow for the enrichment of content and provide input to intelligent techniques for content to be properly tailored to users' needs.

5.1 Contributions

Given the difficult and time-consuming task of authoring LOs as well as the complex problem of tailoring them according to students' needs, this research proposed a computational architecture for adaptive hypermedia applications that takes into account contextual, social, collaborative, and cognitive information in order to recommend e personalize educational content to students.

The architecture includes a collaborative approach for LOs authoring in ULEs as well as an algorithm to personalize them according to students' LS. This architecture has been evaluated through a case study in real educational settings and with real users using the

CX platform.

Additionally, the following contributions may be listed as a result of this thesis:

- □ Relationship mapping between the CLEO vocabulary extension for the "Learning Resource Type" field of the IEEE-LOM standard and the FSLSM;
- \Box A repository of LOs created in this environment;
- □ Establishment of research collaboration with the Personalized Adaptive Web Systems Lab¹ of the University of Pittsburgh, headed by Dr. Peter Brusilovsky.

5.2 Publications

The following scientific publications are directly related to this doctoral project:

- Araújo, R. D., Ferreira, H. N. M., Dorça, F. A., Cattelan, R. G. A Hybrid Architecture for Adaptive, Intelligent and Ubiquitous Educational Systems. Book chapter accepted for publication in the book entitled Digital Technologies and Instructional Design for Personalized Learning, edited by Dr. Robert Zheng and published by IGI Global (in press).
- Araújo, R. D., Dorça, F. A., Cattelan, R. G. Towards an Adaptive and Ubiquitous Learning Architecture. Short paper published in the Doctoral Consortium of the 17th IEEE International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies (ICALT), Timisoara, Romania. (ARAÚJO; DORÇA; CATTELAN, 2017)
- Araújo, R. D., Brant-Ribeiro, T., Mendonça, I. E. S., Mendes, M. M., Dorça, F. A. and Cattelan, R. G. Social and Collaborative Interactions for Educational Content Enrichment in ULEs. (2017) Article published the Educational Technology & Society journal. (ARAÚJO et al., 2017)
- Araújo, R. D., Brant-Ribeiro, T., Ferreira, H. N. M., Dorça, F. A., Cattelan, R. G. Segmentação Colaborativa de Objetos de Aprendizagem Utilizando Bookmarks em Ambientes Educacionais Ubíquos. Full paper published at the XXVII Brazilian Symposium on Informatics in Education (SBIE), Uberlândia, Brazil. (ARAÚJO et al., 2016)
- Araújo, R. D., Ferreira, H. N. M., Dorça, F. A., Cattelan, R. G. Learning Objects Authoring Supported by Ubiquitous Learning Environments. Extended abstract published at the 21st International Conference on Intelligent User Interfaces (IUI), Sonoma, USA. (ARAÚJO et al., 2016)

¹ http://adapt2.sis.pitt.edu/wiki

- Dorça, F. A., Araújo, R. D., Carvalho, V. C., Resende, D. T., Cattelan, R. G. An automatic and dynamic approach for personalized recommendation of learning objects considering students learning styles: an experimental analysis. Article published in the Informatics in Education journal. (DORÇA et al., 2016)
- Araújo, R. D., Brant-Ribeiro, T., Freitas, R. S., Dorça, F. A. and Cattelan, R. G. Autoria automática de objetos de aprendizagem a partir de captura multimídia e associação a estilos de aprendizagem. Full paper published at the XXV Brazilian Symposium on Informatics in Education (SBIE), Dourados, Brazil. (ARAÚJO et al., 2014)

Further, many other publications took place during the doctoral period since this work includes requirements from each part of the architecture separately. Therefore, efforts were employed in each of the following publications in collaboration with other students:

- Carvalho, V. C., Araújo, R. D., Cattelan, R. G., Dorça, F. A. OntAES: Uma Ontologia para Sistemas Adaptativos Educacionais Baseada em Objetos de Aprendizagem e Estilos de Aprendizagem. Full paper published at the XXVIII Brazilian Symposium on Informatics in Education (SBIE), Recife, Brazil. (CARVALHO et al., 2017)
- Dorça, F. A., Carvalho, V. C., Mendes, M. M., Araújo, R. D., Ferreira, H. N. M., Cattelan, R. G. An Approach for Automatic and Dynamic Analysis of Learning Objects Repositories Through Ontologies and Data Mining Techniques for Supporting Personalized Recommendation of Content in Adaptive and Intelligent Educational Systems. Short paper published at the 17th IEEE International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies (ICALT), Timisoara, Romania. (DORÇA et al., 2017)
- Ferreira, H. N. M., Araújo, R. D., Dorça, F. A., Cattelan, R. G. Uma Abordagem Baseada em Ontologias para Modelagem e Avaliação do Estudante em Sistemas Adaptativos e Inteligentes para Educação. Full paper published at the XXVIII Brazilian Symposium on Informatics in Education (SBIE), Recife, Brazil. (FER-REIRA et al., 2017b)
- Ferreira, H. N. M., Araújo, R. D., Dorça, F. A., Cattelan, R. G. Open Student Modeling for Academic Performance Visualization in Ubiquitous Learning Environments. Full paper published at the 2017 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics (SMC), 2017, Banff, Canada. (FERREIRA et al., 2017a)
- Ferreira, H. N. M., Brant-Ribeiro, T., Araújo, R. D., Dorça, F. A., Cattelan, R. G. An Automatic and Dynamic Knowledge Assessment Module for Adaptive Educational Systems. Full paper published at the 17th IEEE International Conference

on Advanced Learning Technologies (ICALT), Timisoara, Romania. (FERREIRA et al., 2017)

- Mendes, M. M., Carvalho, V. C., Dorça, F. A., Araújo, R. D., Cattelan, R. G. Agrupamento e Recomendação de Objetos de Aprendizagem no Padrão IEEE-LOM Considerando Estilos de Aprendizagem. Full paper published at the XXVIII Brazilian Symposium on Informatics in Education (SBIE), Recife, Brazil. (MENDES et al., 2017b)
- Mendes, M. M., Carvalho, V. C., Araújo, R. D., Dorça, F. A., Cattelan, R. G. Clustering Learning Objects in the IEEE-LOM Standard Considering Learning Styles to Support Customized Recommendation Systems in Educational Environments. Full paper published at the 12th Latin American Conference on Learning Technologies (LACLO), 2017, La Plata, Argentina. (MENDES et al., 2017a)
- Bull, S., Brusilovsky, P., Guerra, J., Araújo, R. D. Individual and Comparison Open Learner Model Visualisations to Identify What to Work On Next. Late Breaking results published at the 24th ACM Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation and Personalisation (UMAP), Halifax, Canada. (BULL et al., 2016)
- Qebi, A., Araújo, R. D., Brusilovsky, P., Guyer, T. Cognitive Traces from the Perspective of Students Navigation Patterns. Abstract published at the 10th International Computer & Instructional Technologies Symposium, Rize, Turkey. (QEBI et al., 2016)
- Ferreira, H. N. M., Araújo, R. D., Dorça, F. A., Cattelan, R. G. Uma Abordagem Híbrida para Acompanhamento da Aprendizagem do Estudante Baseada em Ontologias e Redes Bayesianas em Sistemas Adaptativos para Educação. Full paper presented in the IX WAvalia at the V CBIE, Uberlândia, Brazil. (FERREIRA et al., 2016)
- Ferreira, H. N. M., Brant-Ribeiro, T., Araújo, R. D., Dorça, F. A., Cattelan, R. G. An Automatic and Dynamic Student Modeling Approach for Adaptive and Intelligent Educational Systems using Ontologies and Bayesian Networks. Full paper published at the 28th IEEE International Conference on Tools with Artificial Intelligence (ICTAI), San Jose, USA. (FERREIRA et al., 2016)
- Brant-Ribeiro, T., Araújo, R., Mendonça, I., Soares, M. and Cattelan, R. A Usercentered Approach for Modeling Web Interactions Using Colored Petri Nets. Full paper published at the 17th International Conference on Enterprise Information Systems (ICEIS), Barcelona, Spain. (BRANT-RIBEIRO et al., 2015)

- Carvalho, V., Araújo, R. D., Cattelan, R. G. and Dorça, F. A. Um Modelo para Recuperação de Objetos de Aprendizagem no Padrão IEEE LOM Utilizando o Protocolo OAI-PMH e Repositórios de Objetos de Aprendizagem Públicos. Full paper presented in the 7th Brazilian Workshop on Semantic Web and Education at the IV CBIE, Maceió, Brazil. (CARVALHO et al., 2015)
- Ferreira, H. N. M., Araújo, R. D., Souza, P. C., Silva Júnior, S. C. da, Dorça, F. A. and Cattelan, R. G. Gamificação em Ambientes Educacionais Ubíquos. Full paper published at the XXVI Brazilian Symposium on Informatics in Education (SBIE), Maceió, Brazil. (FERREIRA et al., 2015)
- Brant-Ribeiro, T., Mendonça, I. E. S., Araújo, R. D., Mendes, M. M., Dorça, F. A. and Cattelan, R. G. Um Modelo Social e Colaborativo para Extensão de Conteúdo em Ambientes Educacionais Ubíquos. Article published in the Tecnologias, Sociedade e Conhecimento journal, NIED. (BRANT-RIBEIRO et al., 2014)
- Carvalho, V., Dorça, F. A., Cattelan, R. G. and Araújo, R. D. Uma Abordagem para Recomendação Automática e Dinâmica de Objetos de Aprendizagem Baseada em Estilos de Aprendizagem. Full paper published at the XXV Brazilian Symposium on Informatics in Education (SBIE), Dourados, Brazil. (CARVALHO et al., 2014)
- Mendonça, I. E., Araújo, R. D., Mendes, M. M., Brant-Ribeiro, T., Dorça, F. A. and Cattelan, R. G. Explorando Funcionalidades Sociais e Colaborativas em Ambientes Educacionais Ubíquos. Full paper published at the XXV Brazilian Symposium on Informatics in Education (SBIE), Dourados, Brazil. (MENDONÇA et al., 2014)
- Resende, D. T., Dorça, F. A., Cattelan, R. G. and Araújo, R. D. Em direção à recuperação automática de objetos de aprendizagem em repositórios através da associação dos estilos de aprendizagem de estudantes com metadados no padrão IEEE-LOM. Full paper presented in the 6th Brazilian Workshop on Semantic Web and Education at the III CBIE, Dourados, Brazil. (RESENDE et al., 2014)

5.3 Limitations

Some limitations may be pointed out to the proposed approach. First, as our recommendation strategy depends on the variability of LOs, instructors should create different content types for presenting the same topic in order to provide students with different resource types that fit their profile. In addition, the courses are taught in Portuguese, thus the content is mainly created in one single language. Nevertheless, their metadata is entirely in English to comply with the IEEE-LOM, which makes it possible to use the metadata repository for research. Besides that, activity history from previous instances of the courses is not taken into account in the bookmarking approach. In this sense, it relies on the active participation of users to refine the LO in each semester, although instructors could lead this activity, but that would take more effort from them.

Furthermore, users still need to manually provide some information, such as students' LS through the ILS, although exploratory studies about automatic approaches to collect them have been conducted, it is still an open question. Three contextual access information (location, reason, and available time) is also manually provided. In our studies, we have observed that it is makes students upset because they are asked to provide it every time they log into the system.

5.4 Future Work

As future work, machine learning techniques could be applied to improve different parts of this work. For instance, LOs metadata and its structure could be automatically identified or at least some automatic pre-processing could be performed. Furthermore, the LOs repository tends to grow more and more. Thus, designing intelligent algorithms to better organize the repository is a must that would be helpful for recommendation processes as well.

Additionally, the interactions repository may be used to identify individual differences using a data-driven approach in order to provide input data for refining the student model. Behavior patterns that lead to success or failure of the learning process could also be found to improve the individualized learning approach.

Moreover, it is interesting to design and integrate a *Learning Analytics* module to this infrastructure. It has the potential to provide support for an individualized interpretation of students' learning path, their difficulties and study characteristics as well as to monitor students' performance in detail, allowing instructors to identify possible learning gaps.

Regarding the personalization algorithm, it could consider other LOs metadata in addition to LS, such as difficulty level and prerequisites, in order to create a more robust approach towards the idea of ITSs.

The usability should be continuously improved. Some specific points, for example, while capturing contextual access information and while accessing a lecture were pointed out by students as elements that are causing displeasure.

Finally, the proposed approach may be used and evaluated in flipped classrooms scenarios in which interactive and annotated lessons are previously created by professors to allow students to access them before going to the classroom. In such scenarios, although classrooms become places to discuss advanced concepts and to solve practical problems, there is still a need to create LOs and provide mechanisms to personalize and recommend them individually.

References

ABOWD, G. D. et al. Teaching and Learning as Multimedia Authoring: The Classroom 2000 Project. In: **Proceedings of the 4th ACM International Conference on Multimedia**. Boston, Massachusetts, USA: ACM, 1996. (MULTIMEDIA'96), p. 187–198. https://dx.doi.org/10.1145/244130.244191.

AKBULUT, Y.; CARDAK, C. S. Adaptive educational hypermedia accommodating learning styles: A content analysis of publications from 2000 to 2011. Computers & Education, Elsevier Science Ltd., Oxford, UK, v. 58, n. 2, p. 835–842, 2012. ISSN 0360-1315. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2011.10.008.

ALSHAMMARI, M.; ANANE, R.; HENDLEY, R. J. The impact of learning style adaptivity in teaching computer security. In: **Proceedings of the 2015 ACM Conference on Innovation and Technology in Computer Science Education**. Vilnius, Lithuania: ACM, 2015. (ITiCSE'15), p. 135–140. ISBN 978-1-4503-3440-2. https://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2729094.2742614.

AMO, S. de; RIBEIRO, M. R. Cpref-sql: A query language supporting conditional preferences. In: **Proceedings of the 2009 ACM Symposium on Applied Computing**. Honolulu, Hawaii, USA: ACM, 2009. (SAC'09), p. 1573–1577. ISBN 978-1-60558-166-8. https://dx.doi.org/10.1145/1529282.1529633.

AN, D.; CARR, M. Learning styles theory fails to explain learning and achievement: Recommendations for alternative approaches. **Personality and Individual Differences**, Elsevier Science Ltd., v. 116, n. Supplement C, p. 410–416, 2017. ISSN 0191-8869. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2017.04.050.

ARAÚJO, R. D. Distribuição e Personalização de Conteúdo Multimídia em Ambientes Educacionais Ubíquos. Dissertação (Mestrado) — Universidade Federal de Uberlândia, Uberlândia, MG, BR, 2013.

ARAÚJO, R. D. et al. Personalization of interactive digital media in ubiquitous educational environments. In: Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man and Cybernetics. Manchester, UK: IEEE, 2013. (SMC'13), p. 3955–3960. https://dx.doi.org/10.1109/SMC.2013.675.

ARAÚJO, R. D. et al. Segmentação Colaborativa de Objetos de Aprendizagem Utilizando Bookmarks em Ambientes Educacionais Ubíquos. In: **Proceedings of the** XXVII Brazilian Symposium on Computers in Education. Uberlândia, MG, BR: SBC, 2016. (SBIE'16), p. 1205–1214. https://dx.doi.org/10.5753/cbie.sbie.2016.1205.

ARAÚJO, R. D. et al. Autoria automática de objetos de aprendizagem a partir de captura multimídia e associação a estilos de aprendizagem. In: **Proceedings of the XXV Brazilian Symposium on Computers in Education**. Dourados, MS, BR: SBC, 2014. (SBIE'14), p. 229–238. https://dx.doi.org/10.5753/cbie.sbie.2014.229.

ARAÚJO, R. D. et al. Social and collaborative interactions for educational content enrichment in ules. Educational Technology & Society, International Forum of Educational Technology & Society, v. 20, n. 3, p. 133–144, 2017. ISSN 1436-4522.

ARAÚJO, R. D.; DORÇA, F. A.; CATTELAN, R. G. Towards an adaptive and ubiquitous learning architecture. In: **Proceedings of the 2017 IEEE 17th International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies**. Timişoara, Romania: IEEE, 2017. (ICALT'17), p. 539–541. https://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ICALT.2017.63.

ARAÚJO, R. D. et al. A redundancy information protocol for p2p networks in ubiquitous computing environments: Design and implementation. In: **Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Networks**. Saint Gilles, Reunion Island: IARIA, 2012. (ICN'12), p. 215–220. ISBN 978-1-61208-183-0.

ARAÚJO, R. D. et al. Learning Objects Authoring Supported by Ubiquitous Learning Environments. In: Companion Publication of the 21st International Conference on Intelligent User Interfaces. Sonoma, CA, USA: ACM, 2016. (IUI'16), p. 49–53. https://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2876456.2879484.

ARAÚJO, R. D. et al. A hybrid architecture for adaptive, intelligent and ubiquitous educational systems. In: ZHENG, R. (Ed.). **Digital Technologies and Instructional Design for Personalized Learning**. [S.l.]: IGI Global, 2018 in press.

BADARACCO, M.; MARTÍNEZ, L. An intelligent tutoring system architecture for competency-based learning. In: _____. Knowlege-Based and Intelligent Information and Engineering Systems: 15th International Conference, KES 2011, Kaiserslautern, Germany, September 12-14, 2011, Proceedings, Part II. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2011. p. 124–133. ISBN 978-3-642-23863-5. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-23863-5_13.

BALAKRISHNAN, V.; LIEW, T. K.; POURGHOLAMINEJAD, S. Fun learning with Edooware - A social media enabled tool. **Computers & Education**, v. 80, p. 39–47, 2015. ISSN 0360-1315. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2014.08.008.

BARBOSA, D. N. F. et al. Content management in a ubiquitous learning environment. **International Journal of Computer Applications in Technology**, Inderscience Publishers, Geneva, Switzerland, v. 46, n. 1, p. 24–35, 2013. ISSN 0952-8091. https://dx.doi.org/10.1504/IJCAT.2013.051385.

BARKER, P. What is IEEE Learning Object Metadata / IMS Learning Resource Metadata? [S.l.], 2011. Available on <htp://publications.cetis.org.uk/ wp-content/uploads/2011/02/WhatIsIEEELOM.pdf>. Accessed in: September, 2016.

BOOCH, G.; RUMBAUGH, J.; JACOBSON, I. The Unified Modeling Language User Guide (2nd Edition), Addison-Wesley Object Technology Series. [S.l.]: Addison-Wesley Professional, 2005. ISBN 0321267974.

BOTICARIO, J. G. et al. Accessible Lifelong Learning at Higher Education: Outcomes and Lessons Learned at two Different Pilot Sites in the EU4ALL Project. Journal of Universal Computer Science, v. 18, n. 1, p. 62–85, 2012. https://dx.doi.org/10.3217/jucs-018-01-0062.

BRAGA, J. C. et al. Desafios para o Desenvolvimento de Objetos de Aprendizagem Reutilizáveis e de Qualidade. In: Anais do Workshop de Desafios da Computação Aplicada à Educação. Curitiba, PR, BR: SBC, 2012. (DesafIE), p. 90–99.

BRANT-RIBEIRO, T. et al. A User-centered Approach for Modeling Web Interactions Using Colored Petri Nets. In: Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on Enterprise Information Systems. Barcelona, Spain: SciTePress, 2015. (ICEIS'15), p. 37–48. https://dx.doi.org/10.5220/0005365100370048.

BRANT-RIBEIRO, T. et al. Um Modelo Social e Colaborativo para Extensão de Conteúdo em Ambientes Educacionais Ubíquos. **Tecnologias, Sociedade e Conhecimento**, NIED, v. 2, n. 1, p. 105–130, 2014.

BROWN, E. et al. Evaluating learning style personalization in adaptive systems: Quantitative methods and approaches. **IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies**, v. 2, n. 1, p. 10–22, 2009. ISSN 1939-1382. https://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TLT.2009.11.

BRUSILOVSKY, P. Methods and techniques of adaptive hypermedia. User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction, v. 6, n. 2, p. 87–129, 1996. ISSN 1573-1391. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00143964.

BRUSILOVSKY, P. Adaptive hypermedia. User Modeling and User Adapted Interaction, Springer, v. 11, n. 1, p. 87–110, 2001. https://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1011143116306.

BRUSILOVSKY, P. Developing adaptive educational hypermedia systems: From design models to authoring tools. In: _____. Authoring Tools for Advanced Technology Learning Environments: Toward Cost-Effective Adaptive, Interactive and Intelligent Educational Software. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, 2003. p. 377–409. ISBN 978-94-017-0819-7. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-0819-7_13.

BRUSILOVSKY, P. The other side of the social web: a taxonomy for social information access. In: **Proceedings of the 18th Brazilian Symposium on Multimedia and the Web**. São Paulo/SP, Brazil: ACM, 2012. (WebMedia'12), p. 1–4. ISBN 978-1-4503-1706-1. https://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2382636.2382638.

BRUSILOVSKY, P.; SCHWARZ, E.; WEBER, G. Elm-art: An intelligent tutoring system on world wide web. In: _____. Intelligent Tutoring Systems: Third International Conference, ITS '96 Montréal, Canada, June 12–14, 1996 Proceedings. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1996. p. 261–269. ISBN 978-3-540-68460-2. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/3-540-61327-7_123.

BRUSILOVSKY, P. et al. Open Social Student Modeling for Personalized Learning. **IEEE Transactions on Emerging Topics in Computing**, IEEE Computer Society, Los Alamitos, CA, USA, v. 4, n. 3, p. 450–461, 2016. ISSN 2168-6750. https://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TETC.2015.2501243.

BULL, S. et al. Individual and Peer Comparison Open Learner Model Visualisations to Identify What to Work On Next. In: Extended Proceedings of the 24th ACM Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation and Personalisation. Halifax, Canada: ACM, 2016. (UMAP'16).

BUZATTO, D. et al. Filling out learning object metadata considering cultural contextualization. In: Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man and Cybernetics. San Antonio, Texas, USA: IEEE, 2009. (SMC'09), p. 424–429. ISSN 1062-922X. https://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ICSMC.2009.5346246.

CARVALHO, V. C. de et al. Um Modelo para Recuperação de Objetos de Aprendizagem no Padrão IEEE LOM Utilizando o Protocolo OAI-PMH e Repositórios de Objetos de Aprendizagem Públicos. In: Anais dos Workshops do IV Congresso Brasileiro de Informática na Educação / 7th Brazilian Workshop on Semantic Web and Education. Maceió, AL, BR: SBC, 2015. (CBIE'15), p. 548–557. https://dx.doi.org/10.5753/cbie.wcbie.2015.548.

CARVALHO, V. C. de et al. OntAES: Uma Ontologia para Sistemas Adaptativos Educacionais Baseada em Objetos de Aprendizagem e Estilos de Aprendizagem. In: Proceedings of the XXVIII Brazilian Symposium on Computers in Education. Recife, PE, BR: SBC, 2017. (SBIE'17), p. 1307–1316. https://dx.doi.org/10.5753/cbie.sbie.2017.1307.

CARVALHO, V. C. de et al. Uma Abordagem para Recomendação Automática e Dinâmica de Objetos de Aprendizagem Baseada em Estilos de Aprendizagem. In: Proceedings of the XXV Brazilian Symposium on Computers in Education. Dourados, MS, BR: SBC, 2014. (SBIE'14), p. 1188–1197. https://dx.doi.org/10.5753/cbie.sbie.2014.1188.

CAYTILES, R. D.; JEON, S.-H.; KIM, T.-h. U-learning community: An interactive social learning model based on wireless sensor networks. In: **Proceedings** of the International Conference on Computational Intelligence and Communication Networks. Gwalior, India: IEEE, 2011. (CICN'2011), p. 745–749. https://dx.doi.org/10.1109/CICN.2011.165.

CHAO, H.-C. et al. A m-learning content recommendation service by exploiting mobile social interactions. **IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies**, v. 7, n. 3, p. 221–230, 2014. ISSN 1939-1382. https://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TLT.2014.2323053.

CLEMENTE, J.; RAMÍREZ, J.; ANTONIO, A. de. A proposal for student modeling based on ontologies and diagnosis rules. **Expert Systems with Applications**, Pergamon Press, Inc., Tarrytown, NY, USA, v. 38, n. 7, p. 8066–8078, 2011. ISSN 0957-4174. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2010.12.146.

CLEO. CLEO Extensions to the IEEE Learning Object Metadata. [S.l.], 2003. Available on https://www.oasis-open.org/committees/download.php/20490/CLEO_LOM_Ext_v1d1a.pdf>. Accessed in: October, 2016. CORTINA, J. M. What is coefficient alpha? an examination of theory and applications. **Journal of Applied Psychology**, v. 78, n. 1, p. 98–104, 1993. ISSN 0021-9010.

CRONBACH, L. J. Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. **Psychometrika**, v. 16, n. 3, p. 297–334, 1951. ISSN 1860-0980. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF02310555.

DAVIS, J. A. Elementary survey analysis. Englewood Cliffs, NJ, Hentice Hall, 1971.

DORÇA, F. A. et al. An Automatic and Dynamic Approach for Personalized Recommendation of Learning Objects Considering Students Learning Styles: An Experimental Analysis. **Informatics in Education**, v. 15, n. 1, p. 45–62, 2016. https://dx.doi.org/10.15388/infedu.2016.03.

DORÇA, F. A. et al. An approach for automatic and dynamic analysis of learning objects repositories through ontologies and data mining techniques for supporting personalized recommendation of content in adaptive and intelligent educational systems. In: Proceedings of the 2017 IEEE 17th International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies. Timişoara, Romania: IEEE, 2017. (ICALT'17), p. 514–516. https://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ICALT.2017.121.

DORÇA, F. A. et al. Comparing strategies for modeling students learning styles through reinforcement learning in adaptive and intelligent educational systems: An experimental analysis. **Expert Systems with Applications**, v. 40, n. 6, p. 2092–2101, 2013. ISSN 0957-4174. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2012.10.014.

DUNN, R. et al. A meta-analytic validation of the dunn and dunn model of learning-style preferences. **The Journal of Educational Research**, Taylor & Francis, Ltd., v. 88, n. 6, p. 353–362, 1995.

ÇEBI, A. et al. Cognitive Traces from the Perspective of Students Navigation Patterns.
In: Abstracts Book of the 10th International Computer & Instructional
Technologies Symposium. Rize, Turkey: [s.n.], 2016. (ICITS'16), p. 404–405.

EL-BISHOUTY, M. M. et al. Smart e-course recommender based on learning styles. Journal of Computers in Education, v. 1, n. 1, p. 99–111, 2014. ISSN 2197-9995. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s40692-014-0003-0.

ESSALMI, F. et al. Generalized metrics for the analysis of e-learning personalization strategies. **Computers in Human Behavior**, v. 48, p. 310–322, 2015. ISSN 0747-5632. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014.12.050.

FELDER, R. M.; SILVERMAN, L. K. Learning and Teaching Styles in Engineering Education. Journal of Engineering Education, v. 78, n. 7, p. 674–681, 1988. ISSN 1492-3831.

FERREIRA, H. N. M. et al. Uma Abordagem Híbrida para Acompanhamento da Aprendizagem do Estudante Baseada em Ontologias e Redes Bayesianas em Sistemas Adaptativos para Educação. In: Anais dos Workshops do V Congresso Brasileiro de Informática na Educação / IX WAvalia. Uberlândia, MG, BR: SBC, 2016. (CBIE'16), p. 447–456. https://dx.doi.org/10.5753/cbie.wcbie.2016.447. FERREIRA, H. N. M. et al. Open Student Modeling for Academic Performance Visualization in Ubiquitous Learning Environments. In: **Proceedings of the 2017 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics**. Banff, Canada: IEEE, 2017. (SMC'17), p. 641–646. https://dx.doi.org/10.1109/SMC.2017.8122679.

FERREIRA, H. N. M. et al. Uma abordagem baseada em ontologias para modelagem e avaliação do estudante em sistemas adaptativos e inteligentes para educação. In: **Proceedings of the XXVIII Brazilian Symposium on Computers in Education**. Recife, PE, BR: SBC, 2017. (SBIE'17), p. 1197–1206. https://dx.doi.org/10.5753/cbie.sbie.2017.1197.

FERREIRA, H. N. M. et al. Gamificação em ambientes educacionais ubíquos. In: Proceedings of the XXVI Brazilian Symposium on Computers in Education. Maceió, AL, BR: SBC, 2015. (SBIE'15), p. 509–518. https://dx.doi.org/10.5753/cbie.sbie.2015.509.

FERREIRA, H. N. M. et al. An Automatic and Dynamic Student Modeling Approach for Adaptive and Intelligent Educational Systems using Ontologies and Bayesian Networks. In: Proceedings of the 28th IEEE International Conference on Tools with Artificial Intelligence. San Jose, CA, USA: IEEE, 2016. (ICTAI'16), p. 738–745. https://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ICTAI.2016.0116.

FERREIRA, H. N. M. et al. An Automatic and Dynamic Knowledge Assessment Module for Adaptive Educational Systems. In: **Proceedings of the 2017 IEEE 17th International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies**. Timişoara, Romania: IEEE, 2017. (ICALT'17), p. 517–521. https://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ICALT.2017.86.

FRIESEN, N. The International Learning Object Metadata Survey. **The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning**, v. 5, n. 3, 2004. ISSN 1492-3831.

GASPARINI, I. et al. Adaptweb[®] - evolução e desafios. **Cadernos de Informática**, Instituto de Informática UFGRS, v. 4, n. 2, p. 47–56, 2009.

GRAF, S. et al. Investigating the effectiveness of an advanced adaptive mechanism for considering learning styles in learning management systems. In: **Proceedings of the 2014 IEEE 14th International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies**. Athens, Greece: IEEE, 2014. (ICALT'14), p. 112–116. ISSN 2161-3761. https://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ICALT.2014.41.

GUERRA, J. et al. The problem solving genome: Analyzing sequential patterns of student work with parameterized exercises. In: **Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Educational Data Mining**. London, UK: IEDMS, 2014. (EDM'14), p. 153–160. ISBN 978-0-9839525-4-1.

HONEY, P.; MUMFORD, A. The Manual of Learning Styles. [S.l.]: Peter Honey Publications: 3rd revised edition, 1992.

HUANG, R.; HU, Y.; YANG, J. Improving learner experience in the technology rich classrooms. In: KINSHUK; HUANG, R. (Ed.). Ubiquitous Learning Environments and Technologies. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2015. p. 243–258. ISBN 978-3-662-44659-1. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-44659-1_13.

IEEE. **IEEE 1484.12.1 - Draft Standard for Learning Object Metadata**. 2002. Learning Technology Standards Committee of the IEEE. Available on http://ltsc.ieee.org/wg12/files/LOM_1484_12_1_v1_Final_Draft.pdf>.

ISO/IEC. ISO/IEC 25010:2011 - Systems and software engineering - Systems and software Quality Requirements and Evaluation (SQuaRE) - System and software quality models. [S.l.], 2011.

JUVINA, I.; HERDER, E. The impact of link suggestions on user navigation and user perception. In: _____. User Modeling 2005: Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2005. v. 3538, p. 483–492. ISBN 978-3-540-31878-1. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/11527886_66.

KINNEBREW, J. S.; SEGEDY, J. R.; BISWAS, G. Integrating model-driven and data-driven techniques for analyzing learning behaviors in open-ended learning environments. **IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies**, v. 10, n. 2, p. 140–153, 2017. ISSN 1939-1382. https://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TLT.2015.2513387.

KIRSCHNER, P. A. Stop propagating the learning styles myth. Computers & Education, v. 106, p. 166–171, 2017. ISSN 0360-1315. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2016.12.006.

KOEDINGER, K. R. et al. Learning is not a spectator sport: Doing is better than watching for learning from a mooc. In: **Proceedings of the Second (2015) ACM Conference on Learning @ Scale**. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2015. (L@S'15), p. 111–120. ISBN 978-1-4503-3411-2. https://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2724660.2724681.

KOLB, D. Experiential learning: experience as the source of learning and development. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall, 1984.

LAAN, S. IT Infrastructure Architecture - Infrastructure Building Blocks and Concepts. 2nd. ed. [S.l.]: Lulu.com, 2013. ISBN 1291250794, 978-1291250794.

LANE, D. M. Online Statistics Education: An Interactive Multimedia Course of Study. [S.l.: s.n.], 2006. Available on <http://onlinestatbook.com>. Proj. Leader: David M. Lane, Rice University.

LEE, D.; BRUSILOVSKY, P. Recommending talks at research conferences using users' social networks. International Journal of Cooperative Information Systems, v. 23, n. 02, p. 1–22, 2014. https://dx.doi.org/10.1142/S0218843014410032.

MACHADO, G. M.; OLIVEIRA, J. P. M. d. Modelos de contexto para sistemas adaptativos baseados em modelos de usuário e localização. **Cadernos de Informática**, Instituto de Informática UFGRS, v. 7, n. 1, p. 1–13, 2013. ISSN 1975-0080.

MAHNANE, L.; LASKRI, M. T.; TRIGANO, P. A model of adaptive e-learning hypermedia system based on thinking and learning styles. **International Journal of Multimedia and Ubiquitous Engineering**, SERSC, v. 8, n. 3, p. 339–350, 2013. ISSN 1975-0080. https://dx.doi.org/10.4018/ijicte.2013100102.

MAMPADI, F. et al. Design of adaptive hypermedia learning systems: A cognitive style approach. **Computers & Education**, v. 56, n. 4, p. 1003–1011, 2011. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2010.11.018. MARTIN, S. et al. State of the art of frameworks and middleware for facilitating mobile and ubiquitous learning development. Journal of Systems and Software, v. 84, n. 11, p. 1883–1891, 2011. ISSN 0164-1212. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jss.2011.06.042.

MENDES, M. M. et al. Clustering learning objects in the ieee-lom standard considering learning styles to support customized recommendation systems in educational environments. In: Proceedings of the 12th Latin American Conference on Learning Technologies. La Plata, AR: IEEE, 2017. (LACLO'17). https://dx.doi.org/10.1109/LACLO.2017.8120898.

MENDES, M. M. et al. Agrupamento e recomendação de objetos de aprendizagem no padrão ieee-lom considerando estilos de aprendizagem. In: **Proceedings of the XXVIII Brazilian Symposium on Computers in Education**. Recife, PE, BR: SBC, 2017. (SBIE'17), p. 1217–1226. https://dx.doi.org/10.5753/cbie.sbie.2017.1217.

MENDONÇA, I. E. S. et al. Explorando Funcionalidades Sociais e Colaborativas em Ambientes Educacionais Ubíquos. In: Proceedings of the XXV Brazilian Symposium on Computers in Education. Dourados, MS, BR: SBC, 2014. (SBIE'14), p. 486–495. https://dx.doi.org/10.5753/cbie.sbie.2015.509.

MONTEIRO, B. de S.; GOMES, A. S.; NETO, F. M. M. Youubi: Open software for ubiquitous learning. **Computers in Human Behavior**, v. 55, Part B, p. 1145–1164, 2016. ISSN 0747-5632. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014.09.064.

MONTEIRO, B. de S. et al. Youubi: Ubiquitous learning environment. **Brazilian** Journal of Computers in Education, v. 25, n. 01, p. 94–113, 2017. ISSN 2317-6121. https://dx.doi.org/10.5753/rbie.2017.25.01.94.

NESBIT, J.; BELFER, K.; LEACOCK, T. LORI 1.5: Learning Object Review Instrument. [S.l.], 2004. Available on http://www.transplantedgoose.net/gradstudies/educ892/LORI1.5.pdf>. Accessed in: May 15th, 2016.

NUNNALLY, I. B. J. **Psychometric Theory**. 3rd. ed. New York: McGraw-Hill Higher, INC, 1994. ISBN 0-07-047849-X.

OGATA, H.; YANO, Y. Context-aware support for computer-supported ubiquitous learning. In: **Proceedings of the 2nd IEEE International Workshop on Wireless and Mobile Technologies in Education**. Vaxjo, Sweden: IEDMS, 2004. p. 27–34. https://dx.doi.org/10.1109/WMTE.2004.1281330.

OLIVEIRA, J. P. M. de et al. Adaptweb: um ambiente para ensino-aprendizagem adaptativo na web. Educar em Revista, v. 19, n. 21, p. 175–197, 2003. ISSN 1984-0411. https://dx.doi.org/10.1590/0104-4060.305.

ONAH, D.; SINCLAIR, J. Massive Open Online Courses – An Adaptive Learning Framework. In: **Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Technology**, **Education and Development**. Madrid, Spain: IATED, 2015. (INTED'15), p. 1258–1266. ISBN 978-84-606-5763-7. ISSN 2340-1079.

OSOSKY, S.; SOTTILARE, R. A.; BRAWNER, K. Task allocation and automation level in the design of intelligent tutoring system authoring tools. In: **Proceedings** of the International Defense and Homeland Security Simulation Workshop. Barcelona, Spain: CAL-TEK SRL, 2017. (DHSS'17), p. 33–41. ÖZYURT, O.; ÖZYURT, H.; BAKI, A. Design and development of an innovative individualized adaptive and intelligent e-learning system for teaching-learning of probability unit: Details of uzwebmat. **Expert Systems with Applications**, Pergamon Press, Inc., Tarrytown, NY, USA, v. 40, n. 8, p. 2914–2940, 2013. ISSN 0957-4174. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2012.12.008.

PIMENTEL, M.; CATTELAN, R.; BALDOCHI, L. Prototyping applications to document human experiences. **Pervasive Computing, IEEE**, v. 6, n. 2, p. 93–100, 2007. ISSN 1536-1268. https://dx.doi.org/10.1109/MPRV.2007.40.

PIMENTEL, M. d. G. et al. Supporting Educational Activities through Dynamic Web Interfaces. Interacting with Computers, Special Issue on Interacting with the Active Web, v. 13, n. 3, p. 353–374, 2001. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0953-5438(00)00042-4.

RESENDE, D. T. et al. Em direção à recuperação automática de objetos de aprendizagem em repositórios através da associação dos estilos de aprendizagem de estudantes com metadados no padrão IEEE-LOM. In: Anais dos Workshops do III Congresso Brasileiro de Informática na Educação / 6th Brazilian Workshop on Semantic Web and Education. Dourados, MS, BR: SBC, 2014. (CBIE'14), p. 445–454. https://dx.doi.org/10.5753/cbie.wcbie.2014.445.

ROY, D.; SARKAR, S.; GHOSE, S. A Comparative Study of Learning Object Metadata, Learning Material Repositories, Metadata Annotation & an Automatic Metadata Annotation Tool. In: JOSHI, M. (Ed.). Advances in Semantic Computing. [S.l.]: TMRF e-Book, 2010. v. 2, p. 103–126.

SANTOS, O. C. et al. Why using dotLRN? UNED use cases. In: **Proceedings of the FLOSS (Free/Libre/Open Source Systems) International Conference 2007**. Jerez de la Frontera, Spain: Universidad de Cadiz, 2007. p. 195–212. ISBN 978-84-9829-124-8.

SETTLE, A.; DETTORI, L.; DAVIDSON, M. J. Does lecture capture make a difference for students in traditional classrooms? In: **Proceedings of the 16th Annual Joint Conference on Innovation and Technology in Computer Science Education**. Darmstadt, Germany: ACM, 2011. (ITiCSE'11), p. 78–82. ISBN 978-1-4503-0697-3. https://dx.doi.org/10.1145/1999747.1999772.

SLEEMAN, D.; BROWN, J. S. Intelligent Tutoring Systems. London: Academic Press, Inc., 1982. 345 p.

SOBAIH, A. E. E. et al. To use or not to use? social media in higher education in developing countries. **Computers in Human Behavior**, v. 58, p. 296–305, 2016. ISSN 0747-5632. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.01.002.

SOLIS, A. M.; LAVISTE, R. P. Development and Evaluation of Electronic Learning Objects for Digital Electronics. International Journal of Mathematics, Engineering & Technology, v. 11, n. 1, p. 124–144, 2015.

SOMYÜREK, S. The new trends in adaptive educational hypermedia systems. The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning, v. 16, n. 1, p. 221–241, 2015. ISSN 1492-3831. https://dx.doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v16i1.1946.

SOTTILARE, R. A. et al. The Generalized Intelligent Framework for Tutoring (GIFT). Orlando, USA, 2012. 19 p. Available on: https://giftutoring.org/attachments/152/GIFTDescription_0.pdf>. Accessed in: October, 2017.

SOTTILARE, R. A. et al. An Updated Concept for a Generalized Intelligent Framework for Tutoring (GIFT). Orlando, USA, 2017. 19 p. Available on: https://giftutoring.org>. Accessed in: October, 2017.

TRUONG, H. M. Integrating learning styles and adaptive e-learning system: Current developments, problems and opportunities. **Computers in Human Behavior**, 2015. ISSN 0747-5632. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.02.014.

TRUONG, K. N. Inca: an infrastructure for capture and access. supporting the generation, preservation and use of memories from everyday life. Tese (PhD thesis) — Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, GA, USA, 2005. Available on http://khaitruong.com/publications/Dissertation-2005.pdf). Accessed in: December 10th, 2011.

VAN ASSCHE, F. et al. Semantic interoperability: use of vocabularies with learning object metadata. In: **Proceedings 3rd IEEE International Conference on Advanced Technologies**. [S.l.: s.n.], 2003. p. 511–514. https://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ICALT.2003.1215220.

VARGO, J. et al. Learning Object Evaluation: Computer-Mediated Collaboration And Inter-Rater Reliability. International Journal of Computers and Applications, v. 25, n. 3, p. 198–205, 2003. https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1206212X.2003.11441703.

VIDAL, I. M. G. et al. A hypermedia-based adaptive educational system for assisting students in systems and information technology domain for accountability. In: _____. New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies: Volume 2. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2016. p. 277–286. ISBN 978-3-319-31307-8. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_28.

WANG, S.-L.; WU, C.-Y. Application of context-aware and personalized recommendation to implement an adaptive ubiquitous learning system. **Expert Systems with Applications: An International Journal**, Pergamon Press, Inc., Tarrytown, NY, USA, v. 38, n. 9, p. 10831–10838, 2011. ISSN 0957-4174. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2011.02.083.

WEISER, M. The Computer for the 21st Century. Scientific American, v. 265, n. 3, p. 66–75, 1991.

WEISER, M. Some computer science issues in ubiquitous computing. Communications of the ACM, ACM, New York, NY, USA, v. 36, n. 7, p. 75–84, 1993. ISSN 0001-0782. https://dx.doi.org/10.1145/159544.159617.

WILEY, D. A. Connecting learning objects to instructional design theory: A definition, a metaphor, and a taxonomy. Bloomington, Indiana, USA: The Agency for Instructional Technology, 2000. 3–23 p. Available on http://reusability.org/read/chapters/wiley.doc. Accessed: in May 10th, 2016.

WITKIN, H. A. et al. Field-dependent and field-independent cognitive styles and their educational implications. **Review of Educational Research**, [Sage Publications, Inc., American Educational Research Association], v. 47, n. 1, p. 1–64, 1977. ISSN 0034-6543, 1935-1046. https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/j.2333-8504.1975.tb01065.x.

WOOLF, B. Building Intelligent Interactive Tutors: Student-centered Strategies for Revolutionizing E-learning. 1st. ed. San Francisco, CA, USA: Morgan Kaufmann Publishers Inc, 2008. ISBN 978-0080920047.

YANG, T.-C.; HWANG, G.-J.; YANG, S. J.-H. Development of an Adaptive Learning System with Multiple Perspectives based on Students' Learning Styles and Cognitive Styles. Educational Technology & Society, v. 16, n. 4, p. 185–200, 2013. ISSN 1436-4522.

ZENG, L.; ZUO, M.; LU, X. Research into application of interactive whiteboard to interactive educational mode. In: **Proceedings of the International Conference on Computational Intelligence and Software Engineering**. Wuhan, China: IEEE, 2010. (CiSE'10), p. 1–4. https://dx.doi.org/10.1109/CISE.2010.5676988.

ZHAO, X.; OKAMOTO, T. Adaptive multimedia content delivery for context-aware u-learning. International Journal of Mobile Learning and Organisation, v. 5, n. 1, p. 46–63, 2011. ISSN 1746-7268. https://dx.doi.org/10.1504/IJMLO.2011.038691.

ZHIPING, L. et al. The research of classical learner models in intelligent tutoring systems. In: **2012 7th International Conference on Computer Science Education (ICCSE)**. Melbourne, VIC, Australia: IEEE, 2012. p. 1204–1207. https://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ICCSE.2012.6295280.

Appendix



Sequence diagram for opening a lecture

This is a sequence diagram of the Unified Modeling Language (UML) (BOOCH; RUMBAUGH; JACOBSON, 2005) for opening a lecture. The gamification component is not shown in the diagram.



powered by Astah

APPENDIX **E**

Questionnaire P1

This is the questionnaire, in Portuguese, used in phases I and III of the experiment 1 presented in Chapter 4, Section 4.1



Concordo

totalmente

3. Tenho certeza que os bookmarks que defini estão corretos. *

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7				
Discordo totalmente	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	Concordo totalmente			
4. Eu definitivamen das disciplinas q	te utiliz ue esto	aria a f ou matr	uncion iculado	alidade . *	para d	efinir bo	ookmarl	ks nas aulas			
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7				
Discordo totalmente	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Concordo totalmente			
5. Eu criaria bookmarks em todas as aulas. *											
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7				
Discordo totalmente	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Concordo totalmente			
 Achei útil o recur criando um novo 	so de a bookn	auto-co nark. *	mpleta	r que si	lgere p	alavras	quando	estamos			
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7				

7. Na maioria das vezes em que apareceu essa opção de auto-completar, a sugestão feita pelo sistema foi a mesma que eu já estava pensando em digitar para o bookmark. *

Ο

Ο

Ο

Ο

Ο

Discordo

totalmente

Ο

Ο



8. Gostaria de poder definir uma hierarquia para os bookmarks, informando quando um bookmark é um subitem de outro. *



APPENDIX C

Questionnaire P2

This is the questionnaire, in Portuguese, used in phase II of the experiment 1 presented in Chapter 4, section 4.1



3. Eu consegui navegar mais facilmente entre os diferentes conceitos na aula que possuia bookmarks. *

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Discordo totalmente	0	0	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	Concordo totalmente

4. Na maioria das vezes, eu concordei com os bookmarks existentes e não os alteraria. *

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Discordo totalmente	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Concordo totalmente

5. Eu consegui entender a organização dos conceitos e a estrutura da aula que possuia bookmarks melhor do que na aula sem bookmarks. *

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Discordo totalmente	0	\circ	\bigcirc	0	0	0	0	Concordo totalmente
6. Gostaria que to	das as a	aulas tiv	/essem	bookm	narks.*			
or o o o carra que to	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Discordo totalmente	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Concordo totalmente
7. Defina o nível de	e dificul	dade da	a "Aula	11 - Ava	aliação"	*		
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Muito fácil	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	0	Muito difícil
8. Defina o nível de	e dificul	dade da	a "Aula	12 - Ana	álise de	tarefas	s". *	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Muito fácil	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Muito difícil

APPENDIX

User Experience Questionnaire

This questionnaire includes qualitative questions to evaluate the user experience regarding frequency of use, utility and usability of the features used in the experiment presented in Chapter 4, Section 4.3. Note that the questionnaire language is Portuguese

Questionário de avaliação da plataforma Classroom eXperience (CX)

1.	Você utilizou o CX?							
	Sim, muitas vezes (neste caso, pular a questão 2)							
	□ Sim, poucas vezes							
	🗆 Não							
2.	Por que você NÃO utilizou ou utilizou o CX poucas vezes?	Disco totalm	ordo iente	0	~	~	t	Concordo otalmente
	2.1. A ferralitenta nao foi apresentada em detantes em sala de adia	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2.2. Eu preferi utilizar outros materiais da internet para aprender	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2.3. Eu achei que o CX nao me ajudaria a entender o conteudo	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2.4. Eu achei que o conteudo apresentado em sala de aula foi suficiente	e O	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2.5. Eu preferi estudar por livros e materiais impressos	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2.6. Outros:							
3.	Sobre a usabilidade do CX:	Discoro	do nte				Cc tot	oncordo almente
	3.1. Consegui acessar as aulas sem dificuldade	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	3.2. No geral, achei fácil utilizar o CX	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	3.3. Aprendi rapidamente como utilizar o CX	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	3.4. A navegação no CX foi clara	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	3.5. No geral, eu gostei da interface do CX	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

4.	Sobre a frequência de estudo, eu costumava a acessar o CX:	Discord totalmer	lo nte				Co tot	oncordo almente
	4.1. Para estudos imediatamente antes de cada aula	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	4.2. Para estudos logo após cada aula ministrada	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	4.3. Para estudos a cada 1 ou 2 semanas de aulas ministradas	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	4.4. Para estudos a cada 3 ou 4 semanas de aulas ministradas	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	4.5. Somente antes das avaliações	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
-		Discor	do				C	Concordo
5.	Com relação a percepção de utilidade:	totalme	ente	~	~	~	to	otalmente
	5.1. Achel util utilizar o CX para estudos fora da sala de aula	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	conteúdo ministrado	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	5.3. A interface do CX me ajudou a entender a estrutura de cada aula	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	5.4. A funcionalidade de criar bookmarks e dividir a aula em	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	diferentes assuntos influenciou positivamente a minha							
	5.5. A possibilidade de criar comentários para cada slide influenciou	~	~	\sim	~	~	~	\sim
	positivamente a minha aprendizagem na disciplina	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	5.6. A funcionalidade de classificação em estrelas dos slides	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	influenciou positivamente a minha aprendizagem na disciplina	Ŭ	0	Ŭ	0	0	0	Ŭ
	5.7. A funcionalidade de visualização de desempenho por meio de	0	~	\sim	\sim	~	~	\sim
	gráficos influenciou positivamente a minha aprendizagem na	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	disciplina							
	5.8. A funcionalidade de quizzes influenciou positivamente a minha aprendizagem na disciplina	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	5.9. A funcionalidade de gamificação (ranking de pontuação e quadro	, O	0	0	0	0	0	0
	de medalhas) influenciou positivamente a minha aprendizagem							
	5.10.Eu gostaria que o CX fosse utilizado em outras disciplinas.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Disco	rdo				-	_ oncordo
6.	Ao comparar o CX com o Moodle, você gostaria que:	totalm	ente				to	otalmente
	6.1. O CX fosse utilizado no lugar do Moodle	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	6.2. O CX fosse utilizado juntamente com o Moodle	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	6.3. Eu prefiro utilizar apenas o Moodle	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Discor	do				C	Concordo
7.	Sobre seu comportamento de estudos:	totalme	ente				to	otalmente
	7.1. O CX me ajudou a identificar meus pontos fracos	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	7.2. O CX me ajudou a planejar meus estudos	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Como o CX mudou a forma de você estudar?	Douto						Muito
	7.3. Frequência de estudo			\circ	\circ	\sim	\circ	
	7.4. Colaboração com colegas	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	7.5. Motivação para estudo	0	õ	õ	õ	õ	õ	õ
	7.6. Competitividade	Ó	Ō	0	Õ	Ō	Ō	Ō
	7.7. Procura por material extra	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Como os gráficos de desempenho mudaram a sua forma de você							
estudar?	Pouco						Muito
7.8. Motivação para estudo	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
7.9. Necessidade de melhora no desempenho	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
7.10.Competitividade	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

- 8. Alguma situação específica durante a utilização do CX em que houve uma contribuição positiva para seu aprendizado?
- 9. Alguma situação específica durante a utilização do CX em que houve uma contribuição negativa para seu aprendizado?

10. Você gostou da reordenação dos slides apresentados pelo sistema?

- 🗆 Sim
- 🗆 Não
- □ Não percebi

10.1. Quanto essa funcionalidade impactou positivamente a sua aprendizagem na disciplina?

Pouco)					Muito
0	0	0	0	0	0	0

11. Você gostou da visualização de desempenho por meio de gráficos apresentados pelo sistema?

- 🗆 Sim
- 🗆 Não
- □ Não percebi

Para as questões 11.1 e 11.2, considere os seguintes gráficos:



11.1. Qual tipo de gráfico você prefere para visualizar seu rendimento?
□ Linha □ Barra □ Radar

11.2. Qual tipo de gráfico você prefere para visualizar seu rendimento com relação à média da turma?
 □ Linha □ Barra □ Radar

11.3. A comparação do meu desempenho com a média da turma
influenciou positivamente a minha aprendizagem na disciplina

Discord	lo			Concor						
totalme	nte				to	talmer	nte			
0	0	0	0	0	0	0				

12. Liste até 3 funcionalidades/características que você mais gostou no CX.

13. Liste até 3 funcionalidades/características que você NÃO gostou no CX.

APPENDIX E

Further Analysis

This appendix presents some extra analyzes for the experiment presented in Chapter 4, Section 4.3.








APPENDIX

CX-LOR

This appendix presents some elements of the CX-LOR.

```
<?xml version="1.0" encoding="UTF-8"?>
<lom>
    <general>
         <id>13958</id>
         <title>Aula 11 - Avaliação de usabilidade</title>
         <language>pt-BR</language:
         <description/
         <keyword>avaliação heurística</keyword>
         <keyword> think aloud</keyword>
         <keyword> percurso cognitivo</keyword>
<keyword> codescoberta</keyword>
<keyword> coaching usability</keyword>
         <structure>linear</structure>
         <aggregationlevel>2</aggregationlevel>
     </general>
     fecycle>
         <version>1.0</version>
         <status>final</status>

    <contributes</li>

              <entity>BEGIN:VCARD FN:Renan Cattelan TITLE:professor EMAIL\;TYPE=INTERNET:Renan END:VCARD</entity>
              <role>author</role>
              <date>2016-10-05</date>
         </contribute>
     </lifecycle>
     <technical>
         <format>image/jpeg</format>
         <format>text/html</format>
<size>13788632</size>
         <location>aula11.zip</location>
         <duration>4992</duration>
     </technical>
<educational>
         cinteractivitytype>mixed</interactivitytype>
<learningresourcetype>figure</learningresourcetype>
         <learningresourcetype>table</learningresourcetype>
         <learningresourcetype>narrative text</learningresourcetype><learningresourcetype>lecture</learningresourcetype>
         <interactivitylevel>average</interactivitylevel>
         <semanticdensity>high</semanticdensity><intendedenduserrole>learner</intendedenduserrole>
         <context>higher education</context>
         <typicalagerange>17-</typicalagerange>
<difficulty>medium</difficulty>
         <language>pt-BR</language>
     </educational>
    <rights>
         <cost>no</cost>
         <copyright>yes</copyright>
<description>All rights reserved to UbiMedia@UFU</description>
     </rights>
</lom>
```

Figure 37 – IEEE-LOM example.

Action: Search LOs

Returns: an array of JSON objects containing the LOM ID and LO title.





Figure 38 – Definition of the "Search LOs" action in the CX-LOR API.

Action: Get LOM Returns: IEEE-LOM fields in an XML file.

GET cx.facom.ufu.br/cxlor parameters: ?act=getlom ssecretKey= sidlom=

Figure 39 – Definition of the "Get LOM" action in the CX-LOR API.

Action: Get many LOM in a ZIP file Returns: a .ZIP file containing many XML files (IEEE-LOM).

parameters: ?act=getzip &secretKey= &ids= ids: list of IDs separated by a comma.

GET cx.facom.ufu.br/cxlor

Figure 40 – Definition of the "Get many LOM" action in the CX-LOR API.

Action: Get LO Returns: a .ZIP file with the LO content.



Figure 41 – Definition of the "Get LO" action in the CX-LOR API.

Annex



ILS Certification

This is the certification of intention to use the Index of Learning Styles for research purposes that was sent to Dr. Richard Felder in November 19th, 2015.

CERTIFICATION OF INTENTION TO USE THE *INDEX OF LEARNING STYLES* FOR EDUCATIONAL OR RESEARCH PURPOSES AT NO COST TO USERS

I certify that:

- I am affiliated with an educational institution and plan to administer the Index of Learning Styles only as part of my teaching, advising, staff development, and/or research activities with that institution.
- I will not charge a fee to anyone who completes the questionnaire under my direction or the direction of anyone working with me.
- I will keep the response sheet with the scoring key for the instrument strictly confidential. I will not share copies of it with anyone not directly involved with administering the instrument, and I will collect completed copies from everyone who takes the instrument.

Kafael Dias Analijo Signature:

Name: Rafael Dias Araújo

Institution: Federal University of Uberlândia, Brazil / University of Pittsburgh, USA

Email: rdaraujox@gmail.com

Please email the signed form to mfelder@mindspring.com

or mail it to

Education Designs, Inc. 101 Lochside Drive Cary, NC 27518-7401